
 

 High Peak Borough Council 

 
 

 
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE AGENDA 
 

You can view the agenda 
online by using a smart phone 

camera and scanning the code 
below: 

 
 

Date: 
 

Monday, 7 March 2022 

Time: 
 

1.30 pm 

Venue: 

 

The Octagon, Pavilion Gardens, Buxton 

25 February 2022 

 
PART 1 

1. Apologies for Absence  

2. To receive Disclosures of Interest on any matters before the Committee  

 1. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
2. Other Interests 

 

3. Minutes from the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 6) 

4. Update Sheet  

5. Planning Applications (Pages 7 - 8) 

6. HPK/2021/0607 - Toddbrook Reservoir, Reservoir Road, Whaley Bridge (Pages 9 - 

120) 

7. HPK/2021/0347 - 3 Temple Road, Buxton (Pages 121 - 156) 

8. HPK/2021/0648 - 1 Royle Avenue, Glossop (Pages 157 - 176) 

9. DET/2022/0003 - Valley Farm, Whitehough Head Lane, Chinley (Pages 177 - 184) 

 
MARK TRILLO 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND MONITORING OFFICER 
 

Membership of Development Control Committee 
Councillor R McKeown (Chair) Councillor D Lomax (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor A Barrow Councillor L Dowson 

Councillor C Farrell Councillor I Huddlestone 
Councillor G Oakley Councillor J Perkins 

Councillor P Roberts Councillor E Thrane 
Councillor J Todd Councillor S Young 

 

 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



 High Peak Borough Council 

 
 

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 

 
 
Meeting: Monday, 14 February 2022 at 1.30 pm in The Octagon, Pavilion Gardens, 

Buxton 

 

Present: Councillor R McKeown (Chair)   
 

 Councillors A Barrow, C Farrell, I Huddlestone, D Lomax, A McKeown, 
G Oakley, J Perkins, P Roberts, E Thrane, J Todd and S Young 
 

 An apology for absence was received from Councillor L Dowson 
 

22/69 CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENT 

(Agenda Item ) 
 

The Chair advised that application HPK/2021/0648, 1 Royle Avenue, 
Glossop had been withdrawn from the agenda at the applicant’s request. 

 
22/70 TO RECEIVE DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST ON ANY MATTERS BEFORE 

THE COMMITTEE 

(Agenda Item 2) 
 

Councillor Huddlestone declared an ‘other’ interest in agenda item 6, 
“HPK/2020/0180 land to the west of Bridgemont, Whaley Bridge SK23 7PB” 
(reason: applicant owns land to the rear of my property) and withdrew from 

the meeting during the consideration and voting on the application 
 

22/71 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

(Agenda Item 3) 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 24 January 2022 be approved as a 

correct record. 
 

22/72 UPDATE SHEET 

(Agenda Item 4) 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

That the update sheet be noted. 
 

22/73 PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

(Agenda Item 5) 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 

 
 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3




Development Control Committee 
Monday, 14 February 2022 

 

(Having declared an interest, Councillor Huddlestone withdrew from 
the meeting and took no part in the consideration and voting on the 
application) 

 
22/74 HPK/2020/0180 - LAND TO THE WEST OF BRIDGEMONT, WHALEY 

BRIDGE, SK23 7PB 

(Agenda Item 6) 
 

Application for Outline Planning Permission with details of access (all other 
matters reserved) for erection of up to 38 affordable dwellings 

 
Applicant: Treville Properties Ltd and Great Places 
 

The Committee viewed plans and photographs of the site. 
 

The Committee were addressed by Ambrose Smith in objection to the 
application and Rawdon Gascoigne (applicant). 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the application be refused as set out in the report and with the 
additional two reasons for refusal as set out in the update sheet; 

 
2. That in the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 

committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions / 
informatives / planning obligations or reasons for approval / refusal) prior to 
the decision being issued, the Head of Development Services be delegated 
authority to do so in consultation with Chair of the Committee, provided that 
the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s 
decision. 

 
(Councillor Huddlestone returned to the meeting) 

 
22/75 HPK/2020/0064 - LAND OFF TRENCHARD DRIVE, BUXTON 

(Agenda Item 7) 
 

Application to vary planning condition 2 attached to Full Application Ref: 
HPK/2018/0315 

 
Applicant: Persimmon Homes 

 
The Committee viewed plans and photographs of the site and had 
undertaken a site visit. 

 
The Committee were addressed by Marie Hutchinson and Elspeth Holliday 

in objection to the application, a submission was read out from Councillor 
Grooby (ward Councillor) also in objection to the application and from Adele 
Jacques (applicant). 

 
RESOLVED: 

 
That consideration of the application be deferred to enable the applicant to 
provide the LLFA with the outstanding details in relation to the discharge of 

Page 4




Development Control Committee 
Monday, 14 February 2022 

 

the surface water drainage conditions (DOC/2019/0074) as set out in the 
update sheet. 
 

22/76 HPK/2021/0648 - 1 ROYLE AVENUE, GLOSSOP 

(Agenda Item 8) 
 

Lower ground floor attached garage to be formed partially through 
excavation. Single storey side extension linking to two storey rear extension. 

Inglenook single storey extension to kitchen. Alterations to existing porch 
 

Applicant: Mr Craig Jackson 
 
The Chair advised that this application had been withdrawn from the agenda 

at the applicant’s request. 
 

22/77 HPK/2021/0478 - UNIT 24 HARPUR HILL BUSINESS PARK, HARPUR 
HILL, BUXTON, SK17 9JL 

(Agenda Item 9) 
 

Construction of 2 storey office area to side elevation and large rear 

warehouse and loading area to the rear. 
 
Applicant: Mr Mark Cotterille, S K Distribution 

 
The Committee viewed plans and photographs of the site. 
 

The Committee were addressed by Steve Poole (agent) 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the application be approved as set out in the report; 

 
2. That in the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 

Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions / 
informatives / planning obligations or reasons for approval / refusal) prior to 
the decision being issued, the Head of Development Services be delegated 
authority to do so in consultation with the Chair of the Committee, provided 
that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s 
decision. 

 
 

The meeting concluded at 2.33 pm 
 
 

 
 

 
CHAIR 

 

 
 

 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



          
 

 
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 
Report to Development Control Committee 

 
7 March 2022 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
Appendices Attached - None 

 
1.        Reason for the Report: To outline the Committee’s determination of 

planning applications 

 
 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the report be noted. 
 

 
3. Executive Summary 

 

3.1 Unless the Committee decide to waive their delegated power in respect of any 
application, the Committee’s determination of any application will operate as a 

final decision, unless:- 
 
 a. it is a major departure from Council Policy; 

 
b. There are resource implications for the Borough Council which need to 

be considered by the Executive 
 
3.2 The environmental, legal, financial and equal opportunities raised by each 

application are dealt with within each report.  There are no known Community 
Safety issues unless specified in the report. 

 
 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Location Contact details 

Background papers for all planning 
applications  

Town Hall, Buxton  

 

TITLE: PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DECISION BY 
COMMITTEE 

 

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Councillor Anthony McKeown  
 

CONTACT OFFICER: Ben Haywood – Head of Development Services 
   

WARDS INVOLVED:  All 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

 
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 

 
Date 7th March 2022 

 
Application 
No: 

HPK/2021/0607 

Location Toddbrook Reservoir  
Reservoir Road 
Whaley Bridge 

Proposal Planning permission for the construction of a replacement spillway 

and associated dam infrastructure, replacement sailing club 
facilities including new access, replacement play equipment and 

park landscaping. 
Applicant Nick Wild, Canal and River Trust 
Agent None 
Parish/ward Whaley Bridge Date registered 22nd October 2021 

If you have a question about this report please contact: Tom Hiles, Tel. 01298 

28400 extension 5430, tom.hiles@highpeak.gov.uk  

 
1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION 

 
 

Approve, subject to advice from the Environment Agency 

 
 
2. REASON FOR COMMITTEE DETERMINATION 

 

2.1. This application has been brought before the Development Control 

Committee because it is major development and because of the public 
interest. 
 

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS 
 

3.1. The application site relates to an area of Toddbrook Reservoir and its 
dam, as well as land and buildings in use by Toddbrook Sailing Club, and 
parts of Memorial Park (including part of the playing fields to the south of 

the reservoir), located adjacent to east and south of the existing dam and 
spillway.  The application site lies to the west of the centre of Whaley 

Bridge. 
 

3.2. A residential property (Todd Brook Cottage) located between the Sailing 

Club and Reservoir Road is surrounded on all sides by the application site 
boundary but is outside the application site. 

 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



 2 

The reservoir and dam 
 

3.3. Toddbrook Reservoir is a feeder reservoir for the Peak Forest Canal. The 
reservoir is fed by the Todd Brook at the west end of the reservoir. Some 

of the water runs into a bywash channel running along the northern bank 
of the reservoir.  

 

3.4. The dam is an earth dam with a clay core. The dam area of the site 
includes two spillway structures, which allow for flood waters to be 

discharged into the River Goyt within the park, instead of overtopping the 
dam. The dam was completed in 1840. 

 

3.5. The dam also includes two outlet pipes which run underground through 
the park and which supply water to the canal. 

 
3.6. The original spillway runs around the northern end of the dam.  The 

auxiliary spillway is the concrete surface on the rear face of the dam, and 

was added in 1970 to increase overflow capacity. 
 

3.7. The original spillway supplies water into Millbrook Pond, located to the 
east side of Reservoir Road, through a culvert under the road.  

 

3.8. Repair works undertaken in 1970 included the construction of a new 
concrete spillway across part of the east face of the dam. When in use, 

this auxiliary spillway flows into the original spillway channel near to the 
point at which it outflows into the River Goyt. 

 

3.9. As members will be aware, the concrete spillway suffered a failure in 
August 2019 during a period of heavy rain and flow over the spillway. 

Emergency measures were undertaken by the Canal and River Trust.  
 

3.10. The reservoir is currently being drained and kept at a lower level via a 

temporary arrangement of pumped pipes running across the south bank 
of the reservoir and the rear face of the damn, discharging into the original 

spillway channel near to the river.  The height of the dam crest was also 
raised and inflow to the reservoir has been reduced.  

 

 
Toddbrook Sailing Club 

 
3.11. The existing sailing club comprises a club house building, open-air boat 

storage yard and a car-parking area adjacent to the channel used by 

members and the public, and a slipway to the reservoir at a point near its 
the north-east corner. 

 
3.12. The section of the park within the application site boundary comprises 

a grassed area with a number of mature trees, various items of play 

equipment, and a footpath running from Reservoir Road, past the play 
area and further into the park. There is informal access from the park to 

the sailing club car park across the bottom of the dam. This part of the 

Page 10



 3 

park is enclosed at its north side by a relatively recent development of 
houses on the south of Reservoir Road. 

 
Memorial Park 

 
3.13. Memorial Park is a Council-owned public space comprising a number 

of open grassed and wooded areas connected by a network of footpaths 

connecting to the surrounding streets to the north (from Reservoir Road), 
east (from Wheatsheaf Road) and south (from Goyt Road and Park 

Road).  The River Goyt forms the east boundary of the park. 
 

3.14. The park and the Cenotaph at its centre was created in 1920 to 

commemorate the loss of local men in the First World War. 
 

3.15. The park also includes a children’s play area adjacent to the dam 
(within the application site boundary) a skate park and pump track, and 
playing fields and pitches to the south of the dam.  

 
3.16. The Park recently benefitted from improvements funded by a Heritage 

Lottery Fund grant.  
 
 

Physical context and surrounding uses  
 

3.17. The application site is surrounded by the following buildings and land-
uses: 

 to the north by Reservoir Road and houses on either side of the road, 

including houses situated at the entrance to the park off Reservoir 
Road. 

 at the east by other parts of Memorial Park including woodland, and 
houses, businesses and a primary school on the far side of the park 

 to the south by a recreation ground / playing fields 

 to the south-west by houses off Macclesfield Road,  

 to the west by the main part of the reservoir. 

 
3.18. Vehicular access to the site is from Reservoir Road and from Park 

Road, off Macclesfield Road. Reservoir Road runs to Buxton Road in the 
centre of Whaley Bridge, providing access to the wider highway network. 

 
Planning policy context, designations and constraints 
 

3.19. All of the site lies outside the built-up area boundary for Whaley Bridge 
and is therefore within the countryside for the purposes of the Local Plan. 

Part of site lies is within the Green Belt. 
 

3.20. The boundaries of the open countryside and the Green Belt around the 

application site are shown on the aerial view below. The more opaque 
green shaded area is Green Belt. 

 

Page 11



 4 

 
 

3.21. The park is designated as a Protected Major Park in the Local Plan. 
 

3.22. Within the High Peak Local Plan, Whaley Bridge forms part of the 

Central Sub-Area and is subject of the planning strategy set out in policy 
S6. 

 
3.23. The reservoir, most of the park, and built-up land along the river are all 

within Flood Risk Zones 2 and 3. 

 
3.24. Most of the site is within a Coal Development High Risk Area, and 

small parts are within a Coal Development Low Risk Area. The site and 
surrounding areas are within the Surface Mining Risk Area. These are all 
risk designations identified by the Coal Authority. 

 
3.25. The application site is entirely within the boundary of the Whaley 

Bridge Neighbourhood Plan. 
 

3.26. There are public rights of way running across the application site. 

These include a footpath running across the top of the dam, which has 
been closed since the spillway failure. Footpaths through the park and the 

recreation ground are also public rights of way. Once of these is also 

Page 12



 5 

designated as a Long-Distance Trail (the Goyt Way-Mid Shires Way 
(policy EQ8)).  

 
Heritage context 

 
3.27. Listed buildings in the vicinity of the site include the Holy Trinity 

Church, the railway bridge over Buxton Road, and the Methodist Church 

and Sunday School, all of which are Grade-II listed and located along 
Buxton Road to the east of the site. 

 
3.28. The dam is recorded on the Historic Environment Record as ‘A dam 

that holds Toddbrook reservoir, which was built in 1834-40. Two 19th 

century valve houses regulate the canal water levels’.  
 

3.29. Memorial Park is regarded as a non-designated heritage asset. 
 

3.30. Parts of the Whaley Bridge Conservation Area are located to the east 

of the application site. 
 

Landscape and ecology 
 

3.31. The site is mainly within the ‘Settled Valley Pastures’ landscape 

character designation, with small parts of the site designated with the 
‘Riverside Meadows’ landscape character. 

 
3.32. The Peak District National Park lies to the west and south of the site, 

with the boundary of the park placed around 0.7m away at the closest 

point. 
 

3.33. The entirety of the reservoir and the west face of the dam are a Site Of 
Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) due to the presence of dwarf bladder-
moss. 

 
3.34. Brookfield Pond, located to the north-east of the reservoir on the far 

side of Reservoir Road (and fed from Todd Brook) is a Local Nature 
Reserve. The pond is also a Wildlife Site, as is an extent of the River Goyt 
(and its banks) to the east of the site. 

 
3.35. None of the trees in the park are subject of Tree Preservation Orders 

(TPO). There are group TPOs relating to groups of trees near the site on 
the north side of Reservoir Road. 

 

Background to the application 
 

3.36. The application describes the purpose of the proposed works as 
follows: 

 

“The fundamental objective of the project is to make the dam, reservoir 
and downstream community safe by designing and constructing the works 

to industry standards and best practice”  

Page 13



 6 

 
and goes on to explain that 

 
“The spillway must be able to safely move flood waters from the reservoir 

to the River Goyt without affecting the safety of the dam. 
 

3.37. Proposals for the repair or replacement of the spillway were considered 

during development of the proposal and were subject of public 
consultation. Feedback was taken from members of the public. 

 
3.38. The planning, design and access statement details how a number of 

options (including discontinuance of the dam or rebuilding the dam) to 

resolve the situation were developed and discarded, leading to the 
development of the current proposal.  

 
3.39. The design process has involved advice from an independent Qualified 

Civil Engineer, appointed under the Reservoirs Act 1975 to supervise the 

design and construction of the replacement spillway.  A statement from 
the independent QCE setting out the safe design of the proposals is 

included within the application. 
 

3.40. Further development of the design options involved community 

consultation.  The design option ultimately chosen (and now under 
consideration) involves the formation of a new spillway positioned over 

the current position of parts of the sailing club and an area of Memorial 
Park, presently comprising an open grassed area and hosting play 
equipment. 

 
3.41. Formal pre-application advice meetings were held in March 2021, 

attended by the applicants and consultees including the Environment 
Agency, Natural England, Derby County Council Highways, the landscape 
advisor, tree officer, and heritage officer.  Formal written advice was 

issued by the Council following these meetings. 
 

3.42. Following this a request for Environmental Impact Assessment Scoping 
Opinion was submitted to the Council. Input from the same internal and 
external statutory consultees was fed into the Council’s response to 

confirm the required scope of the Environmental Statement which would 
be required to support the forthcoming application. A response was 

issued in September 2021. 

Page 14



 7 

4. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL  
 

4.1. The proposal is for a range of works to deliver a new spillway, which 
would replace the existing primary and auxiliary spillways. 

 
4.2. The application proposes a new concrete channel across the body of the 

dam. Water would run between a newly constructed weir and tumble bay, 

into the channel, through a pair of turret structures required to dissipate 
energy from flowing water, and then into a stilling basin near the foot of 

the dam, within the park, and then through a short channel into the River 
Goyt.   The crest of the existing dam would also be raised. 

 

4.3. The original bywash channel will also run into the tumble bay, with the 
section which presently runs around the northern edge of the dam 

decommissioned and infilled. 
 

4.4. The spillway would in part cross the position of the existing buildings, car 

park and boat storage area used by Toddbrook sailing club. 
 

4.5. The proposal therefore also includes a replacement sailing club facility, 
comprising a new club house, storage building for power boats, car 
parking for members and the public, boat storage areas, a new slipway 

into the reservoir, and a new vehicular access onto Reservoir Road. The 
new access will also provide access to the weir and new tumble bay, and 

is noted within the application as being necessary for this purpose, and for 
access for emergency vehicles, towed boats and trailers, and access to 
disabled parking. The main car parking area would be accessed via the 

existing access point serving the current sailing club. 
 

4.6. The replacement facilities would be positioned to the west of the existing 
sailing club, on an area which currently comprises the main primary 
spillway and scrub and trees. 

 
4.7. The scheme also includes other improvements to the dam infrastructure 

including installing valves on the reservoir outlet pipes and modifications 
to the dam’s clay core. The position of the canal feeder pipes would be 
diverted to accommodate the replacement spillway. 

 
4.8. The temporary pumping arrangements situated on the south bank of the 

reservoir and within the park would remain in place during construction. 
 

4.9. During construction, play equipment from the park would be temporarily 

relocated and available to use on an area adjacent to the football pitch. 
 

4.10. The existing auxiliary spillway would be covered over and landscaped, 
with a service track (reinforced grass) crossing the upper area of the dam 
to provide service access from the south end of the dam. 

 
4.11. The lower part of the new spillway would extend into an area of 

Memorial Park, which currently hosts play equipment. The proposals 

Page 15



 8 

therefore include the substantial remodelling of this area, including a new 
network of footpaths, new soft landscaping, terracing and tree, hedge and 

flower planting, with play equipment reinstated. A new footbridge would 
be installed across the outlet channel to the area at the base of the dam. 

 
4.12. The lower part of the spillway would be set within this re-landscaped 

area and has been designed to be accessible to park users for recreation 

purposes. These elements of the proposal have been designed with input 
from the Council’s parks servicing and commissioning team. 

 
4.13. Elements of the development would require removal of trees from 

around the development site, including within the park. The proposal 

includes provision for planting replacement trees within the park and the 
new sailing club, as well as elsewhere within the park outside the 

application site. 
 

4.14. Outline details have been provided of land reinstatement measures to 

be undertaken following the removal of the temporary pipes and 
management compound located to the south and east of the dam. 

 
4.15. During construction, a works compound (comprising site offices, staff 

facilities, parking and plant and material storage) would be formed at the 

north side of the park near to the play area. The compound would be 
accessed via a one-way route formed from the existing sailing club 

entrance, through the park to the park entrance on Reservoir Road.  
 
4.16. The following plans have been submitted with the application: 

 
- Location Plan 

- Existing Block Layout Plan 
- Proposed Block Layout Plan  
- Proposed Spillway General Arrangement Plan 

- Proposed Spillway Elevations 
- Proposed Spillway Material Finishes - Illustrative Sections 

- Proposed weir and tumble bay general arrangement 
- Weir and tumble bay sections and details 
- Proposed spillway through the dam general arrangement and 

details 
- Proposed spillway Chute plan and sections 

- Proposed stilling basin Plan 
- Proposed stilling basin Sections 
- Proposed stilling basin Elevation 

- Reservoir Boom General Arrangement  and Anchorage Details 
- Auxiliary  Spillway and Stability Berm Plan and Sections 

- Park Low Flow Channel and Terracing Plan 
- Park Low Flow Channel and Terracing Sections 
- Sailing Club - Proposed Location Plan 

- Sailing Club - Proposed Site Plan 
- Sailing Club Site Access Layout 

- Sailing Club Swept Path Analysis  

Page 16



 9 

- Sailing Club Proposed Drainage Strategy 
- Sailing Club Proposed Levels Strategy 

- Sailing Club Proposed Clubhouse plans, elevations and sections 
- Sailing Club Proposed Boat Store Plans and elevations 

- Memorial Park Landscape General Arrangement 
- Sailing Club Landscape General Arrangement 

 

4.17. The application is supported by the following documents: 
 

 Environmental Statement including a Non-Technical Summary 

 Planning, Design and Access Statement 

 

 Flood Risk Assessment 

 Sustainability Statement 

 Statement of Community Involvement 

 Coal Mining Risk Assessment Summary 

 Arboricultural Impact Assessment 

 Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment 

 

 Sailing Club Drainage Statement 

 Sailing Club  Access Design Note 

 Sailing Club Design and Access Statement 

 

 Construction Traffic Management Plan 

 Construction Phase Communications Note 
 

 Photomontage visualisations of the proposals 

 
4.18. The Environmental Statement addresses a number of environment 

issues including ecology and nature, visual impact assessment, noise and 
vibration, the water environment and cultural heritage, and includes a 
number of ecological reports, including a preliminary ecological 

assessment, bat report, fish and eel passage assessment, assessment of 
impact on the SSSI. The ES also includes a Heritage Statement in 

relation to Memorial Park and an outline Construction Environmental 
Statement. 

 

4.19. Following the end of public consultation, the Canal and River Trust 
provided their own response to a number of issues raised in public 

consultation. This is available on the application file. 
 

4.20. During determination, additional and revised information was submitted 

in response to concerns raised in public comments and by officers. These 
comprised: 

 
- The design of the weir was slightly amended to change the pattern 

of water flow into the new spillway, to ensure that the replacement 

facility does not result in any change to flood risk downstream 
compared to the previous arrangements. As the alteration only 

Page 17



 10 

makes a minimal visual change to the proposals originally 
submitted and publicised, repeat public consultation was not 

undertaken. 
 

- Amendments to the traffic management arrangements during 
construction, principally to allow for public access across the park 
from Reservoir Road to be retained throughout construction. 

 
- Amendments to proposed landscaping arrangements to achieve a 

greater extent of replacement planting in the park and around the 
new sailing club 

 

- Amendments to the design of the replacement sailing club building 
to achieve an appearance more appropriate to the character of the 

local area. 
 

4.21. These changes were not considered to result in any significant greater 

impacts compared to the scheme originally submitted. As such, repeat 
public consultation was not undertaken. 

 
4.22. In addition, additional information / revised details in relation to traffic 

management arrangements were submitted during determination in 

response to feedback from DCC Highways. 
 

4.23. Amendments were made to proposals for tree and hedge planting 
around the park and around the new sailing club. 

 

4.24. Alterations were made to the design of the new sailing club buildings to 
achieve a design more appropriate to the rural setting of the site, including 

substituting timber cladding for stone tiles. 
 

4.25. The application is assessed on the basis of the revised and additional 

details.  The modifications made to the proposals were not considered to 
result in any significantly greater impacts in terms of any planning matters, 

so repeat public consultation was not undertaken. 
 
Construction phase 

 
4.26. The application indicates that construction is expected to take around 

24 months, in a number of stages as set out in the planning statement.  
Subject to approval, the applicant anticipate starting construction in Q2 
2022. 

 
4.27. Access to the construction site will be from Reservoir Road, with a site 

compound located in the north area of the park. The compound will 
comprise site offices, welfare facilities, plant and material storage and 
staff car parking.  Vehicles will enter the site via the existing sailing club 

entrance and exit via the Reservoir Road entrance to the park, with a one-
way system in place.  

 

Page 18



 11 

 
Construction phase access arrangements 

 

4.28. The development site will be enclosed with a 2.4m timber security 
hoarding with gates at various positions.  

 

4.29. The compound (temporary cabins and parking) would be formed 
adjacent to the site boundary, near to the dwellings known as Rutland, 

Torside, Shire Croft and Yew Tree Lodge, which are positioned between 
the application site and Reservoir Road.  Additional staff parking would be 
provided at the Transhipment Warehouse on Buxton Road. 

 

 
Construction phase site plan. Site cabins shown in red, staff parking 
shown hatched. 
 

Page 19



 12 

4.30. Further details of these arrangements are provided in the Construction 
Traffic Management Plan, which also sets out construction/delivery 

vehicle routes from the wider highway network and provides further 
details of how construction traffic would be managed in the vicinity of the 

site. 
 

4.31. Construction hours are proposed as 0800-1800 Mondays to Fridays, 

with Saturday working only with the Council’s agreement, and no working 
on Sundays and Bank Holidays. 

 
4.32. The application, the details attached to it including the plans, 

comments made by residents and the responses of the consultees can be 

found on the Council’s website at:  
 

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?
PKID=251190 
 

5. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

 
HPK/2021/0376 - Request for EIA Scoping Opinion for Toddbrook Reservoir. 

Issued, 17/09/2021 
 
HPK/0002/0423 - Replacement Of Existing Clubhouse. Approved XXX 

 
HPK/0002/7667 - Renewal Consent For Sailing Clubhouse. Approved, 

19/04/1989 
 
HPK/2013/0163 - Retention Of Extension To Outhouse. Approved, 

15/07/2013 

 
HPK/2014/0051 - Proposed Replacement Of Existing Clubhouse And 

Erection Of Storage Shed. Approved, 27/05/2014 

 
6. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION 

 
Adopted High Peak Local Plan 2016 

 

S1 – Sustainable Development Principles 
S1a – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

S2 – Settlement Hierarchy 
S6 – Central Sub-area Strategy 
EQ1 – Climate Change 

EQ2 – Landscape Character 
EQ3 – Rural Development  

EQ4 – Green Belt Development 
EQ5 – Biodiversity 
EQ6 – Design and Place Making 

EQ7 – Built and Historic Environment 
EQ8 – Green Infrastructure 

EQ9 – Trees, Woodland and Hedgerows 

Page 20

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=251190
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=251190


 13 

EQ10 – Pollution Control and Unstable Land 
EQ11 – Flood Risk Management 

CF4 – Open Space, Sports and Recreation Facilities 
CF5 – Provision and Retention of Local Community Services 

CF6 – Accessibility and Transport 
CF7 – Planning Obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

High Peak Design Guide SPD 2018 
 
Landscape Character SPD 2006 

 
Neighbourhood Plan 

 

The Whaley Bridge and Furness Vale Neighbourhood Plan Area was 
designated in 2013.  Draft policies are currently at an early stage of 

preparation.  
 
National Planning Policy Framework 

 
Paragraph 11 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development  

Chapter 2 - Achieving sustainable development 
Chapter 4 - Decision Making 

Chapter 8 – Promoting Healthy & Safe Communities 
Chapter 9 - Promoting Sustainable Transport  
Chapter 12 - Achieving Well-Designed Placed  

Chapter 13 - Protecting Green Belt Land  
Chapter 14 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal 

change 
Chapter 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
Chapter 16 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 
 
7. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT 

 

Site notice Expiry date for comments: 19th November 2021 
Neighbour letters  Expiry date for comments: 15th November 2021 
Press Advert Buxton Advertiser – 20th January 2021 

 
Neighbours 

 
7.1. Neighbours adjacent to the application site were contacted by way of 

written letters.  

 
7.2. Public representations were received from 46 addresses, comprising 22 

objections and 19 letters of observations / neutral comments, and 5 letters 
in support. 

 

7.3. Objections related to a range of matters including 
 

Page 21



 14 

- The need for the works 
- Flood risk 

- Management of construction traffic and pedestrian safety 
- Accessibility concerns during construction phase 

- Amenity considerations, noise impacts and vibration 
- Reservoir safety 
- Ecological impacts 

- Visual and landscape impacts of the works 
- Building design  

 
7.4. The objections and general comments are set out in further detail in the 

relevant parts of section 8 of this report. 

 
7.5. Supportive comments noted that: 

 
- The exit portion of the one-way traffic system runs right next to our 

house and the full length of our garden, which will obviously be 

disruptive during peak site traffic times with respect to noise, 
dirt/dust, vibration and vehicular access to our house. However, 

having looked at the plans and the limited choice of access to the 
site, I support this application. 

- The plans submitted look an exciting balance that listens to 

residents' feedback, meets the ongoing needs of the CRT, and will 
hopefully deliver a world-class resource that the whole community 

can share in and be proud of.  
 

- Supportive comments were also received from Toddbrook Sailing 

Club setting out the process by which the replacement facilities 
were designed and that the proposed facilities will be of an 

equivalent standard to their existing facilities. 
 

 
Statutory Consultees 

 
HPBC Trees Officer 

 
I’m aware that there has been considerable discussion and negotiation during 

the evolution of the scheme from pre-app onwards regarding the impact of the 
proposed development on existing trees, and the post-development 

landscaping, prior to my involvement. The former arboricultural officer dealing 
with the High Peak area was heavily involved in this, and I understand that it 
was concluded that given the project objectives, site constraints and 

logistical/construction requirements of the whole development, the scheme as 
evolved and now proposed represents a reasonable and realistic minimised 

impact on existing trees on/around the site – which nevertheless regrettably 
but inevitably involves the need to remove a substantial number of trees. A 
significant proportion of the required felling is to accommodate access and 

create working space for plant and equipment including cranes, rather than to 
accommodate the completed development itself, which again is regrettable 

Page 22



 15 

but I am not in a position to question the construction plan or 
access/operational requirements.  

 
The application is supported by a suitable tree survey/arboricultural impact 

assessment report which identifies existing tree-related constraints, impact on 
trees (including required removals and any areas where there may be impact 
on retained trees), and outlines temporary tree protection and mitigation 

measures.  
 

I have no cause to depart from this previous conclusion, and therefore I do not 
object to the application on grounds of loss of or impact on existing trees. 
However, conditions should be imposed to secure details and implementation 

of temporary protection measures for those trees to be removed. 
 

New landscaping provision has also evolved during the pre-application and 
application process, seeking to achieve an acceptable balance between 
mitigation for losses, achieving ecological enhancements, minimising and 

mitigating for any adverse visual impact arising from the various elements of 
the scheme, creating/enhancing landscape setting of the development, 

reinstating and enhancing the landscape structure and character of Memorial 
Park etc. Further to this last point and the replanting proposals within 
Memorial Park, we have worked with colleagues in Service Commissioning to 

give consideration to multiple user groups and facilities, to keep a balance 
between wooded and open areas, to maintain open views into/out from/within 

the Park, to maximise safety and natural surveillance, and to avoid conflict 
with the underlying structure and character of the Park which was important to 
the Heritage Lottery Fund restoration project. We have received amendments 

to secure a few additional trees where appropriate (eg around the new sailing 
club car park, and alongside public footpath WHA 29 leading into the Park 

from Reservoir Road past The Masons), and again these in some cases 
accord with input from the former arboricultural officer. 
 

The proposed landscaping has evolved into an acceptable strategy scheme, 
showing different planting character areas such as individual trees, native 

hedgerows, native structural shrub areas, meadows etc. However, at this 
stage this does not constitute a comprehensive and fully specified/detailed 
landscaping scheme (eg does not include specific details of proposed 

species, planting sizes, numbers/densities, planting patterns etc). Given that 
an acceptable strategic landscaping now forms part of the application, 

submission of this further level of detail, along with subsequent 
implementation and aftercare maintenance, may be appropriately secured by 
suitable condition.  

 
I would request that the following conditions be imposed in the event that 

planning permission is granted: 
 
 

1. No trees, shrubs, scrub or hedgerows shall be removed other than 
those whose removal is directly required to accommodate the approved 

development or to facilitate its construction, as detailed in the JCA Ltd 

Page 23



 16 

Arboricultural Impact Assessment report reference P11742-JCA-YL-001-001-
RP-Y-0108-S2-P3 submitted with the application and noted on the plans 

hereby approved, unless otherwise agreed by the LPA. There shall be no 
removal of any trees, shrubs or hedgerows during the bird nesting season 

(nominally March to August inclusive), unless otherwise agreed by the LPA 
and in this case only following careful inspection by a competent person 
immediately prior to removal in order to establish that such trees, shrubs, 

scrub or hedgerow are not in active use by nesting wild birds. 
 

2. Any mature tree to be removed or to have substantial crown pruning 
operations carried out shall first be carefully inspected for the potential to 
provide bat roosting opportunities. Any tree which has such potential (which 

could include cavities, splits, decay pockets, hollow stems or branches, areas 
of loose bark, dense ivy cover or dense epicormic shoots) shall be subject to 

a further detailed and if necessary climbing inspection by a licensed bat 
worker immediately prior to felling or pruning, and all felling or pruning of such 
trees shall take place in the presence of the bat worker who can then 

immediately advise on appropriate measures if bats are encountered during 
dismantling, felling or pruning operations. 

 
3. Before the commencement of development (including any demolition, 
removal of existing structures, site clearance, site stripping, site establishment 

and creation or alteration of site access) an arboricultural method statement 
shall be submitted to and approved by the LPA. Such a statement shall 

include full and specific details of all tree protection measures (such as 
temporary tree protection barriers, any temporary ground protection surfacing, 
special construction measures and specifications as appropriate) together 

with details of working methods, including relative timescales and 
monitoring/supervision responsibilities, for the avoidance, minimisation or 

mitigation of harm to existing trees to be retained on and adjacent to the 
application site, and to ensure that such appropriate measures are 
implemented as necessary to protect trees from the initial outset of any site 

establishment, demolition or construction and for the full duration of such 
activity. Details of any accommodation or remedial works required to trees to 

be retained shall also be submitted with the arboricultural method statement 
and approved prior to commencement. Thereafter, the development hereby 
approved shall be carried out only in full accordance with details approved 

under this condition. 
 

4. The first action on commencement of development in any area of the 
site, prior to any further action (including any demolition, removal of existing 
structures, site clearance, site stripping, site establishment or 

formation/improvement of temporary/permanent access), shall be the erection 
of temporary tree protection barriers, ground protection measures and 

advisory notices for the protection of the existing trees to be retained in or 
adjacent to that area of the site, in accordance with guidance in British 
Standard 5837:2012 Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and Construction 

– Recommendations, as set out in the JCA Ltd Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment report reference P11742-JCA-YL-001-001-RP-Y-0108-S2-P3 

submitted with the application hereby approved, and as approved under 

Page 24



 17 

Condition 3 above (Note: edit condition number to suit sequence on decision 
notice), and these shall be retained in position for the duration of the period 

that development takes place, unless otherwise agreed by the LPA. Within the 
fenced areas there shall be no excavation, changes in ground levels, 

installation of underground services, provision of hard surfacing, passage of 
vehicles, storage of materials, equipment or site huts, tipping of chemicals, 
waste or cement, or lighting of fires unless otherwise agreed by the LPA. 

 
5. All tree works in connection with this permission, including removal of 

existing trees and accommodation or remedial pruning work to existing trees 
to be retained, shall be carried out in accordance with British Standard 
3998:2010 Tree Work – Recommendations, and with due regard for the 

avoidance of damage to retained trees on or off site. Any temporary tree 
protection barriers or other such measures already in place which may need 

to be moved or removed to facilitate the accommodation tree works shall be 
replaced immediately on completion of these works.  
 

6. Within three months of the commencement of development (including 
any demolition, removal of existing structures, site clearance, site stripping, 

site establishment or formation/improvement of temporary/permanent access) 
a comprehensive and fully specified landscaping scheme shall be submitted 
to and approved by the LPA. Such a scheme shall be in full accordance with 

the ARUP Sailing Club Landscape GA Plan drg. no. P11742-ARP-YL-001-
001-DR-AL-5900 Rev P5 and ARUP Memorial Park Landscape GA Plan drg. 

no. P11742-ARP-YL-001-001-DR-AL-5901 Rev P4 hereby approved (Note: 
update drg. nos. if further revisions received prior to determination) and shall 
include full details of all new trees, shrubs and other vegetation, giving 

specification for species, positions, planting sizes and 
numbers/densities/patterns of all new planting. The landscaping scheme so 

approved shall be fully implemented before the end of the first available 
dormant season (November to February inclusive) following completion of the 
development hereby approved. The trees, shrubs and other vegetation 

planted in accordance with this landscaping scheme shall be properly 
maintained for a period of 5 years following planting. Any plants which within 

this period are damaged, become diseased, die, are removed or otherwise fail 
to establish shall be replaced during the next suitable season.  
 

 
HPBC Planning Policy 

 
The scheme involves physical alterations to an existing dam structure on 
grounds of public safety (flood risk), that could reasonably be considered 

engineering works. Given the reasons for the application (2019 events), the 
necessity of these works is appreciated.  

 
Given the GB location a view needs to be reached over para 150(b) NPPF – 
would the works preserve openness? If openness would not be preserved, 

technically VSC would be required, in which case the context of the 
application arising from the 2019 events and the imperatives of the structural 

repairs (and uniqueness of the case) should be taken into account when 

Page 25



 18 

determining if VSC have been demonstrated. The relocation of the boat club 
would move it into the GB from a non-GB location: as an outdoor recreation 

use refer to para 149(b) NPPF: is the scale of the re-provided facilities 
(including parking provision) appropriate, and would it preserve GB 

openness? If not VSC would again be required for this element of the scheme. 
As water compatible development the boat club would not require an 
exceptions test as per para 164 NPPF, but should still accord with para 168 

expectations as demonstrated by an FRA (refer to submitted FRA and 
detailed EA advice). 

 
Most of the site (including the proposed relocation of boat club, and the dam 
wall) is in or immediately adjacent to a SSSI. Refer to para 180 NPPF (Pol 

EQ5) – would the benefits of the boating club in that location clearly outweigh 
(any) adverse SSSI effects? Refer to Natural England detailed advice. For 

example has the applicant considered alternative locations near the reservoir 
that would not impact the SSSI (these could also be outside GB)? [Also would 
NE license be required?]. 

 
It is understood the memorial park would be relocated temporarily, then 

permanently, involving an equivalent provision of playspace (ie no overall 
loss) – therefore the scheme would appear compliant with Pol CF4. Also the 
commitment to achieving  an overall BNG across the scheme, is supported 

(NPPF paras 174/180, Pol EQ5). The design and landscaping impacts of all 
elements of the scheme also need to be fully considered as per Pols EQ2, 

EQ6 etc. 
 
Conclusion 

The justification of the current proposals is appreciated in the light of the 2019 
events. The dam engineering operations in the GB may either not require 

VSC, or if required you may deem they have been demonstrated. The 
engineering works not in the GB need to be assessed against landscape and 
design policies. The relocation of the boat club facilities may also not require 

VSC (depending on degree of openness impact). However this element would 
be located within/adjacent to a SSSI, therefore requires special justification 

(along with raising dam wall) if there would be adverse impacts – could 
repositioning boat club elsewhere be considered? 
 

The reprovision of playspace appears policy compliant; and the proposed 
scheme BNG is supported. However although the achievement of an overall 

BNG is to be supported in policy, this should not be construed as negating or 
overriding any conflict with other policies highlighted above. 
 
HPBC Environmental Health 

 

Initial response: 
 
The Environmental Health Department has no objection to the proposed 

development subject to the conditions set out below being applied to any 
permission granted. 

 

Page 26



 19 

The proposed end use of the development is particularly sensitive to the 
presence of land contamination, for this reason the following conditions 1 and 

2 are recommended. 
 

The construction/demolition stage of the development could lead to an 
increase of noise and dust etc. experienced at sensitive premises and 
subsequent loss of amenity, for this reason conditions 3 to 10 are suggested. 

 
1. CL05 CONTAMINATED LAND – IF FOUND DURING 

DEVELOPMENT 
If during development any contamination or evidence of likely contamination is 
identified that has not previously been identified or considered, then the 

applicant shall submit a written scheme to identify and control that 
contamination. This shall include a phased risk assessment carried out in 

accordance with the procedural guidance of the Environmental Protection Act 
1990 Part IIA, and appropriate remediation proposals, and shall be submitted 
to the Local Planning Authority without delay. The approved remediation 

scheme shall be implemented to the satisfaction of the Local Planning 
Authority. 

 
2. CLD09 - GAS RISK ASSESSMENT 
Development should not commence until either:  

(a) the site has been monitored and assessed for the presence of landfill 
gas or 

(b) in lieu of monitoring, a comprehensive scheme of gas protection measures 
are agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. The agreed scheme 
shall thereafter be implemented. 

 
Where monitoring at the site for the presence of ground/landfill gas and a 

subsequent risk assessment has been carried out in accordance with a 
scheme to be agreed with the Local Planning Authority. The results of the 
monitoring shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority as soon as they 

are available. 
 

If the presence of ground/landfill gas is confirmed, or there is evidence that 
migration of ground/landfill gas is likely to occur, development shall not 
commence until satisfactory remedial measures have been taken to control 

and manage the gas and to monitor the effectiveness of these measures. All 
such measures shall be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority 

before development. 
 
3. NSD12 - BEST PRACTICAL MEANS 

The best practicable means, as defined in Section 72 of the Control of 
Pollution Act 1974 to reduce noise and vibration from the site to a minimum, 

shall be employed at all times during construction. 
 
INFORMATIVE: The applicant is invited to make a prior consent application 

under section 61 of the Control of Pollution Act 1974 
 

4. CDD01 - CONSTRUCTION AND  DEMOLITION – DUST 

Page 27



 20 

There shall be no visible dust emissions beyond the site boundary associated 
with construction/demolition works undertaken at the site. In controlling dust 

on site, the contractor shall have due regard to the Building Research 
Establishment Document ‘Control of Dust from Construction and Demolition 

Activities’ (BR456) and the Institute of Air Quality Managements ‘Assessment 
of dust from demolition and Construction’ (2014). 
 

5. CDD02 - CONSTRUCTION & DEMOLITION: WASTE DISPOSAL 
Any waste material associated with the demolition or construction shall not be 

burnt on site but shall be kept securely for removal to prevent escape into the 
environment. 
 

There shall be no fires lit on the site for purpose of disposing of demolition 
materials. Any open fires that arise shall be extinguished without delay. 

 
6. NSD02B - NOISE CONSTRUCTION: PILING 2 
If piling is necessary, a written method statement shall be submitted to the 

Local Planning Authority.  The affects of noise generation (hours of operation) 
shall be considered, and shall include noise mitigation measures consistent 

with best practical means. No piling shall take place until the method 
statement has been approved. 
 

No piling shall take place outside the hours 08:00 hours to 18:00 hours 
Mondays to Fridays 

 
7. NSD08 – PILING - VIBRATION 
Should vibration levels be predicted to exceed 2.0 mms-1 at an nearby 

residential premises, or at the direction of the LPA, monitoring for 
noise/vibration shall be undertaken. The following action level criteria for 

vibration are adopted 
• First Action Level: Vibration levels with a peak component particle 
velocity of 2.0 mms-1 to 3.4 mms-1 (at nearby premises). 

• Second Action Level: Vibration levels with a peak component particle 
velocity of 3.5 mms-1 and above (at nearby premises). 

The First Action Level, if exceeded, shall trigger further consideration (by/on 
behalf of the developer) of what activities are causing the exceedance. All 
exceedances should be reported to the Environmental Health Department 

(acting for the LPA) with a brief description including the time and causation. 
 

Piling operations at the site shall not exceed the Second Action Level without 
the written approval of the LPA. The Environmental Health Department of 
HPBC shall be informed immediately of an exceedance of the second action 

value caused by the piling operations. 
 

The phasing of piling operations shall be agreed in writing with the LPA prior 
to any piling activities taking place. 
 

8. NS02A -  CONSTRUCTION & DEMOLITION WORKS: TIME OF 
OPERATIONS 

Page 28



 21 

Unless prior permission has been obtained in writing from the Local Planning 
Authority, all noise-generating construction/demolition activities shall be 

restricted to the following times of operations. 
• 08:00 - 18:00 hours (Monday to Friday); 

• 08:30 - 14:00 hours (Saturday) 
• No working is permitted on Sundays or Bank Holidays. 
 

In this condition, a noise-generating activity is defined as any activity (for 
instance, but not restricted to, building construction/demolition operations, 

refurbishing and landscaping) which generates noise that is audible at the site 
boundary. 
 

9. CLD11 - ASBESTOS: REQUEST FOR INFO 
Prior to commencement of development the developer must either submit 

evidence that the building was built post 2000 or submit a intrusive pre-
demolition/refirbishment asbestos survey in accordance with HSG264 and a 
mitigation plan to reduce risks to potential occupiers and the wider public. The 

report shall be approved in writing by the LPA. 
 

NB it should be noted a management survey report is unlikely to be 
acceptable as this does not meet the requirements of the guidance. 
 

The approved mitigation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its 
terms prior to the commencement of development. 

 
10. CDD14 -  ON SITE RADIO 
During construction/demolition phases amplified music and/or radios shall not 

be audible beyond the site boundary. 
 

Advisory notes also provided for applicant. 
 
 
HPBC Service Development Officer 

 

Further to the above application submitted by the CRT for the Toddbrook dam 
works affecting the Memorial Park, Service Commissioning are in support of 
the proposals.  As you are aware, there have been ongoing discussions 

between the Leisure and Rec Team and the CRT with regard to the proposed 
new spillway and bypass channel and its impact on the play area in the park, 

in order for both parties to find an acceptable solution.  We believe that this 
has now been achieved through the proposed design and layout of the play 
area as detailed in the application.  We are satisfied that at the end of the 

works the play area will be re-instated as per its original layout, including 
equipment and features which were part of the HLF restoration programme, 

and that the new bypass channel can be incorporated into the play space 
offering additional play value to the park. 
 
Alliance Environmental Services 

 

No issues regarding waste collections. 

Page 29



 22 

 
Derbyshire County Council Lead Local Flooding Authority (LLFA) 

 
Derbyshire County Council as the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) has 

reviewed the information submitted for this application, which was received on 
25 October 2021. The LLFA has no objection subject to the conditions below. 
 

To ensure adherence to National Planning Policy Framework, DEFRAs Non-
statutory technical standards for sustainable drainage systems and local 

guidance, these recommended conditions should not be altered without 
consulting the County Council Flood Risk Management team. 
 

1. “No development shall take place until a detailed design and associated 
management and maintenance plan of the surface water drainage for the site, 

in accordance with the principles outlined within: 
a. Arup. (12 October 2021). Sailing Club Drainage Statement P11742-ARP-
YL-001-RP-C-0103, Revision P3 

b. Arup. (6 October 2021). Proposed Drainage Strategy, P11742-ARP-YL-
001-DR-C-5301, Revision P03 

c. Arup. (12 October 2021). Flood Risk Assessment, P11742-ARP-YL-001-
RP-C-0107, Revision P2 
including any subsequent amendments or updates to those documents as 

approved by the Flood Risk Management Team, have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.” 

 
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not increase flood 
risk and that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated into this 

proposal, and sufficient detail of the construction, operation and 
maintenance/management of the sustainable drainage systems are provided 

to the Local Planning Authority, in advance of full planning consent being 
granted. 
 

2. “Prior to commencement of the development, the applicant shall submit for 
approval to the LPA details indicating how additional surface water run-off 

from the site will be managed during the construction phase. The applicant 
may be required to provide collection, balancing and/or settlement systems for 
these flows. The approved system shall be operating to the satisfaction of the 

LPA, before the commencement of any works, which would lead to increased 
surface water run-off from site during the construction phase.” 

 
Reason: To ensure surface water is managed appropriately during the 
construction phase of the development, so as not to increase the flood risk to 

adjacent land/properties or occupied properties within the development. 
 

SITE SPECIFIC COMMENTS 
The “culvert towards Brookfield Pond”, indicated on the drainage strategy 
drawing referred to in condition 1 above, appears to pass underneath and 

close to buildings. The LLFA would require the route of this culvert to be 
adjusted to avoid this. Please refer to Advisory Note C below. 

 

Page 30



 23 

Advisory/informative notes also provided in relation to DCC adoption of 
sustainable urban drainage systems, watercourse works consent, culverts, 

surface water management and drainage plans details 
 
Derbyshire County Council Highways Authority 

 
Initial comments 

 
The above-referenced proposal is for the construction of a replacement 

spillway and associated dam structure, replacement of sailing club facilities 
including new access, replacement of play equipment and park landscaping at 
Toddbrook Reservoir. 

 
A Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP) in support of the proposal is 

submitted. 
 
The construction site access will be via Reservoir Road, a Non-Classified 

Road, with the main access being adjacent to the sailing club. The 
construction routes also include accessing/egressing from Whaley Lane, a 

Non-Classified Road and Buxton Road, a classified road. 
It has been stated in the CTMP that condition surveys of adopted roads pre 
and post-construction will be undertaken and agreed upon with the local 

highway officer. However, before any other operations or the start of 
construction activities, the extent of condition surveys pre and post-

construction must be agreed upon with the Highway Authority. In this regard, 
the applicant should contact Mr Kevin Barton in Development Control at 
County Hall, Matlock. 

 
It has been stated in the Design and Access Statement that construction will 

commence in 2022 in phases, and the construction period could be 
approximately 24 months. 
 

It is noted that the construction routes pass from the residential areas, and 
due to the presence of primary schools, the Highway Authority recommends 

that safe route to school assessments need to be undertaken. The Highway 
Authority had also received concerns from the residents regarding 
construction routes from Disley, and Whaley Lane, and therefore in this 

context construction routes and associated traffic management measures 
needs to be agreed. 

 
Furthermore, the wider impact of the construction traffic on the strategic 
routes and junctions needs to be assessed and forms part of the CTMP. 

It has been indicated in the CTMP that the formal traffic management design 
drawings/temporary traffic management drawings have not been submitted, 

and agreement on the construction routes have not been sought. It has been 
confirmed that associated drawings for each phase will be submitted to the 
LHA for approval. In CTMP proposal to install a manually operated Stop/Go 

system on construction traffic routes has been discussed; however, the 
principle of manually operated traffic management needs to be agreed upon 

with the DCC traffic management. The construction traffic routes, traffic 

Page 31



 24 

management and temporary traffic management proposals need to be agreed 
upon, and the applicant should be advised to liaise with our Highways Hub 

regarding temporary traffic management requirements at 01629 5133190 or 
contact.centre@derbyshire.gov.uk. 

 
If the proposal includes road closures and temporary traffic signal installation, 
the applications will have to be submitted via the County Councils web-site; 

relevant forms are available via the following link 
 

http://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport_roads/roads_traffic/roadworks/default.
asp 
 

Reservoir Road has residential parking closer to the junction of Reservoir 
Road and Whaley Lane. Clarification is needed on how the construction traffic 

will access/egress the construction site in the presence of parked cars, as the 
width will not be sufficient to support these manoeuvres. Although it is 
mentioned that the footpath will be reduced in width at the frontage of property 

No1 up to houses in front of No 13 on Reservoir Road as shown in Figure 06, 
however supporting swept path assessment/plan to validate the carriageway 

width has not been submitted for the review of the DCC Highways. 
It is noted that the number of PROW routes such as FP29, FP33, FP35 and 
FP102 passes across Reservoir Road and surrounding highways; therefore, 

the safety of PROW users’ needs to be considered. It is also noted in the 
CTMP that construction vehicles egress route pass from PROW route FP29. 

The access of construction vehicles may obstruct the PROW users, and 
therefore, the applicant should take advice from the Derbyshire PROW 
section by calling 01629 533190. The PROW route must remain unobstructed 

on its legal alignment at all times, and the safety of the public using it must not 
be prejudiced either during or after construction works take place. Please note 

that the granting of planning permission is not consent to divert or obstruct a 
public right of way. If it is necessary to temporarily obstruct a right of way to 
undertake development works, then a temporary closure is obtainable from 

the County Council. Please contact 01629 533190 for further information. 
 

Detailed junctions’ capacity assessment has not been undertaken; however, it 
has been indicated in the CTMP that the proposal would generate a total of 
10HGVs per day. It has not been considered that advised traffic generation 

would result in a significant traffic impact for which detailed junctions’ 
assessments are needed. However, the Highway Authority recommends that 

construction traffic and delivery vehicles arrival and departure outside of the 
highway network peak hours be considered and a suitable planning condition 
to this effect be attached to any future planning consent. 

 
It has indicated parking for 22 construction vehicles will be provided at the 

main compound, and an additional overflow car parking area will be provided 
at the Transhipment Warehouse and at the south access. It should be 
ensured for the LPA own satisfaction that adequate parking be provided at the 

site so that the proposal should not result in indiscriminate car parking issues 
on the surrounding highways. It has also indicated that loading and unloading 

will not be undertaken on public highways. 

Page 32

mailto:contact.centre@derbyshire.gov.uk
http://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport_roads/roads_traffic/roadworks/default.asp
http://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport_roads/roads_traffic/roadworks/default.asp


 25 

 
The wheel washing facilities need to be shown on a plan. 

 
It has been mentioned in the CTMP that DCC Highways confirmed that 

Network Rail had lowered the rail bridge deck and height restriction on the 
approach from Buxton Road, and various bridge strikes have been noted. It 
has been indicated that the proposal of lowering of the carriageway will be 

considered, and supporting topographical survey data will be reviewed to 
understand what works will be needed under the bridge and on Reservoir 

Road to allow construction vehicles accessing and egressing from the 
construction site. These issues need to be discussed with the Highways 
Authority. 

 
In principle, the Highway Authority has no objection to the above proposal; 

however, the above comments need to be addressed and consultation needs 
to be undertaken from the DCC Traffic Management and PROW sections, in 
the interest of road safety. 

 
Updated response following discussions between applicants and DCC 

Highways 
 
The Highway Authority provided their initial response on the outstanding 

matters related to the Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP). 
Since then, the applicant’s representative has provided additional information 

to address outstanding matters. The Highway Authority has the following 
comments. 
 

The extent of condition surveys for adopted road pre and post-construction 
and modifications/improvements necessary to undertake construction works 

need to be agreed upon with the Highway Authority under Section 278 
Agreement. The planning condition and information required for Section 278 
consent is advised in this response. 

 
In support of the safe route to school assessment, the applicant’s 

representative has confirmed that there is a daily school crossing patrol on the 
East side of the railway bridge. It was agreed that close contact would be 
needed between construction site traffic management operatives and the 

crossing patrol. Contact details to be provided by DCC Traffic Management.  
 

The applicant’s representative has also confirmed that traffic management 
operatives would also act as pedestrian marshals where required in relation to 
incoming/outgoing construction traffic. This information needs to be provided 

and agreed upon as part of the temporary traffic management drawings/plans. 
Note/Informative for the requirement of traffic management/temporary traffic 

management is advised in this response. 
 
It is noted that the road surface under the railway bridge would not be 

lowered. It is further noted that temporary parking for property no.33 on 
Reservoir Road will be provided. The applicant’s representative has also 

confirmed that cones would be put out on the section slightly further up where 

Page 33



 26 

the road narrows, and the applicant will manage this with the residents. It has 
also confirmed that temporary kerb/verge works would be reinstated as 

existing on construction completion. 
 

The parking and loading/unloading information provided in the CTMP is 
acceptable, and planning conditions will be advised in this response to this 
effect. 

 
Subject to the following Conditions, Notes/Informative being included in any 

consent, the Highway Authority has no objection on the above proposal. 
 
Conditions 

1. Before any other operations are commenced, space shall be provided 
within the site curtilage for storage of plant and materials/ site 

accommodation/ loading and unloading of goods vehicles/ parking and 
manoeuvring of site operatives and visitors vehicles. The construction 
vehicles must enter and exist to the construction site in a forward gear without 

reversing on the Public Highway. The parking spaces and internal layout, laid 
out and constructed in accordance with detailed designs to be submitted in 

advance to the Local Planning Authority for written approval and maintained 
throughout the contract period in accordance with the approved designs free 
from any impediment to its designated use. 

 
2. Before any of the operations hereby approved are commenced, which 

involve the movement of material in bulk to or from the site, vehicle wheel 
cleaning facilities shall be provided and retained within the site. All 
construction vehicles shall have their wheels cleaned before leaving the site in 

order to prevent the deposition of mud or other extraneous material on the 
public highway. 

 
3. Before any other operations or the start of construction activities, the extent 
of carriageway condition surveys pre and post-construction must be agreed 

with the Highway Authority. 
 

4. There shall be no gates or other barriers within 5m of the nearside highway 
boundary, and any gates shall open inwards only. 
 

Notes/Informatives on s278 agreement, Temporary Traffic Management 
Regulation Order, Public Right of Way and works to highway also requested. 

 
Derbyshire County Council Minerals Planning 

 

No comments 
 
Derbyshire County Council Archaeology 

 
Following a scoping consultation, cultural heritage was scoped into the 

assessment because of the presence of known undesignated heritage assets, 
including Memorial Park which was felt by the local community to be a local 

heritage asset worthy of inclusion. 

Page 34



 27 

 
The proposed Scheme comprises the construction of a replacement spillway 

and associated dam infrastructure, replacement sailing club facilities 
(including new access), and replacement play equipment and park 

landscaping in Memorial Park. The Environmental Statement draws on 
detailed cultural heritage studies considering direct and non-direct (setting) 
impacts and I am satisfied that potential impacts have been identified and 

assessed appropriately therein.  
 

To summarise, the principal impacts proposed are to the 1830s Toddbrook 
dam (Derbyshire HER MDR511) and associated watercourse/spillway 
(MDR7687) within their early 19th century engineered landscape, and to the 

early 20th century Memorial Park via direct loss of a small area and through 
setting impacts of the new scheme. The presence of earlier archaeology 

within the site cannot be ruled out but is judged unlikely within a landscape 
that was radically altered during the 19th and 20th centuries. Similarly, 
deposits of palaeo-environmental significance are possible but unlikely within 

the relatively high energy Goyt system. 
 

The proposed mitigation set out within the ES is appropriate and addresses 
the identified impacts, involving recording of the assets to be impacted 
including the early 19th century reservoir landscape and archaeological 

monitoring of the development groundworks (though these could perhaps be 
targeted or intermittent to ensure proportionality). 

 
I advise that the cultural heritage impacts are modest and can be addressed 
through planning conditions in line with NPPF para 205. The following 

conditions should therefore be attached to any planning consent: 
 

"a) No development shall take place until a Written Scheme of Investigation 
for cultural heritage and archaeological recording and monitoring has been 
submitted to and approved by the local planning authority in writing, and until 

the pre-start recording elements of the approved scheme have been 
completed to the written satisfaction of the local planning authority. The 

scheme shall include an assessment of significance and research questions; 
and  
1. The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording 

2. The programme for post investigation assessment 
3. Provision to be made for analysis of the site investigation and recording 

4. Provision to be made for publication and dissemination of the analysis and 
records of the site investigation 
5. Provision to be made for archive deposition of the analysis and records of 

the site investigation 
6. Nomination of a competent person or persons/organization to undertake 

the works set out within the Written Scheme of Investigation"  
 
"b) No development shall take place other than in accordance with the cultural 

heritage Written Scheme of Investigation approved under condition (a), and 
the work specified in the WSI shall be carried out to completion." 

 

Page 35



 28 

Peak District Park Planning 

 

There is a short section 6.1 on Ecology and Nature Conservation, on pages 
12 & 14 in the Environmental Statement Volume IV Non-technical Summary 

and a few other mentions of the environment etc elsewhere. The local issues 
look to have been considered and there are no wider implications which would 
impact the ecology of the National Park. 

 
Chapel-en-le-Frith Parish Council 

 
No objection 
 
Whaley Bridge Town Council 

 

Whaley Bridge Town Council reviewed the plans at the Town Council meeting 
on the 11th of November and have some observations and comments it 
wishes to pass on to you for your consideration. 

 
- Regarding the traffic management plan the Council would like to 

know if the CRT have a designed and agreed plan with DCC how 
the access from wharf Road to the Park via footpath 105 addresses 
safety and how this path is going to be made safe. 

- There is a blind woman who lives on Reservoir Road the Council 
would like to know how this person can be helped through the 

construction site perhaps a taxi could be provided for her or at least 
some measures put in place to ensure that her specific needs are 
met. 

- The Council requests that it is made into a planning condition that 
the heavy good traffic to and from the site miss the peak periods. 

-  The Council would like to reconfirm the plans regarding the pipe 
work into Brookfield Pond and request that if there are any more 
detailed plans about this specific part of the application that the 

Town Council receives them. 
-  The Council would also like to know where all the spoil from the 

front of the dam will be taken to and request that this spoil is used 
to regrade the slope from the top of the Dam rather than being 
taken away. 

-  The Council would like to know if there is anyway the concrete 
could be mixed onsite to avoid the need of concrete wagons coming 

down Whaley Lane. 
-  The Council wish to comment on the softening of the two turrets 

that has previously been mentioned and the installation of viewing 

platforms, is there any confirmed plans for this? 
-  Finally, the Council requests that a Water Management Plan from 

the Environment Agency is provided to assess what affects the new 
spillway will have further down the Goyt River, considering its 
history of flooding. 

 

Page 36



 29 

The comments from the Town Council reflect comments generally received 
from members of the public and the issues raised are responded to in section 

8 of this report. 
 
Chinley, Buxworth and Brownside Parish Council 

 
Support and welcome the proposals in principle for reasons of public safety 

and ensuring the long-term viability of Bugsworth Basin. 
 
Cllr John Swift 

 
Is it possible that the turrets in the park could be turned into visitor information 

centres if they must be in the park? 
 

Why does the sailing club need a building for three large power boats? In the 
past only a small rowboat with an outboard motor was required in case of 
emergencies on the reservoir, this seems a bit excessive. 

 
Why does the dam design and plans not have any provision of renewable 

electricity such as hydro electric power or something such as solar panels on 
the sailing club? I appreciate that heat source pumps will be installed at the 
sailing club, but it would be beneficial if the electricity for the heat pumps was 

also generated through renewable means. 
 
Landscape Consultant 

 
Initial comments: 

 
The Landscape Design proposals are detailed on submitted drawings, 

Memorial Park Landscape GA Plan 277087-00P3 and Sailing Club 
Landscape GA Plan 277087-00P4. 
 

The design principles that have informed the proposals to reduce visual 
impacts of the are stated as follows within Chapter 5 of the Environmental 

Statement: 
 
• The considered relocation of the Sailing Club house and power boat store;  

• the layout, shape, orientation, height, design of building elevations and 
exterior finishes of the proposed Sailing Club and power boat store which 

respect the character of the surrounding area; 
• Breaking up the massing of the proposed sailing club by visually creating 
two building wings with staggered short gable end walls facing Reservoir 

Road;  
• Minimising the height of the proposed sailing club so it sits lower than 

adjacent residential property;  
• the location of the proposed spillway channel as well as its height, design 
and natural stone cladding of most channel walls to minimise the impact on 

park. The finish of the low channel wall adjacent to the proposed boat storage 
area would be smooth concrete to match the finish of the adjacent tumble 

bay;  

Page 37



 30 

• the proposed spillway channel and turrets would be set into the landscape to 
reduce the visible height of the walls as far as possible. Terraces have been 

used to settle the turrets into the park;  
• External finishes of the turrets would be developed with an artist and is likely 

to utilise varying concrete finishes to create a feature of interest within the 
park. This is subject to further development and detailed design. A smooth 
grey concrete finish is shown in this visualisation as a placeholder only;  

• the new spillway channel has been designed that there would always be 
water running at low level to help mitigate the appearance of the spillway;  

• grassing over the existing concrete auxiliary spillway;  
• the proposed soft landscaping, including elements such as tree, hedge 
native shrub planting to help screen and filter views of the proposed Scheme;  

• the proposed hard landscaping as well as the design of the play area; and  
• the retention of trees where possible and replanted where lost (if 

appropriate).’ 
 
Generally, I consider that these design principles (as above) are a good 

response to the site and functional requirements of the new spillway, in 
particular the grassing over of the auxiliary spillway and running water in the 

new spillway will have positive benefits in terms of visual impacts and 
providing an interesting feature in Memorial Park.  
 

Whilst a minor detail, the footpath links between two parts of the play area 
don’t join up and a surfaced path may be beneficial as it is likely to receive too 

much wear for grass. Likewise, the new footbridge over spillway could benefit 
from a surfaced path to link to the grass terraces and steppingstones.  
Connections to and the route of PROW Whaley Bridge FP28 across the dam 

(also the route of a proposed local cycle network) appear to have been well 
considered in the proposed layout. 

 
The proposals necessitate the removal of a substantial number of trees. The 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment states that: ‘Approximately 62 trees, plus 

saplings and scrub require removal due to the proposals. A total of 56 on-site 
trees and 20 off-site trees are being planted. Further to this, areas of scrub 

and hedgerow planting are taking place, the woodland to the north-east is 
also being improved. To help meet the Local Authorities requirements for 
replacement planting, off-site mitigation is being utilised and the client is 

willing to find further areas if required.’ 
 

The removal of this number of trees will have a significant landscape and 
visual impact. The Landscape drawings 277087-00P3 and 277087-00P4 
show 47 standard and 6 feathered trees to be planted as replacements on the 

site, a total of 53. Offsite biodiversity enhancements are also proposed. Whilst 
this mitigation is welcome and I understand there is a desire from the 

community to have some open areas within Memorial Park, I consider there is 
scope for additional tree planting to reduce local visual impacts. The retention 
of T10, a mature sycamore is particularly welcome as this tree makes a good 

contribution to Memorial Park in the area near the play area. 
Visual Landscape Impacts 

 

Page 38



 31 

A Visual Impact Assessment has been carried out by ARUP and forms the 
basis of Chapter 5 of the Environmental Statement.  Overall, I consider that 

the methodology, scope and process used in the assessment are consistent 
with the guidelines detailed by GLVIA 3 and would consider that the chosen 

viewpoints are representative. 
 
(The landscape consultant’s advice then reviews the assessment undertaken 

in the submitted Visual Impact Assessment at each of the 13 viewpoints and 
confirms his agreement to the assessment from each of the viewpoints, which 

are noted as being either moderate adverse impact, minor adverse, minor 
beneficial, or negligible). 
 

Conclusion  
Although the proposed works are of substantial scale the combination of a 

relatively small Zone of Theoretical Visibility and existing mature vegetation 
results in limited visual impacts. The removal of existing trees will impact 
locally to a significant degree to users of Memorial Park, however it is 

acknowledged that there will also be positive benefits from grassing over the 
existing spillway. In some areas the inclusion of additional tree planting would 

be beneficial to visual amenity particularly around the proposed car park and 
boat park and to some close views withing the Park (view 5). 
 
Heritage Consultant 

 

The consultants’ comments identify and describe the significance of the 
designated and non-designated heritage assets (including the reservoir and 
dam, Memorial Park, the war memorial itself, Toddbrook Lodge, the Grade-II 

listed Holy Trinity Church, and Whaley Bridge Conservation Area) likely to be 
affected by the proposed works, and identifies the extent of any positive or 

adverse impacts on the significance of those assets and their settings, and 
the effectiveness of proposed measures to mitigate the harm identified.  
 

OVERALL IMPACT OF THE PROPOSALS AND PUBLIC BENEFIT 
The residual harm to the heritage assets (after mitigation) which wi ll result 

from different elements of the proposals is considered to be minor-to-
moderate adverse, at worst. However, it is worth remembering that the 
significance of the heritage assets which will be most affected by the works 

is low-to-medium. In planning terms, the significance of the heritage assets 
identified will not be eroded/ lost as a result of the proposals and the harm can 

be considered as less than substantial. NPPF para.202 therefore advises that 
the LPA will be required to consider whether the resultant public benefits of 
the proposals are sufficient enough to outweigh the perceived level of harm. 

In this instance the potential harm of a breach of the Dam not only to the 
residents of Whaley Bridge but also to the surrounding heritage assets would 

be substantial. It has been demonstrated that modification works to the Dam 
are necessary and the submitted documents show that there is clear and 
convincing justification for the works.  

 

Page 39



 32 

SUMMARY 
It is considered that, whilst there are adverse impacts to the heritage assets 

identified above arising from the works, there are also some substantial 
beneficial heritage impacts: most significantly, the removal of the unsightly 

1970s Auxillary Spillway. 
 
The submitted documents have accurately identified the heritage assets most 

at risk from the proposed works; have assessed the level of harm; and have 
put in place mitigation measures. The residual harm, after mitigation, has 

been clearly and convincingly justified. 
 
Derbyshire Wildlife Trust 

 
We have reviewed Chapter 4 (Ecology and Nature Conservation) of the 

Environmental Statement (Arup, October 2021), along with the relevant 
appendices including the Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment. We have also 
reviewed the various figures illustrating the proposed plans for the site. 

 
Overall we consider that the assessments undertaken have been completed 

to a high standard and provide the LPA with a reasonable level of confidence 
regarding the potential impacts on biodiversity that are likely to result from the 
development. The documents also provide a reasonable level of detail 

regarding mitigation measures and biodiversity enhancement and 
management. 

 
The net gain assessment has set out measures to achieve a 10% net gain for 
biodiversity including both on-site and off-site measures. The approach and 

methods described are reasonable and in line with best practice. The 
locations identified for habitat enhancement are also acceptable as far as we 

are aware. The net gain assessment has concluded that there will be a 
15.69% net gain for biodiversity in habitat units and a net gain for linear units 
(hedgerows) of 176.66%. There is a small loss of river units of 2.15. However, 

the explanation for the loss is considered acceptable and we do not 
recommend any additional action in this respect. 

 
There is an Outline Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP) and 
this may need to be worked up into a more detailed CEMP to cover all 

mitigation measures required during the construction phase. 
 

Toad crossing – toads are known to seasonally migrate to Brookfield pond 
across Whaley Bridge Reservoir Road. There is a risk that toads could be 
affected if the timing and scope of works coincides with toad migrations. This 

potential impact and measures to address it should be included in the detailed 
CEMP. 

 
Recommendations 
We do not consider that there is a need for any further survey or assessment 

at this time. The mitigation and biodiversity enhancement and net gain 
measures are considered acceptable and should in the longer-term result in a 

10% net gain for biodiversity. 

Page 40



 33 

 
The ecological mitigation identified within section 4.5 of Chapter 4 of the ES 

should be implemented in full as part of the CEMP for the site. The Outline 
CEMP provides an initial framework for this, but needs to be worked up in 

detail as stated in section 1.4 of the Outline CEMP document. 
 
Biodiversity Net Gain 

The development should be implemented in strict accordance with the 
Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment and Management Plan prepared by Ramm 

Sanderson, October 2021. 
 
The ES proposes to erect / install a number of bat boxes and bird boxes. 

These do not appear to be included as part of the net gain assessment, but 
there is reference to indicative locations on the landscape plan. It would be 

advisable to request a final plan that provides details of the location for each 
box, type of box and number to be used. 
 
Environment Agency 

 
Natural England 

 
Initial response: 

 
SUMMARY OF NATURAL ENGLAND’S ADVICE 

 
NO OBJECTION - SUBJECT TO APPROPRIATE MITIGATION BEING 
SECURED 

 
We consider that without appropriate mitigation the application would: 

 damage or destroy the interest features for which Toddbrook Reservoir 
Site of Special Scientific Interest has been notified. 

 

In order to mitigate these adverse effects and make the development 
acceptable, the following mitigation measures are required / or the following 

mitigation options should be secured: 
 
Appropriately worded Construction Environmental Management Plan to 

ensure no significant impact on Toddbrook Reservoir SSSI. 
 

We advise that an appropriate planning condition or obligation is attached to 
any planning permission to secure these measures. 
 

Natural England’s further advice on designated sites/landscapes and advice 
on other natural environment issues is set out below. 

 
Further advice on mitigation 
Currently the applicants have provided just an outline overview of the intention 

to provide a CEMP which is generic. 
 

Page 41



 34 

 The Construction Management Plan should be detailed and provide 
appropriate mitigation measures to be implemented prior and during 

the construction process to ensure no significant impact on the notified 
features of Toddbrook Reservoir SSSI. 

 
Please note that if your authority is minded to grant planning permission 
contrary to the advice in this letter, you are required under Section 28I (6) of 

the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) to notify Natural England 
of the permission, the terms on which it is proposed to grant it and how, if at 

all, your authority has taken account of Natural England’s advice. You must 
also allow a further period of 21 days before the operation can commence. 
 

Other advice 
In addition, Natural England would advise on the following issues. 

Protected Landscapes 
The proposed development is for a site within or close to a nationally 
designated landscape namely Peak District National Park. Natural England 

advises that the planning authority uses national and local policies, together 
with local landscape expertise and information to determine the proposal. The 

policy and statutory framework to guide your decision and the role of local 
advice are explained below. 
Your decision should be guided by paragraph 176 and 177 of the National 

Planning Policy Framework which gives the highest status of protection for the 
‘landscape and scenic beauty’ of AONBs and National Parks. For major 

development proposals paragraph 177 sets out criteria to determine whether 
the development should exceptionally be permitted within the designated 
landscape. 

Alongside national policy you should also apply landscape policies set out in 
your development plan, or appropriate saved policies. 

The landscape advisor/planner for the National Park will be best placed to 
provide you with detailed advice about this development proposal. Their 
knowledge of the site and its wider landscape setting, together with the aims 

and objectives of the park’s management plan, will be a valuable contribution 
to the planning decision. Where available, a local Landscape Character 

Assessment can also be a helpful guide to the landscape’s sensitivity to this 
type of development and its capacity to accommodate the proposed 
development. 

 
The statutory purposes of the National Park are to conserve and enhance the 

natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the park; and to promote 
opportunities for the understanding and enjoyment of the special qualities of 
the park by the public. You should assess the application carefully as to 

whether the proposed development would have a significant impact on or 
harm those statutory purposes. Relevant to this is the duty on public bodies to 

‘have regard’ for those statutory purposes in carrying out their functions 
(section 11 A(2) of the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 
1949 (as amended)). The Planning Practice Guidance confirms that this duty 

also applies to proposals outside the designated area but impacting on its 
natural beauty. 

 

Page 42



 35 

Further general advice on consideration of protected species and other 
natural environment issues is provided at Annex A. 

Should the developer wish to discuss the detail of measures to mitigate the 
effects described above with Natural England, we recommend that they seek 

advice through our Discretionary Advice Service. 
 
 
Historic England 

 

We note the proximity and relationship to the Grade II* Canal Warehouse at 
end of Peak Forest Canal (1088081) and the context of the 2019 incident.  On 
the information submitted to date we have no detailed comments to offer.  We 

refer you to the expertise of your specialist conservation advisors.   Historic 
England has no objection to the application on heritage grounds.  In 

determining this application you should bear in mind the statutory duty of 
section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 to have special regard to the desirability of preserving listed buildings or 

their setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which 
they possess.  Your authority should take these representations into account 

in determining the application. 
 
United Utilities 

 
Initial response 

 
United Utilities’ Property, Assets and Infrastructure – REQUEST FOR 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION PRIOR TO DETERMINATION 

PRIOR TO DETERMINATION of the application, United Utilities ask that a 
constraints plan is provided showing all United Utilities assets and 

infrastructure alongside the proposed development. On receipt of this United 
Utilities will provide further comment. 
 

Water Mains 
There is an existing United Utilities water main on Reservoir Road and a raw 

water main which crosses the site in the vicinity of the proposed park. 
As we need unrestricted access for operating and maintaining them, we will 
not permit development over or in close proximity to these mains. We require 

an access strip as detailed in our ‘Standard Conditions for Works Adjacent to 
Pipelines’, a copy of which is enclosed. The applicant must comply with our 

'Standard Conditions for Works Adjacent to Pipelines'. We provide this 
information to support the applicant in identifying the potential impacts from all 
construction activities on United Utilities infrastructure and to identify 

mitigation measures to protect and prevent any damage to this infrastructure 
both during and after construction. This includes advice regarding landscaping 

in the vicinity of pipelines. 
 
Public Sewers 

 
A public sewer runs along Reservoir Road and crosses the site in the vicinity 

of the proposed park, and we may not permit building over them. We will 

Page 43



 36 

require an access strip width of six metres, three metres either side of the 
centre line of the sewer which is in accordance with the minimum distances 

specified in the current issue of Part H of the Building Regulations, for 
maintenance or replacement. Therefore a modification of the site layout, or a 

diversion of the affected public sewer may be necessary. All costs associated 
with sewer diversions must be borne by the applicant. 
 

To establish if a sewer diversion is feasible, the applicant must discuss this at 
an early stage with our Developer Engineer at 

wastewaterdeveloperservices@uuplc.co.uk as a lengthy lead in period may 
be required if a sewer diversion proves to be acceptable. Deep rooted shrubs 
and trees should not be planted in the vicinity of the public sewer and 

overflow systems. 
 

Where United Utilities’ assets exist, the level of cover to the water mains and 
public sewers must not be compromised either during or after construction. 
A number of providers offer a paid for mapping service including United 

Utilities. To find out how to purchase a sewer and water plan from United 
Utilities, please visit the Property Searches website; 

https://www.unitedutilities.com/property-searches/ 
 
You can also view the plans for free. To make an appointment to view our 

sewer records at your local authority please contact them direct, alternatively 
if you wish to view the water and the sewer records at our Lingley Mere 

offices based in Warrington please ring 0370 751 0101 to book an 
appointment. 
 

Please note that the position of any United Utilities apparatus shown on utility 
maps is approximate only. It is the applicant's responsibility to demonstrate 

the exact relationship between any United Utilities' assets and the proposed 
development. In order to ensure apparatus can be accessed at all times for 
repairs and maintenance, and is adequately protected against physical 

damage, United Utilities may require a comprehensive survey to be 
undertaken in addition to reviewing the mapping, to determine and ensure the 

precise location of any apparatus. The exact location, positions and depths 
should be obtained by hand dug trial holes. 
For advice regarding protection of United Utilities assets, the applicant should 

contact the teams as follows: 
Water assets – DeveloperServicesWater@uuplc.co.uk 

Wastewater assets – WastewaterDeveloperServices@uuplc.co.uk 
 
Due to the public sewer transfer in 2011, not all sewers are currently shown 

on the statutory sewer records and we do not always show private pipes on 
our plans. If a sewer is discovered during construction; please contact a 

Building Control Body to discuss the matter further.  
 
Drainage 

In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the 
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG), the site should be drained on a 

Page 44

https://www.unitedutilities.com/property-searches/
mailto:WastewaterDeveloperServices@uuplc.co.uk


 37 

separate system with foul water draining to the public sewer and surface 
water draining in the most sustainable way. 

 
Following our review of the submitted Drainage Strategy, we can confirm the 

proposals are acceptable in principle to United Utilities and therefore should 
planning permission be granted we request the following condition is attached 
to any subsequent Decision Notice: 

 
Condition 1 – Surface water 

The drainage for the development hereby approved, shall be carried out in 
accordance with principles set out in the submitted proposed Drainage 
Strategy Drawing No. P11742-ARP-YL- 

001-001-DR-C-531, Rev P03 - Dated 06/10/21 which was prepared by ARUP. 
 

No surface water will be permitted to drain directly or indirectly into the public 
sewer. 
 

The development shall be completed in accordance with the approved details. 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of development and to prevent an 

undue increase in surface water run-off and to reduce the risk of flooding 
 
Condition 2 – Foul water 

Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems. 
 

Reason: To secure proper drainage and to manage the risk of flooding and 
pollution. 
 

The applicant can discuss any of the above with Developer Engineer, Alistair 
Graham, by email at wastewaterdeveloperservices@uuplc.co.uk. 

 
The United Utilities response also included further general advice on 
discharge to watercourses, wastewater assets, sustainable urban drainage 

systems, and water supply. 
 

Further comments (following provision of plan showing UU assets overlaid 
with proposed site plan: 
 

I’ve picked up the below from last week and can note the plan illustrates the 
location of UU assets, (although indicatively). 

 
Based on the attached, we could recommend an asset protection condition if 
that would help the process? This would be prior to commencement but would 

agree the necessary protection measures. 
 
The Coal Authority 

 
I have reviewed the proposals and confirm that the application site falls within 

the defined Development High Risk Area; therefore within the application site 
and surrounding area there are coal mining features and hazards which need 

to be considered in relation to the determination of this planning application. 

Page 45



 38 

 
Our records indicate that there is a recorded mine entry (shaft) within the site 

and a further mine entry (adit) recorded close to the site boundary.  The site is 
also in an area of probable historic unrecorded coal workings at shallow 

depth.  These features pose a potential risk to surface stability and public 
safety.   
 

The planning application is supported by a Coal Mining Risk Assessment, 
dated 24 September 2021 and prepared by ARUP and a Coal Mining Risk 

Assessment Summary, dated 13 October 2021 and prepared by ARUP.  The 
latter report summarises the main Coal Mining Risk Assessment submitted.   
 

Having reviewed the available coal mining and geological information, 
including the findings of intrusive site investigations, the report authors 

conclude that there is a potential risk posed to the development by past coal 
mining activity.  They do note however that the recorded mine entries do not 
impact on the current proposals.  In respect of the coal mining legacy features 

which the report authors conclude do pose a risk they recommend that 
remedial works and mitigation measures are carried out on site in order to 

ensure the safety and stability of the development.   The works proposed 
include; grouting shallow workings, piling foundations, further survey work to 
inform the diversion of the drainage tunnel and installation of ground gas 

protection measures.   
 

The works proposed should be designed and undertaken by competent 
persons and should be appropriate to ensure the safety and stability of the 
development as a whole.   

 
The applicant should note that Permission is required from the Coal Authority 

Permit and Licensing Team before undertaking any activity, such as ground 
investigation and ground works, which may disturb coal property. Please note 
that any comments that the Coal Authority may have made in a Planning 

context are without prejudice to the outcomes of any Permit application for the 
site. 

 
Mine Gas 
It should be noted that wherever coal resources or coal mine features exist at 

shallow depth or at the surface, there is the potential for mine gases to exist. 
These risks should always be considered by the LPA.   The Planning & 

Development team at the Coal Authority, in its role of statutory consultee in 
the planning process, only comments on gas issues if our data indicates that 
gas emissions have been recorded on the site.  However, the absence of 

such a comment should not be interpreted to imply that there are no gas risks 
present.  Whether or not specific emissions have been noted by the Coal 

Authority, local planning authorities should seek their own technical advice on 
the gas hazards that may exist, and appropriate measures to be implemented, 
from technically competent personnel. 

 
The Coal Authority Recommendation to the LPA 

 

Page 46



 39 

This is our recommendation for condition wording, although we appreciate 
that you may wish to make some amendments to the choice of words. 

1. No development shall commence until; 
a) any remediation works and/or mitigation measures to address land 

instability arising from coal mining legacy, as may be necessary, have been 
implemented on site in full in order to ensure that the site is made safe and 
stable for the development proposed.   

 
The remedial works and mitigation measures shall be carried out in 

accordance with authoritative UK guidance. 
 
2. Prior to the development being taken into beneficial use, a signed 

statement or declaration prepared by a suitably competent person confirming 
that the site is, or has been made, safe and stable for the approved 

development shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in 
writing.  This document shall confirm the methods and completion of the 
remedial works and mitigation necessary carried out to address the risks 

posed by past coal mining activity.      
 

The Coal Authority has no objection to the proposed development subject to 
the imposition of a condition or conditions to secure the above. 
 
Sport England 

 

It is understood that the proposal prejudices the use, or leads to the loss of 
use, of land being used as a playing field or that has been used as a playing 
field in the last five years, as defined in The Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (Statutory 
Instrument 2015 No. 595). The consultation with Sport England is therefore a 

statutory requirement. 
 
Sport England has considered the application in light of the National Planning 

Policy Framework (in particular Paragraph 99), and against its own playing 
fields policy, which states: 

 
'Sport England will oppose the granting of planning permission for any 
development which would lead to the loss of, or would prejudice the use of: 

 
• all or any part of a playing field, or 

• land which has been used as a playing field and remains undeveloped, or 
• land allocated for use as a playing field  
 

unless, in the judgement of Sport England, the development as a whole meets 
with one or more of five specific exceptions.' 

 
Sport England's Playing Fields Policy and Guidance document can be viewed 
via the following link: https://www.sportengland.org/how-we-can-help/facilities-

and-planning/planning-for-sport#playing_fields_policy 
 

Page 47



 40 

Proposal and Assessment against Sport England’s Playing Fields Policy and 
NPPF Paragraph 99 

 
The development would involve a range of infrastructure works to Toddbrook 

Reservoir impacting on existing sailing club facilities and an area of playing 
field land to the south of the reservoir. Based on the details submitted as part 
of the planning application, replacement sailing facilities are proposed to 

offset those displaced due to the infrastructure works, although so far a 
precise timeframe does not appear to have been specified for the completion 

of those replacement facilities to an equivalent or better standard to those lost 
as a result of the development.  
 

The development on the playing field land to the south of the reservoir would 
involve the construction of temporary play equipment to offset equipment 

displaced elsewhere as a consequence of the project. However, again no 
timeframe appears to have been specified for removal of the play equipment 
and reinstatement of the affected playing field to a usable condition. 

 
Overall, it is considered that the works to the reservoir area of the site have 

the potential to accord with NPPF Paragraph 99, subject to a planning 
condition being imposed (should the local planning authority be minded to 
approve the application) to ensure that the displaced sailing club facilities are 

re-provided to a standard that is equivalent or better in terms of quantity and 
quality to those lost, within an appropriate and specific timescale. Whilst the 

particular circumstances in this case may mean a time lag between full 
delivery of facilities to the necessary standard and the displacement of the 
existing, it is important that the timescale for the replacement is clearly 

understood and agreed with relevant parties and that this is then incorporated 
within a suitable planning condition.  

 
Similarly, although the circumstances within this case also involve temporary 
loss of playing field land, both as a result of the proposed siting of the play 

equipment and also previous emergency works associated with the reservoir, 
it is again necessary to ensure that a precise timeframe is set out for 

reinstatement of the affected area of playing field to an equivalent or better 
standard to that existing prior to the works commencing. 
 

Subject to suitable conditions being imposed to address the above points in 
line with wording first agreed in consultation with Sport England, then Sport 

England would not wish to raise an objection to the application. However, 
should the local planning authority be minded to approve this application 
without such conditions, then given Sport England's subsequent objection the 

application it should be referred to the Secretary of State via the National 
Planning Casework Unit. 

 
Peak and Northern Footpath Society 

 

The Society supports the application as it comprises essential Health and 
Safety work. We not the intention to dedicate new rights of way which will be 

of benefit to locals and walkers from further afield.  We note that no existing 

Page 48



 41 

rights of way are to be changed.  However we would ask that a condition is 
placed upon any permission granted that existing footpaths should be open 

and safe to use throughout the works and that if it is essential in order to 
facilitate the works that a footpath is temporarily closed this should be for the 

minimum amount to time possible, with "blanket" temporary closures being 
avoided. 
 
Canal and River Trust 

 

The potential impact of the proposal on the Trust’s assets and interests has 
been taken into account in the preparation of the application and therefore in 
view of our significant interest and involvement in the proposal, the Trust has 

no comments to make as a statutory consultee. 
 
8. OFFICER COMMENTS 

 
Planning Policies 

 

8.1. The determination of a planning application is to be made pursuant to 

section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, 
which is to be read in conjunction with section 70(2) of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990.  

 
8.2.  Section 38(6) requires the local planning authority to determine 

planning applications in accordance with the development plan, unless 
there are material circumstances which 'indicate otherwise'. Section 
70(2) provides that in determining applications the local planning 

authority "shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, 
so far as material to the application and to any other material 

considerations."  
 

8.3. The Development Plan consists of the High Peak Local Plan Policies 

Adopted April 2016. 
 

8.4. Local Plan Policy S1 Sustainable Development Principles notes that: 
 
The Borough Council will expect that all new development makes a 

positive contribution towards the sustainability of communities and to 
protecting, and where possible enhancing, the environment; and 

mitigating the process of climate change, within the Plan Area. 
 
and that this will be achieved by means including: 

 
Protecting and enhancing the natural and historic environment of the 

High Peak and its surrounding areas including the Peak District 
National Park; 
 

Minimising the risk of damage to areas of importance for nature 
conservation and/or landscape value, both directly and indirectly and 

Page 49



 42 

ensuring that there is suitable mitigation for a net gain in biodiversity 
and the creation of ecological networks; 

 
Requiring that all new development addresses flood risk 

mitigation/adaptation, ensuring for example that sustainable drainage 
systems are considered at the outset within proposals (and to comply 
with legislative requirements); 

 
Seeking to secure high quality, locally distinctive and inclusive design 

in all development that can be accessed and used by everyone 
including disabled people; 
 

Seeking to secure developments provide a high standard of amenity for 
all existing and future occupants of land and buildings, ensuring 

communities have a healthy, safe and attractive living and working 
environment and the risks from potential hazards are minimised. 
 

 
8.5. Local Plan Policy S 1a Presumption in Favour of Sustainable 

Development notes that: 
 
When considering development proposals the Council will take a 

positive approach that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development contained in the National Planning Policy Framework. It 

will always work pro-actively with applicants jointly to find solutions 
which mean that proposals can be approved wherever possible, and to 
secure development that improves the economic, social and 

environmental conditions in the area. 
 

Planning applications that accord with the policies in this Local Plan 
(and, where relevant, with polices in neighbourhood plans) will be 
approved without delay, unless material considerations indicate 

otherwise. Where there are no policies relevant to the application or 
relevant policies are out of date at the time of making the decision then 

the Council will grant permission unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise – taking into account whether: 

o Any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly 

and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed 
against the policies in the National Planning Policy Framework 

taken as a whole; or  
o Specific policies in that Framework indicate that development 

should be restricted. 

 
8.6. The broad aim of Policy EQ4 of the Local Plan – Green Belt states that 

the Council will seek to protect the Green Belt and maintain its 
openness and permanence. The boundaries of the Green Belt are 
defined on the Policies Map. Within the Green Belt, planning 

permission will not be granted for development unless it is in 
accordance with national planning policy. 

 

Page 50



 43 

8.7.  Policy EQ3 - Rural Development states that outside the settlement 
boundaries and sites allocated for development as defined on the 

Policies Map, including the Green Belt, the Council will seek to ensure 
that new development is strictly controlled in order to protect the 

landscape's intrinsic character and distinctiveness, including the 
character, appearance and integrity of the historic and cultural 
environment and the setting of the Peak District National Park whilst 

also facilitating sustainable rural community needs, tourism and 
economic development. This will be achieved by, inter alia: 

 

 Supporting the redevelopment of a previously developed site 
and/or the conversion of existing buildings for employment use 

provided it does not have an adverse impact on the character 
and appearance of the rural area 

 

 Supporting rural employment in the form of home working, 

commercial enterprises and live-work units where a rural 
location can be justified 

 

 Ensuring that all development is of a high-quality design and 
protects or enhances landscape character and the setting of the 

Peak District National Park 
 
8.8. Other material considerations include the National Planning Policy 

Framework (NPPF), Supplementary Design Guidance, and National 
Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG), and the Landscape Character SPD. 

 
8.9. Paragraph 11 of the NPPF explains that at the heart of the Framework 

is the presumption in favour of sustainable development.  For decision 

makers this means that when considering development proposals 
which accord with the development plan, they should be approved 

without delay, but where the development plan is absent, silent or 
relevant policies are out of date, grant planning permission unless any 
adverse impacts would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 

benefits when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a 
whole. 

 
Need for the development and benefits 
 

Reservoir Safety 
 

8.10. The proposed works are required to make the reservoir safe in the long 
term. The application sets out the options for achieving this objective 
which have been considered and the process by which the proposed 

development has been designed, taking into account all relevant 
physical and environmental constraints. 

 
8.11. The application notes that, following the incident in 2019, an 

independent engineer’s inspection of the reservoir was undertaken 

under the Reservoirs Act 1975. The inspection report identified 

Page 51



 44 

measures to be take in the interest of safety, being the need to make 
improvements to the reservoir spillways. The report requires that the 

measures be completed by the end of March 2024.  The inspecting 
engineers has concluded that the proposed works would meet the 

technical requirements necessary to achieve the legally required 
measures. 
 

8.12. Public comments in relation to reservoir safety are summarised as 
follows: 

 
- Detailed comments in several representations were received from 

Mr Graham Aldred. In summary, these set out concerns relating to 

the condition of the dam, the effects of previous alterations, and the 
causes of the 2019 failure. The comments note that ‘it can be 

strongly argued that it must be rigorously assessed and its safety 
confirmed beyond doubt before it is operated at any Top Water 
Level (TWL) but especially at the maximum level as proposed in 

this application’. Mr Aldred argues that the condition of the dam 
should be more fully investigated and modified and repaired prior to 

construction of the replacement spillway because ‘the state of the 
dam determines the safe height to construct the new overflow weir 
and that will not be known until the dam is exposed.” Mr Aldred’s 

comments note the remit of the Qualified Civil Engineer is limited to 
the design of the overflow and, in his view, doesn’t take into 

account the interaction of other elements of the reservoir system. 
The comments are technical in nature and the full representations 
are appended to this report.  

- It is understood that Mr Aldred provided a presentation on these 
matters to Whaley Bridge Town Council in February 2022. 

 
Other public comments on related matters included: 
 

- Not convinced why the reservoir needs to be fully filled up 
- Appears that the top level of water can be a few meters lower than 

the existing top level as there will be digging down for the new 
spillway 

- Why is height of existing dam being increased? 

- Concerned that a high maximum water level will be set before the 
concrete is removed from the current spillway and the core of the 

dam is thoroughly assessed 
- We need independent expert assessment that the plans and the 

main dam itself are completely safe at the water level proposed. I 

am shocked that the reservoir overflow system is to be constructed 
before the dam is repaired 

- Water levels should be monitored. The reservoir can fill very 
quickly, particularly during prolonged wet weather, torrential flash 
flooding. The Todd Brook can become a river torrent very quickly 

indeed. Impounding this surge and controlling it is vital to safety 
averting catastrophic flooding. It would seem wise to reduce the 

pressure of water upon a earth bank dam with dry stone facing and 

Page 52



 45 

a clay core whenever possible. Detailed comments on errors in the 
design, construction and maintenance of the auxiliary spillway.  The 

internal condition of the dam should be investigated. Combs 
Reservoir earth dam nearly failed in the 1960's and a 'plughole' type 

overflow was added to it at that time for safety. Cracks were found 
in the earth dam structure itself. Its construction is the same as 
Toddbrook. The reasons for earlier documented leaks, slumping 

and movement have even now not been properly exposed and 
investigated to the required level. 

- Refilling the reservoir isn’t necessary to supply the canal 
- The case to repair hasn’t been demonstrated. The CRT should 

reexamine alternative options for a water feed to the canal and the 

reservoir should be decommissioned and turned into a nature 
reserve/park. 

- That the Peak Forest Canal was opened about three decades 
before the building of Toddbrook Reservoir calls into the question 
whether there is a genuine requirement for the facility at all 

 
8.13. The Canal and River Trust has responded in detail to these issues 

raised in public comments, as follows: 
 
The dam and reservoir are subject to the Reservoirs Act 1975, which 

provides the legal framework to ensure its safety. The Environment 
Agency is the regulator for the Reservoirs Act. Safety works required 

under the Reservoir Act may separately require Planning Permission 
(and indeed any other consents that may be needed, such as 
abstraction licences, or the approval of Natural England) as is the case 

here, but the safety aspects of the design and works are governed by 
the Act. 

 
Following the incident in August 2019, the dam and reservoir were 
inspected under Section 10 of the Act and a report made which 

contained  recommendations made to ensure the safety of the dam. 
The inspection and report were made by a Qualified Civil Engineer 

(QCE), who is appointed by the Secretary of State to the (All 
Reservoirs) panel of engineers established under the Act for such 
purposes. The inspection considered all aspects of the dam and 

reservoir, and it included a number of recommendations, not just the 
replacement spillway, which is the subject of the planning application. 

The planning application Design and Access Statement includes a 
confirmatory statement by the QCE accepting the design of the 
proposed spillway system. 

 
The other recommendations included investigations to provide or 

enhance knowledge about the condition of the dam, to enable 
assessments of its performance to be made, and remedial or upgrade 
works to be designed. This includes removing the auxiliary spillway 

slabs and repairing the embankment that was infilled by the bags 
dropped by helicopters, as well as works to the core. In addition, at an 

appropriate time prior to refilling, equipment will be installed to monitor 

Page 53



 46 

the performance of the dam. This will significantly enhance the ability to 
monitor its condition and performance. 

 
Safety recommendations arising from an inspection under the Act are 

required to be supervised by an independent engineer appointed by the 
Secretary of State to the panel of engineers established under the Act 
for such purposes. They are then required to certify under the Act that 

the measures have been completed. The QCE is retained to supervise 
and certify when they are satisfied that the measures have been taken. 

The assessment and design reports prepared by the Trust’s design 
consultant to address the recommendations are subject to review and 
acceptance by the QCE. 

 
The investigation and design of all necessary works to restore the 

reservoir to safe operational condition have been done by highly 
qualified engineering specialists employed by the Trust. As explained, 
assurance of safety of the full spillway and dam system is addressed 

by the overseeing role of the independent QCE appointed under the 
Reservoirs Act. 

 
The raising of the dam crest (already completed) was to provide 
sufficient assurance of safety to the dam in the most extreme storm 

circumstances, so was a necessity to install prior to repair works being 
designed and implemented. This installation, together with keeping 

reservoir water levels low by reducing inflows and using pumps when 
needed, further reduces the already very small probability of water 
overtopping onto the auxiliary spillway. 

 
Regarding the proposed works, the new overflow system (the spillway) 

is a necessity to manage flood flow and ensure the safety of the dam, 
and therefore must be installed first. Were the concrete to be removed 
from the auxiliary spillway, and the reservoir be subject to an extremely 

high order flood event causing overflow to the auxiliary, then this would 
be of severe threat to the integrity of the dam. 

 
The construction sequencing planned (spillway construction prior to the 
auxiliary spillway removal) is the only safe sequence in which to 

undertake the works, and the only one that would be permitted by the 
QCE for reasons of public and reservoir safety. 

 
8.14. It is considered that the applicants have demonstrated that the safety of 

the dam, the reservoir and the proposed works are subject of another 

regulatory framework separate to planning, and that these matters will 
more properly be assessed by the appropriate specialist engineer 

under the Reservoirs Act, than by the determination of the planning 
application. 
 

8.15. For the purposes of the planning application, it is considered that it has 
been satisfactorily demonstrated that the works are required for the 

purposes of reservoir safety and the control of flood risk. 

Page 54



 47 

 

Flood Risk and Climate Change 

 
8.16. LP Policy EQ11 Flood Risk Management states that the Council will 

support development proposals that avoid areas of current or future 
flood risk and which do not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere, 
where this is viable and compatible with other policies aimed at 

achieving sustainable patterns of development. 
 

8.17. NPPF paragraph 166 requires that “When determining any planning 
applications, local planning authorities should ensure that flood risk is 
not increased elsewhere.  Where appropriate, applications should be 

supported by a site-specific flood-risk assessment”.   
 

8.18. The application notes that “The purpose of the spillway is to safely 
carry the highest foreseeable overflow of water from the reservoir, such 
that the dam is protected in such an extreme flood event. The design 

also accounts for the effects of climate change in its capacity and 
resilience.” 

 
8.19. The application is supported by a Flood Risk Assessment which 

concludes that the proposed works would achieve a considerable 

reduction in flood risk overall, primarily due to the improvement of the 
safety and reliability of the reservoir. 

 
8.20. The Flood Risk Assessment (and the application more generally) has 

been reviewed by the Environment Agency. 

 
8.21. At the time of report preparation, formal comments from the 

Environment Agency had not been received.  It is understood that the 
Agency’s advice in terms of flood risk will be determined by their 
assessment of the applicant’s flood risk modelling of the proposed 

works. It is understood that the Agency have requested some updated 
and additional details from the applicants to be able to finalise their 

advice.  
 

8.22. Following a meeting between the Environment Agency, the Canal and 

River Trust and their consultant engineers, it is understood that these 
additional details are being prepared. A formal response from the 

Agency is expected once the additional information has been provided. 
Details of the Agency’s response will be provided in an update note if it 
is received before the committee meeting. If this response is not 

received prior to the committee meeting, it is recommended 
consideration and determination of the application should be deferred. 

 
8.23. If the findings of the Flood Risk Assessment are corroborated by the 

Environment Agency, then this would confirm that the proposals would 

achieve a considerable reduction is flood risk from the existing 
situation. 

 

Page 55



 48 

8.24. Subject to the Agency’s final assessment, it is considered that very 
significant weight should be attributed to this reduction in risk of 

flooding in the planning balance. 
 

Water Supply 
 

8.25. The proposal would allow for the reservoir to be safely re-filled and to 

serve it’s principle purpose supplying water to the Peak Forest and 
Macclesfield Canal.  The application notes that the reservoir normally 

provides just over a third of the water supply needed to keep the canal 
operational, and that the reservoir must be repaired to secure the long-
term future of the canal network.  The application also notes that re-

filling the canal would allow for the leisure use of the reservoir to 
continue. 

 
Green Belt, Rural Development and the Central Sub-Area 

 

8.26. Part of the of the application site is located within the Green Belt. The 
proposed works within the Green Belt would comprise the new weir 

and tumble bay, and the replacement sailing club buildings and 
associated works. 
 

8.27. The remainder of the site is outside the Green Belt boundary but 
outside the built-up area boundary for Whaley Bridge and therefore 

within the open countryside for planning policy purposes.  The rest of 
the spillway, the stilling basin, the channel to the river, and the 
landscaping works, would be within this part of the site. 

 
Green Belt 

 
8.28. LP Policy EQ4 requires development proposals in the Green Belt to be 

assessed and determined in line with national policy. Chapter 13 of the 

NPPF (2021) contains the relevant national Green Belt policies that 
apply to this application. 

 
8.29.  Paragraph 137 of the NPPF clarifies that the fundamental aim of the 

Green Belt is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently 

open; their essential characteristics being their openness and 
permanence. Paragraph 138 goes on to set out the five purposes of the 

Green Belt: 
 
 a) to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas; 

 b) to prevent neighbouring towns merging in to one another; 
 c) to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; 

 d) to prevent the setting and special character of historic towns; 
 e) to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of 

derelict and other urban land 

 

Page 56



 49 

8.30.  In determining applications, paragraph 147 of the NPPF states that 
inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt 

and should not be approved except in very special circumstances. 
 

8.31. Paragraph 148 of the NPPF goes on to state that substantial weight 
should be given to any harm to the Green Belt. ‘Very Special 
Circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green 

Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly 
outweighed by other considerations.  

 
8.32. Paragraph 149 of the NPPF contain a list of the types of development 

which are classified as exceptions to inappropriate development, and 

thus acceptable in principle. In full, these are: 
 

a) buildings for agriculture and forestry; 
b) the provision of appropriate facilities (in connection with the existing 
use of land or a change of use) for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation, 

cemeteries and burial grounds and allotments; as long as the facilities 
preserve the openness of the Green Belt and do not conflict with the 

purposes of including land within it; 
c) the extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not 
result in disproportionate additions over and above the size of the 

original building; 
d) the replacement of a building, provided the new building is in the 

same use and not materially larger than the one it replaces; 
e) limited infilling in villages; 
f) limited affordable housing for local community needs under policies 

set out in the development plan (including policies for rural exception 
sites); and 

g) limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously 
developed land, whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding 
temporary buildings), which would: 

‒ not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the 
existing development; or 

‒ not cause substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt, where 
the development would re-use previously developed land and 
contribute to meeting an identified affordable housing need within the 

area of the local planning authority. 
 

8.33. In this case, paragraph 149b) is considered to be of relevance to the 
proposal. 
 

8.34. Paragraph 150 lists further other forms of development that are also 
not inappropriate provided that they preserve its openness and do not 

conflict with the purposes of including land within it. These are: 
 
a) mineral extraction; 

b) engineering operations; 
c) local transport infrastructure which can demonstrate a requirement 

for a Green Belt location; 

Page 57



 50 

d) the re-use of buildings provided that the buildings are of permanent 
and substantial construction; 

e) material changes in the use of land (such as changes of use for 
outdoor sport 

or recreation, or for cemeteries and burial grounds); and 
f) development, including buildings, brought forward under a 
Community Right to Build Order or Neighbourhood Development Order 

 
8.35. In this case, paragraphs 150b) and e) are considered to be of 

relevance. 
 

8.36. In terms of assessing impacts on the openness of the Green Belt, 

National Planning Policy Guidance notes that: 
 

 openness is capable of having both spatial and visual aspects – 
in other words, the visual impact of the proposal may be 
relevant, as could its volume;  

 the duration of the development, and its remediability – taking 
into account any provisions to return land to its original state or 

to an equivalent (or improved) state of openness; and  

 the degree of activity likely to be generated, such as traffic 

generation. 
 
8.37. The creation of the new weir and tumble bay are considered to 

comprise engineering operations. They would therefore be appropriate 
development in the Green Belt provided that they preserve its 

openness and do not conflict with the purposes of including land within 
it. 
 

8.38. Sectional drawings of the weir and tumble bay indicate that these 
structure would extend slightly in height above the existing ground 

level, with a maximum increase of around 3m (measured from the 
existing ground level to the top of the weir lip). The works would 
otherwise be below existing ground levels. These elements would be 

seen set immediately against higher ground (Reservoir Road and the 
surrounding topography to the north) and adjacent residential 

development, and in this context it is not considered that the partial 
increase above existing ground levels would result in a loss of 
openness in terms of the visual aspect of openness. 

 
8.39. It is not considered that the weir, tumble bay and spillway would result 

in harm to the spatial element of openness. Activity related to the 
completed development would be limited. 
 

8.40. Due to the particular nature of the new spillway and the associated 
infrastructure, it would not conflict with any of the five purposes of 

including land within the Green Belt. The elements of the spillway 
within the Green Belt are therefore considered to be an appropriate 
form of development in the Green Belt which would accord with 

paragraph 147 of the NPPF. 

Page 58



 51 

 
8.41. The development of the replacement sailing club and associated 

infrastructure would comprise both a material change of use of the land 
(paragraph 150e) and the development of appropriate facilities for 

outdoor sport and outdoor recreation (paragraph 149b). 
 

8.42. It is considered that the new buildings, boat and car parking areas, and 

other infrastructure would satisfactorily preserve the openness to an 
appropriate degree, considering the inherent impact on openness that 

any buildings required for leisure purposes will unavoidably have.  
 

8.43. The buildings are considered to be modest in scale relative to their 

purpose and positioned to reduce their visibility from surrounding areas 
as far as practically possible given other practical constraints including 

access to the highway and to the water. 
 

8.44. Given the particular nature of the replacement sailing club facilities, it is 

not considered that their development would result in harm to any of 
the five purposes of the Green Belt. 

 
8.45. The advice from the planning policy officer is noted.  

 

8.46. It is reiterated that all other elements of the development, including 
those within Memorial Park are outside the boundary of the Green Belt 

but within the open countryside for planning policy purposes. 
 

Impact on the visual amenity of the Countryside 

 
8.47. The rest of the site outside of the Green Belt boundary lies within the 

countryside, for which Policy EQ3 of the adopted Local Plan 2016 
applies.  
 

8.48. This states that outside the settlement boundaries and sites allocated 
for development as defined on the Policies Map the Council will seek to 

ensure that new development is strictly controlled in order to protect 
the landscape's intrinsic character and distinctiveness, including the 
character, appearance and integrity of the historic and cultural 

environment and the setting of the Peak District National Park whilst 
also facilitating sustainable rural community needs, tourism and 

economic development. This will be achieved by, inter alia, ensuring 
that all development is of a high quality design and protects or 
enhances landscape character and the setting of the Peak District 

National Park. 
 

8.49. EQ 3 lists specific forms of development which will be supported in the 
open countryside as a matter of principle, which include development 
associated with recreational and open space uses in accessible and 

least environmentally sensitive locations.  
 

Page 59



 52 

8.50. Paragraph 84 of the NPPF notes that planning decisions should 
support a prosperous rural economy, and that this should be achieved 

by measures including enabling sustainable rural tourism and leisure 
developments which respect the character of the countryside. 

 
8.51. Paragraph 174 of the NPPF notes that planning decisions should 

contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by 

measures including:  
 

a) protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, sites of biodiversity or 
geological value and soils (in a manner commensurate with their 
statutory status or identified quality in the development plan); 

b) recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, 
and the wider benefits from natural capital and ecosystem services – 

including the economic and other benefits of the best and most 
versatile agricultural land, and of trees and woodland; 
 

8.52. The replacement sailing club facilities, the re-provision of play 
equipment in Memorial Park, and the improvements to landscaping 

arrangements and the amenity use of the outflow channel will all 
comprise recreational and open space uses in accessible locations. 
The site is not considered to be a ‘least environmental sensitive 

location’, particularly in terms of ecological, landscape and heritage 
aspects of the environment, but these uses are mainly already 

established in the proposed locations.  
 

8.53. The replacement sailing club facilities would be developed in a partly 

undeveloped area of scrub and trees, but as detailed in following 
sections it is considered that these elements have been designed to 

limit their impact on the landscape character and the appearance of the 
local area, whilst still retaining provision of the leisure facilities. 
 

8.54. The works associated with the new spillway are not a form of 
development specified as appropriate in principle in EQ 3, but it is 

considered that these elements would comply with the general aims of 
the policy, and of paragraph 174, by protecting the landscape’s 
character and distinctiveness, as detailed further in following sections.  

 
8.55. For these reasons, it is considered that all elements of the proposed 

development would support the objectives of policy EQ3 for 
development in the countryside and NPPF paragraphs 84 and 174. 

 

Central Sub-Area 
 

8.56. Policy S6 Central Sub-Area Strategy notes that the Council will seek to 
promote the sustainable growth of the Central Area such that it reflects 
the historic character of the settlements, provides increasing range of 

employment opportunities, promotes the growth of a sustainable tourist 
economy and meets the housing needs of the local community. 

 

Page 60



 53 

8.57. This will be achieved by means including: 
 

- The protection of the designated Green Belt but supporting a minor 
green belt boundary change at Furness Vale to allow for limited 

growth 
 
- Protecting and enhancing sites designated for environmental value, 

including Memorial Park, Whaley Bridge and High Lea Park, New 
Mills, public open spaces, playing fields and outdoor sports 

facilities, Local Nature Reserves, local and European wildlife sites, 
recreation areas and allotments 

 

- Protecting and enhancing the historic environment 
 

- Ensuring that development protects and/or enhances landscape 
character and the setting of the Peak District National Park 

 

- Supporting the provision of indoor and outdoor sports facilities 
having regard to the Council's Sport and Recreation Strategies 

 
8.58. As noted elsewhere in this report, the proposed works would support 

the objectives of S6 relating to the Green Belt, projecting the landscape 

character and the setting of the National Park, supporting the provision 
of sports facilities and playing fields, and protecting the historic 

environment.  
 

8.59. It is considered that the works within Memorial Park would protect and 

enhance it’s environmental value. As noted elsewhere, it is considered 
that the proposed development would sustain it’s character and 

enhance its recreational value. The scheme would result in the loss of 
trees on-site,  but this loss would be mitigated by re-planting on-site 
and off-site. On balance it is considered that the works within the park 

would protect and enhance its environmental value.  
 

8.60. For the above reasons, it is considered that the proposal would support 
the objectives of policy S6 for development in the Central Sub-Area. 
 

8.61. In summary, the proposed development would comply with local and 
national policies for development in the Green Belt, the countryside, 

and within the Central Sub-Area.  
 

8.62. For these reasons, the proposal is considered to be acceptable in 

principle, subject to assessment in terms of all other relevant planning 
matters, which is set out in the following sections.  

 
8.63. These include open space and recreation facilities, effects on trees and 

ecology, effects on highway safety and public rights of way, impacts on 

heritage assets, effects on the landscape character and local 
appearance, effects on residential and public amenity, and effects on 

land stability. 

Page 61



 54 

Flood Risk, Water Management and Public Safety 

 

8.64. Local plan policy EQ 11 Flood Risk Management notes that: 
 

The Council will support development proposals that avoid areas of 
current or future flood risk and which do not increase the risk of 
flooding elsewhere, where this is viable and compatible with other 

polices aimed at achieving a sustainable pattern of development. When 
considering planning applications the Council will also have regard to 

all relevant Catchment Flood Management Plans and the Local Flood 
Risk Management Strategy. 
 

8.65. NPPF paragraph 166 notes that: 
 

When determining any planning applications, local planning authorities 
should ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere. Where 
appropriate, applications should be supported by a site-specific flood-

risk assessment. Development should only be allowed in areas at risk 
of flooding where, in the light of this assessment (and the sequential 

and exception tests, as applicable) it can be demonstrated that: 
 

a) within the site, the most vulnerable development is located in areas 

of lowest flood risk, unless there are overriding reasons to prefer a 
different location; 

b) the development is appropriately flood resistant and resilient such 
that, in the event of a flood, it could be quickly brought back into use 
without significant refurbishment; 

c) it incorporates sustainable drainage systems, unless there is clear 
evidence that this would be inappropriate; 

d) any residual risk can be safely managed; and 
e) safe access and escape routes are included where appropriate, as 
part of an agreed emergency plan. 

 
8.66. The application is supported by a site-specific Flood Risk Assessment, 

which assesses the flood risk associated with the development, 
including flooding arising from fluvial, surface water and groundwater 
flooding, and potential flooding arising from uncontrolled release of 

reservoir water. 
 

8.67. The revised proposals and the supporting Flood Risk Assessment are 
being considered by the Environment Agency and their advice is 
awaited.   

 
8.68. The Council is reliant on the Environment Agency to analyse the 

proposals and the methodology in the flood risk assessment and the 
Council’s assessment in terms of flood risk as a planning matter will be 
guided by the EA’s advice. 

 

Page 62



 55 

8.69. It is understood that the EA’s flood risk modelling team is reviewing 
revised proposals submitted by the applicants following feedback on 

the effects on the initial proposals upon downstream flood risk. 
 

8.70. A formal response from the EA is expected prior to the committee 
meeting and an assessment and final recommendation on this matter 
will provided in the update note ahead of the committee meeting. 

 
8.71. The comments and recommendations from the Lead Local Flood 

Authority at Derbyshire County and from United Utilities are noted and 
appear to be appropriate.  
 

8.72. The requests and advice from United Utilities regarding works effecting 
their infrastructure assets and management of surface and foul water 

are noted and can be appropriately addressed by conditions as 
suggested. 
 

8.73. Public comments in relation to flood risk are summarised as follows: 
 

- I do not see any evidence that the new proposed spillway channel 
is going to be streamlined/ dovetailed at the confluence with the 
River Goyt to ease the flow of water downstream and prevent any 

water surge from the spillway channel causing a backwards flow 
(up river). If left as at present feeding into the Goyt at right angles, 

there will always be risk of turbulence, erosion of the river bank and 
potential flooding upstream.   

- Combined flood effect of water coming down the River Goyt from 

Errwood Reservoir has not been considered  
 

8.74. Other public comments received included: 
 
- Query the safety of the spillway adjacent to the play area for 

children playing 
 

8.75. A further update on flood risk matters will be provided in the update 
note. At this stage it is not possible to make a recommendation in 
terms of the acceptability of the proposed development in terms of 

policy EQ11 or NPPF paragraph 166. 
 

Open Space, Sports and Recreation Facilities 

 
8.76. Local policy CF4 notes that the Council will seek to protect, maintain 

and where possible enhance existing open spaces, sport and 
recreational buildings and land including playing fields in order to 

ensure their continued contribution to the health and well-being of local 
communities.  
 

8.77. The policy goes on to note that this will be achieved by measures 
including resisting any development that involves the loss of a sport, 

recreation, play facility or amenity green-space except where it can be 

Page 63



 56 

demonstrated that alternative facilities of equal or better quality will be 
provided in an equally accessible location as part of the development 

or the loss is associated with an alternative sports provision that would 
deliver benefits that would clearly outweigh the loss, or an assessment 

has been undertaken to demonstrate the facility is surplus to 
requirements. 
 

8.78. As noted above, Policy S6 Central Sub-Area Strategy seeks to achieve 
the protection and enhancement of major parks within the borough, 

including Memorial Park. 
 

8.79. NPPF paragraph 84 notes that planning decisions should enable the 

retention and development of accessible local services and community 
facilities, including sports venues and open space. 

 
8.80. Paragraph 99 notes that existing open space, sports and recreational 

buildings and land, including playing fields, should not be built on 

unless: 
 

a) an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the 
open space, buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or 
b) the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced 

by equivalent or better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a 
suitable location; or 

c) the development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, 
the benefits of which clearly outweigh the loss of the current or former 
use. 

 
8.81. The proposed development will include the removal of the existing 

sailing club facilities and provision of new facilities.  The development 
will also include works to the existing play area and open spaces within 
Memorial Park. 

 
8.82. The design of the replacement sailing facilities has been prepared by 

the Canal and River Trust with the involvement of the sailing club. The 
works to the play area within the park have been developed with the 
Council’s parks team. 

 
8.83. Whilst the proposal would involve the loss of land within the park to 

allow for the construction of the replacement spillway, it is considered 
that this would be accommodated without compromising the 
recreational or environmental value of Memorial Park. The proposed 

arrangement would introduce a new water leisure element to this area 
of the park which would enhance the existing open space. 

 
8.84. Public comments in relation to open spaces, sports and recreation are 

summarised as follows: 

 
- What plans are there for the football pitch? Will that be levelled with 

proper drainage under? 

Page 64



 57 

- Access to the reservoir and Whaley Beach must be maintained 
- The compound on the junior football pitch is redundant and should 

be removed immediately. 
 

8.85. These comments are noted. It is considered that approval should be on 
condition that the sports pitches to the south of the reservoir will be 
restored within an agreed timescale, following removal of the pumping 

equipment, and to an agreed specification.  
 

8.86. The proposed plans indicate that a replacement ‘beach’ area will be 
formed near to the new weir and tumble bay. Details for the formation 
of and access to this can be secured by condition. 

 
8.87. The advice from Sport England is noted and the comments from the 

HPBC parks team are noted. 
 

8.88. Public comments from Toddbrook Sailing Club note that  

 
“the building will be of an equivalent standard to our current facility 

when completed, which the club anticipates will allow us to continue 
with the same activities and usage as we do currently.” 
 

8.89. The enhancements to the park and the provision of replacement sailing 
club facilities (and the reinstatement of playing fields) would ensure 

that the development would support the objectives of local and national 
policies for the protection of open spaces, sports and recreation 
buildings and land. 

 
8.90. As noted by Sport England, it is considered necessary that conditions 

be imposed on approval to ensure that the replacement sailing club 
facilities be provided to a standard that is equivalent or better than the 
existing facilities, and the playing fields be reinstated, within an agreed 

timescale and in the case of the playing fields, to an agreed 
specification. Draft conditions have been prepared and forwarded to 

Sport England for review. At the time of report preparation no response 
has been received. If a response is received prior to the committee 
meeting then details will be provided in the update note. 

 
8.91. Subject to these conditions, it is considered that approval of the 

proposed development would accord with local policy CF4 and 
paragraphs 84 and 99 of the NPPF. 

 

Landscape and Visual Impacts 

 

8.92. Policy EQ2 Landscape Character notes that The Council will seek to 
protect, enhance and restore the landscape character of the Plan Area 
for its own  intrinsic beauty and for its benefit to the economic, 

environmental and social well-being of the Plan Area, and that this will 
be achieved by: 

Page 65



 58 

- Requiring that development has particular regard to maintaining the 
aesthetic and biodiversity qualities of natural and man-made 

features within the landscape, such as trees and woodlands, 
hedgerows, walls, streams, ponds, rivers, ecological networks or 

other topographical features 
- Requiring that development proposals are informed by, and are 

sympathetic to the distinctive landscape character areas as 

identified in the Landscape Character Supplementary Planning 
Document and also take into account other evidence of historic 

landscape characterisation, landscape sensitivity, landscape impact 
and the setting of the Peak District National Park and where 
appropriate incorporate landscape mitigation measures. 

- Requiring that development proposals protect and/or enhance the 
character, appearance and local distinctiveness of the landscape 

and landscape setting of the Peak District National Park 
- Resisting development which would harm or be detrimental to the 

character of the local and wider landscape or the setting of a 

settlement as identified in the Landscape Impact Assessment. 
 

8.93. Paragraph 174 of the NPPF notes that 
 
- Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance 

the natural and local environment by:  
a) protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, sites of biodiversity 

or geological value and soils (in a manner commensurate with their 
statutory status or identified quality in the development plan); 

- b) recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, 

and the wider benefits from natural capital and ecosystem services 
– including the economic and other benefits of the best and most 

versatile agricultural land and of trees and woodland; 
 
8.94. The site is located within the Settled Valley Pastures landscape 

character designation. The Landscape Character SPD provides 
specific characteristics of this character area and guidance for 

development within it. 
 

8.95. The key landscape characteristics are noted as being: 

- Moderate to steep lower valley slopes dissected by stream 
Valleys 

- Poorly draining soils over carboniferous shale and sandstone 
- Wooded character associated with tree belts along streams 
and cloughs, scattered hedgerow trees and tree groups around 

settlement and farmsteads 
- Localised bracken in some road verges and rushes associated 

with damp hollows 
- Small, irregular fields enclosed by mixed species hedgerows 

and occasional dry stone walls 

-  Settled landscape of small nucleated settlements and scattered 
stone farmsteads with stone slate roofs 

- Stone terraces on lower slopes associated with historic mills 

Page 66



 59 

- Network of winding lanes with irregular verges, sometimes 
sunken on steeper slopes 

- Pastoral farming with extensive improved pasture 
- Enclosed landscape with views filtered by trees 

- Roofs are generally dark slate or stone tiles 
 

8.96. SPD design guidance notes that: 

- Properties are either isolated farmsteads or cottages clustered 
along the road 

- The rural landscape character must be considered when developing 
at the urban rural edge 

- Small groups of amenity trees around settlements and particularly 

farmsteads 
- The impact of hardstanding and other surfaces should be 

considered, including the colour, brightness and reflectivity of the 
surface and how it would appear from a distance 

- Development should be contained in low, gritstone, drystone walls 

 
8.97. The application notes that the scheme has been designed to mitigate 

visual and landscape impacts as far as possible.  
 

8.98. Design measures include including designing the spillway to follow the 

natural topography of the ground, and cladding its external walls in 
natural stone, as well as setting the turret structures into the landscape 

as far as possible.   
 

8.99. The sailing club buildings are noted to be modest in overall scale and 

are considered to have a moderate impact on views outward over the 
landscape from Reservoir Road. The buildings are (following design 

feedback and amendments) considered to achieve an appearance 
appropriate to their purpose in association with outdoors activities. 
Hedge and tree planting around the replacement sailing club facilities 

are also proposed.  
 

8.100. The application is supported by a Visual Impact Assessment of the 
proposed development, which includes visualisations of the completed 
works from various viewpoints showing the different elements of the 

proposals in their immediate context and in the wider setting from the 
surrounding landscape. 

 
8.101. The proposals and the assessment have been reviewed by the 

Council’s consultant landscape advisor, whose full comments and 

recommendations are provided in section 7 above. The conclusion of 
their assessment is that: 

 
Although the proposed works are of substantial scale the combination 
of a relatively small Zone of Theoretical Visibility and existing mature 

vegetation results in limited visual impacts. The removal of existing 
trees will impact locally to a significant degree to users of Memorial 

Park, however it is acknowledged that there will also be positive 

Page 67



 60 

benefits from grassing over the existing spillway. In some areas the 
inclusion of additional tree planting would be beneficial to visual 

amenity particularly around the proposed car park and boat park and to 
some close views withing the Park 

 
8.102. Following the initial advice from the landscape advisor and further 

discussion with the Council’s tree officer and parks management team, 

minor improvements to the proposed landscaping arrangements were 
agreed to further mitigate the landscape and visual impact of the 

scheme.  
 

8.103. The landscape consultant has advised that the improvements are 

satisfactory and achieve an acceptable improvement above the details 
originally submitted. In particular, it is noted that the removal of the 

existing auxiliary spillway and the soft landscaping of the 
corresponding area of the dam would contribute an improvement to the 
landscape character of the immediate setting of Memorial Park. 

 
8.104. The comments from Natural England and the National Park authority 

are noted. 
 

8.105. Public comments in relation to landscape impacts are summarised as 

follows: 
 

- Width of spillway and stilling basin appear excessive and over-
engineered with a huge impact on the character of the park, 
reservoir and views to it. 

- Motorboat store will prevent views across the reservoir and should 
be moved to the overspill boat park 

- The relocation of the Clubhouse, Boat Yard and Power Boat Store 
from the exiting location to the proposed location, and the creation 
of a permanent new access road next to Toddbrook Lodge would 

permanently change, fundamentally for the worse, the amenity, 
openness, seclusion and feel both of Reservoir Road after 

Toddbrook Lodge and our property (Cotelands). 
 

8.106. The public comments on the appearance and landscape impact of the 

proposals are noted. Elements of the works will result in a significant 
visible change to the appearance of the site and the surrounding area. 

It is considered that some change to the appearance and character of 
the area around the works is unavoidable in order for the replacement 
spillway to be formed whilst also re-providing the sailing club.  

8.107. Further, for the reasons set out above, it is considered that, on 
balance, the development would satisfactorily protect and enhance the 

landscape character of the site and of the wider surroundings, including 
the setting of the National Park.   
 

8.108. For these reasons, it is considered that the proposal would comply with 
the landscape aspects of policies EQ 2, EQ 3 and EQ 6. 

 

Page 68



 61 

Design, Character and Appearance 

 

8.109. Local Plan Policy EQ6 requires that all development should be well 
designed and of a high quality, responding to its environment and 

challenge of climate change whilst also contributing to local 
distinctiveness and sense of place, and that this will be achieved by, 
inter alia, 

 
- Requiring development to be well designed to respect the 

character, identity and context of High Peak's townscapes and 
landscapes 

- Requiring that development on the edge of settlement is of high 

quality design that protects, enhances and / or restores landscape 
character, particularly in relation to the setting and character of the 

Peak District National Park 
- Requiring that development contributes positively to an area's 

character, history and identity in terms of scale, height, density, 

layout, appearance, materials, and the relationship to adjacent 
buildings and landscape features 

- Requiring that public and private spaces are well-designed, safe, 
attractive, complement the built form and provide for the retention of 
significant landscape features such as mature trees 

- Requiring that developments are easy to move through and around, 
incorporating well integrated car parking, pedestrian routes and, 

where appropriate, cycle routes and facilities 
- Ensuring that development takes account of national design 

guidance and Supplementary Planning Documents 

 
8.110. The High Peak Design Guide SPD 2018 sets out the following design 

principles for development in the borough: 
 

- Good design is derived from a combination of a building’s fitness for 

purpose and the context of its site. Fitness for purpose is concerned 
with creating environments in which different activities can take 

place and accommodating these in a way that responds to today’s 
lifestyles and improves the quality of people’s lives. 

- Well-designed buildings respond to the character and setting of 

their surroundings and make a positive contribution to making 
places better for people. Towns and villages in the High Peak have 

a locally distinctive character which has been defined by their high 
density form and their architectural and historic development, as 
well as by the use of natural and traditional materials such as stone 

and slate 
- Paragraphs 2.8 to 2.11 set out the role of modern architecture in the 

borough, including that  ‘It may be preferable to find a design 
solution which responds to the traditional context but is also a work 
of architecture in its own right and a product of our time’ 

- Paragraphs 3.1 and 3.2 set out how building proposals should 
respond to their settings: 

Page 69



 62 

- The setting of any building should be carefully considered.  
Attention should be paid to its impact on views into, over and out of 

the site. 
- In the countryside or on the edge of settlements, buildings should 

sit comfortably in the landscape. This is best achieved by emulating 
the horizontal, ground-hugging form of traditional buildings with their 
strong eaves and ridge lines and simple, low silhouettes parallel 

with the contours. 
 

8.111. NPPF Paragraph 130 states amongst other matters that new 
developments should add to the overall quality of the area, be visually 
attractive as a result of good architecture and sympathetic to the 

surrounding built environment. 
 

8.112. The appearance of the proposed development is indicated by the 
submitted plans, elevations, and visualisations. 
 

8.113. It is noted that the visualisations of the sailing club and park do not 
reflect subsequent changes to the design of the sailing club buildings 

and to certain elements of additional tree and hedge planting, as 
indicated on amended plans submitted after the application was 
received. 

 
8.114. Public comments in relation to design, character and appearance are 

summarised below: 
- New access to sailing club will change character of Reservoir Road 
- The local stone is grey, the artists impression shows the use of the 

yellow or biscuit coloured stone used in many new housing projects 
this will stand out like a sore thumb and will not weather to match in 

time 
- The reservoir boom adjacent to the proposed weir is likely to be 

unsightly with a risk of trapping flotsam 

- The metal cladding chosen for most of the sailing club building will 
make it look like an industrial unit. An open countryside location 

should have something more appropriate and attractive, such as 
stone and or wood. 

- The design approach adopted is characterised by the extensive use 

of mass concrete, whilst a very limited amount of stone cladding 
has been latterly adopted the vast majority of exposed surfaces will 

be made in reinforced concrete. The stilling bay and the imposing 
6m high  turrets in the park are particularly bizarre and jarring 
elements of design 

- The proposed power boat store is incongruous and unduly 
prominent and imposing, both as a result of its location and the 

level at which it is proposed.   
 

8.115. The public comments are noted. 

 
8.116. Following amendments to the design of the proposed sailing club 

buildings it is considered that they would achieve an appropriate design 

Page 70



 63 

character, relative to their purpose, setting and the established 
character of the area.  The change to clay tiles would be appropriate in 

the semi-rural context, and given their purpose as building for outdoor 
recreation, it is considered that the overall simple form and generally 

utilitarian character of the buildings is appropriate.   
 

8.117. Whilst it is noted that the replacement weir, tumble bay, spillway and 

turret structures would largely be constructed of concrete, it is clear 
that this is driven by the functional requirements of these elements. 

The appearance of these elements would be softened by the partial 
use of stone cladding and decorative elements to be installed on the 
turrets. It is considered that design details of these elements, as well as 

all external facing materials for the proposed buildings, and of the 
proposed spillway boom, can appropriately be secured by condition to 

ensure the completed appearance of the development is fully 
acceptable in design terms. 
 

8.118. Subject to these further details, it is considered that the proposed 
development would be well-designed, would contribute positively to the 

character of the area, in terms of scale, height, layout, appearance, 
materials, and relationship to adjacent buildings and landscape 
features. Whilst the scheme would result in the loss of a number of 

trees, it is apparent that these are necessary deliver the replacement 
works and that their loss would be satisfactorily mitigated by 

replacement planting.   
 

8.119. For these reasons, and subject to conditional approval of design 

details, it is considered that the proposed development would support 
the objectives of local policy EQ6 and paragraph 130, would  reflect the 

relevant principles set out in the Design Guide, and would therefore be 
acceptable in design terms. 

 

Heritage and Archaeology 
 

8.120. Policy EQ7 Built and Historic Environment notes that the Council will 
conserve heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their significance, 
taking into account the desirability of sustaining and enhancing their 

significance, and will ensure that development proposals contribute 
positively to the character of the built and historic environment in 

accordance with sub area strategies S5, S6 and S7, and that this will 
be achieve by, inter alia, 
 

- Requiring all works that could impact on a heritage asset or its 
setting or sites with the potential to include assets, to be informed 

by a level of historical, architectural and archaeological evidence 
proportionate to their significance and sufficient to understand the 
potential impact of a proposal. Where appropriate, the Council may 

also require historical research and archaeological recording to be 
undertaken before works to a heritage asset commence 

 

Page 71



 64 

- Preventing the loss of buildings and features which make a positive 
contribution to the character or heritage of an area through 

preservation or appropriate reuse and sensitive development, 
including enabling development, unless it can be demonstrated that 

the substantial harm or loss is necessary to achieve substantial 
public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss or other relevant 
provisions of the NPPF apply. 

 
8.121. Paragraph 184 of the NPPF notes that: 

 
In determining applications, local planning authorities should require an 
applicant to describe the significance of any heritage assets affected,  

including any contribution made by their setting. The level of detail 
should be proportionate to the assets’ importance and no more than is 

sufficient to understand the potential impact of the proposal on their 
significance. As a minimum the relevant historic environment record 
should have been consulted and the heritage assets assessed using 

appropriate expertise where necessary. Where a site on which 
development is proposed includes, or has the potential to include, 

heritage assets with archaeological interest, local planning authorities 
should require developers to submit an appropriate desk-based 
assessment and, where necessary, a field evaluation. 

 
8.122. Paragraph 197 notes that: 

 
In determining applications, local planning authorities should take 
account of: 

a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of 
heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their 

conservation; 
b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can 
make to sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and 

c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to 
local character and distinctiveness. 

 
8.123. Paragraph 199 notes that: 

 

When considering the impact of a proposed development on the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be 

given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, 
the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any 
potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than 

substantial harm to its significance. 
 

8.124. Paragraph 200 notes that: 
 

Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset 

(from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its 
setting), should require clear and convincing justification. 

 

Page 72



 65 

8.125. At pre-application stage the Council’s heritage officer advised that 
Memorial Park should be regarded as a non-designated heritage asset, 

noting that the park was constructed in the 1920s in commemoration of 
the First World War and was laid out as a designed landscape 

incorporating a war memorial, and that the park’s original layout and 
landscaping was restored following a Heritage Lottery Fund grant 
awarded in 2010. 

 
8.126. Chapter 8 of the Environmental Statement submitted with the 

application provides an assessment of impacts upon designated and 
non-designated heritage assets.  The ES proposes a range of 
measures to mitigate these effects. 

 
8.127. These include: 

 
- The building recording and landscape recording of Toddbrook Dam, 

Infrastructure & Reservoir and Memorial Park 

 
- A comprehensive photogrammetry survey which would capture the 

current condition and form of Toddbrook Dam, Infrastructure & 
Reservoir the Site, Memorial Park, Toddbrook Lodge and 
Toddbrook Lodge Footbridge 

 
- Retention of an existing interpretation board and the installation of 

two new additional panels at two locations within the Site. 
 

- Archaeological monitoring of all construction work 

 
8.128. The proposed works and the submitted assessment has been reviewed 

by the Council’s heritage consultant advisor, who has provided detailed 
advice in response. 
 

8.129. The advisor’s comments identify and describe the significance of the 
designated and non-designated heritage assets (including the Grade-II 

listed Holy Trinity Church and Whaley Bridge Conservation Area, as 
well as the reservoir and dam, Memorial Park, the war memorial itself, 
Toddbrook Lodge, all considered to be non-designated heritage 

assets) likely to be affected by the proposed works, and identifies the 
extent of any positive or adverse impacts on the significance of those 

assets and their settings, and the effectiveness of proposed measures 
to mitigate the harm identified. 
 

8.130. In particular, the heritage consultant notes that the proposed works will 
have a neutral impact on the setting of the nearby Grade-II listed Holy 

Trinity Church, and a moderate beneficial impact on the setting of the 
Whaley Bridge Conservation Area, owing to the removal of the auxiliary 
spillway which is visible in some views of the Conservation Area. 

 
8.131. The advisor’s assessment concludes as follows: 

 

Page 73



 66 

It is considered that, whilst there are adverse impacts to the heritage 
assets identified above arising from the works, there are also some 

substantial beneficial heritage impacts: most significantly, the removal 
of the unsightly 1970s Auxiliary Spillway. 

 
The submitted documents have accurately identified the heritage 
assets most at risk from the proposed works; have assessed the level 

of harm; and have put in place mitigation measures. The residual harm, 
after mitigation, has been clearly and convincingly justified. 

 
8.132. In light of this detailed advice, it is considered that the impact of the 

proposed works upon heritage assets, including the nearby listed 

building and Conservation Area, and the park itself as a non-
designated heritage asset, would be acceptable in terms of the 

principles set out in NPPF paragraphs 199-200, and that approval of 
the scheme would therefore be consistent with paragraphs 184 and 
197, and local policy S7, subject to a condition to secure the mitigation 

measures and archaeological investigation. 
 

Highways Safety, Access, Parking Provision and Public Rights of Way 
 

8.133. LP Policy CF6 seeks to ensure that development can be safely 

accessed in a sustainable manner. The policy requires new 
development to be integrated within existing or proposed infrastructure, 

does not lead to an increase in on street parking to the detriment of the 
free and safe flow of traffic, and provides details of proposed parking 
provision based on an assessment of parking need and the impact on 

the surrounding road network. 
 

8.134. Paragraph 110 of the NPPF states that in assessing applications for 
development, a safe and suitable access toa site should be achieved 
for all users. Paragraph 111 goes on to state that development should 

only be prevented or refused on highway grounds if there would be an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative 

impacts on the road network would be severe. 
 

8.135. NPPF paragraph 100 notes that planning decisions should protect and 

enhance public rights of way and access, including taking opportunities 
to provide better facilities for users, for example by adding links to 

existing rights of way networks including National Trails. 
 

Page 74



 67 

 
Completed proposed development 

 
8.136. The completed development would give rise to highways safety 

considerations arising from the new vehicle access onto Reservoir 
Road,  providing access to the replacement sailing club facilities and 
the dam, new tumble bay and spillway. Visibility splays for vehicles 

exiting the site onto Reservoir Road were provided with the application. 
 

8.137. It does not appear that the replacement sailing club facilities would give 
rise to a material change to vehicle movements, in the vicinity of the 
application site, or parking demand, given the overall similar nature and 

scale of the existing facilities. 
 

Construction phase 
 
8.138. Details of how traffic associated with the construction phase have been 

set out in Construction Traffic Management Plan. This was revised  
during determination to provide amended and clarified details following 

public comments and feedback from DCC Highways. 
 

8.139. Arrangements for site traffic management are summarised in section 4 

of this report and set out in more detail in the submitted Construction 
Traffic Management Plan. 

 
8.140. Public comments relating to matters of highways safety, construction 

traffic, parking, access and public rights of way are summarised as 

follows: 
- Ask that the grass verge in front of our property (Rutland House) be 

protected during development 
- As a young adult living on Reservoir Road with severe visual 

impairment and mobility problems I need to be able to access the 

pathway through the park. 
- We are deeply concerned about the loss of parking on Reservoir 

Road, parking is oversaturated as it is.  
- Please impose conditions, so that any such works to narrow the 

pavement along Reservoir Road provide sufficient footpath width  

for a person and guide dog to use the footway safely, that tactile 
paving and kerbs with a height differential are used to delineate 

such areas and that reasonable and safe gradients across such 
pathways are maintained. 

- Confusion as to the reduction of parking on Reservoir Road, the 

applicants had previously advised this would not happen. 
- Closing the Reservoir Road footpath would result in greater 

numbers of pedestrians including families with schoolchildren 
crossing Whaley Lane by the railway bridge. Measures to ensure 
their safety should be required. It would be preferable to pedestrian 

access to remain alongside construction traffic. 

Page 75



 68 

- We would prefer the route through the park to remain open. It is 
used by residents and school children to walk to school through the 

park, and also by dog walkers, allotment holders 
- Will public rights of way over the dam be reinstated? 

- Description of one right of way as inaccessible in the planning 
statement is misleading.  

- Concerns about the proposed pedestrian route through to Wharf 

Road during construction being muddy, overgrown, relying on steep 
difficult steps, and inaccessible and undesirable to local residents 

- Requests that the route through to Wharf Road be improved to 
provide a safe pedestrian route 

- Plan outlines proposals to narrow footpath on north side of 

Reservoir Road. This will make the footpath unsafe due to the 
greater steepness between at no 1 & 3. 

- The footpath is not particularly wide now, if it is to be narrowed it 
needs to remain safe for pedestrians 

- Redline boundary doesn’t include proposals to widen pavement on 

Reservoir Road or lower road under railway bridge 
- Lowering the road under the railway bridge will not be feasible. 

There are culverted watercourses and services under the bridge so 
such works could undermine it. 

- More detail required on estimated HGV movements 

- Opposed to the use of Reservoir Road for heavy traffic from three 
sides. 

- Access to the site should be across the unfilled reservoir which 
would avoid using Reservoir Road 

- Concerns about effects of HGV movements on the condition of 

Reservoir Road, including between no 5 and 25. 
- Traffic counts were undertaken in part during school holidays and 

will be inaccurate. A more accurate and up to date survey should be 
undertaken during term time. 

- Concern about the practicality of abnormal loads passing the sharp 

bend at the rear of the railway station at the bottom of Whaley Lane.  
- Could conditions be imposed limiting the maximum number of 

heavy goods vehicle movements to 10 per day? 
- Why is the new access into the sailing club needed? 
- Will the car park at the sailing club be available to the public, will 

there still be pedestrian access 
- Who will maintain vegetation around visibility splay for new access? 

- More detail is required on estimated HGV movements, including 
time of day and the pattern of movements over the life of the 
project. 

- The crossing at the junction of Whaley Lane and Market Street will 
be made even more dangerous by the additional traffic, including 

for school crossings. A set of traffic lights should be considered at 
this junction to give pedestrians safe access. 

- Please can Reservoir Road residents be notified of deliveries 

outside the proposed hours of 0800-1800 Monday to Friday so that 
our work journeys will not be delayed. 

Page 76



 69 

- Please can the Reservoir Road pavement kerbstones be retained 
and reinstated afterwards 

- Can parking permits be issued to residents to ensure residents 
have access to the reduced number of parking spaces on Reservoir 

Road 
- Strongly opposed to proposal to funnel construction traffic along 

Buxton Old Road. 

- Why hasn’t the combined construction traffic associated with the 
restoration of the Jodrell pub not been taken into account? 

- The major upgrade to the sailing club will increase traffic and 
parking requirements significantly.  The scheme has insufficient 
parking allocated to adequately serve the intensified use the 

scheme wishes to facilitate. 
- Gates and barriers to the proposed parking  areas are to be 

erected, to be closed at night.  Who controls this? Is the parking to 
be controlled by the boat club? This must be Conditioned such that 
free and unfettered access to the parking area is maintained in 

perpetuity from say, 6am to 9pm such that this parking facility is 
available to all users of the Reservoir Site and minimises the 

probability of excess and unlawful parking on Reservoir Rd 
- The plan appears to ignore the access requirements for vehicles to 

enter and exit the properties of 2 and 2a Reservoir Road. 

- All construction traffic will be routed past 2a, 2 and 4 Reservoir 
Road. Many residents work from home a significant part of the day. 

Disruption from constant traffic would constitute a real threat to my 
livelihood.  

- Concern about HGVs damaging residents cars on Reservoir Road. 

 
8.141. Derbyshire County Council highways development management have 

reviewed the proposed scheme including the proposed scheme for 
traffic management during construction. In their initial response a 
number of queries were raised in relation to traffic management during 

construction. Additional information included an updated CTMP was 
provided by the applicant to address these matters. DCC Highways 

provided updated comments which are noted in section 7 above.  
 

8.142. The updated DCC Highways comments indicate that: 

 

Page 77



 70 

 
- Road condition surveys will be undertaken before and after 

construction and any required modifications or improvements will 
need to be agreed through a Section 278 Highways agreement 

- That liaison between site construction traffic management 
operatives and the school crossing patrol near the railway bridge is 
required 

- Traffic management operatives will act as pedestrian marshals 
around construction traffic and that details need to be provided and 

agreed as part of temporary traffic management details 
- That temporary parking provision will be provided for no 33 

Reservoir Road 

- That the temporary kerb/verge works will be reinstated after 
construction completion 

- That proposed parking and loading/unloading arrangements are 
acceptable 

 

8.143. The updated comments conclude that the highways authority has no 
objection to the proposed development subject to conditions and 

informatives on the above and other highways-related matters. 
 

8.144. The highways authority advise that the required S278 agreement will 

need to address matters including: 
 

- Formal submission of traffic management design 
drawings/temporary traffic management design drawings and of 
construction routes before the start of construction 

- Road survey, repair and inspection works to be agreed  
- Arrangements for traffic management including temporary traffic 

regulation orders 
- Arrangements for temporary closure of public right of way FP29 
 

8.145. Following their review and subsequent discussions, DCC Highways 
have raised no objection to the proposals in terms of effects on 

highways safety arising from the construction phase or the completed 
development, subject to a number of planning conditions, and subject 
to the separate s278 highways agreement and other related 

informatives. 
 

8.146. A large proportion of public comments on highways and access 
matters related to concerns about pedestrian access across the park 
during construction, including the suitability of a pedestrian route onto 

Wharf Road. This has been resolved by the amended proposed 
arrangements which will allow for access into the park at the Reservoir 

Road entrance to be maintained during construction. 
 

Page 78



 71 

8.147. The CTMP originally indicated that works traffic might require the road 
under the railway bridge to be lowered to accommodate larger 

vehicles. The public comments on this matter are noted. The applicants 
have advised that this option will no longer be pursued. 

 
8.148. Public comments on the accuracy of traffic counts are noted. The 

applicants have acknowledged this matter but have noted that ‘While 

the Trust notes the count results may have differed during term time, 
the mitigation proposals - such as installing a Stop/Go system manually 

operated by accredited Traffic Management operatives - would remain 
the same as they have been designed to accommodate significant 
volumes of traffic, beyond those identified in the survey’ 

 
8.149. The public comment regarding combined construction traffic from 

another recently approved development is noted. It is not considered 
that construction traffic arising from the refurbishment of the Jodrell 
Arms Hotel will be significant.  

 
8.150. Comments relating to impacts of construction traffic on road conditions, 

and kerbstones along Reservoir Road, are noted. These matter have 
been addressed by DCC Highways and would be resolved by their 
requested conditions. 

 
8.151. Public comments regarding public rights of way across the site are 

noted. It is understood that all pre-existing public rights of way will be 
restored following completion of the development, and approval can be 
conditioned to this effect. 

 
8.152. Public comments relating to alternative means of forming and 

accessing a site compound are noted.  
 

8.153. At the time of report preparation it is unclear what arrangements would 

be made for the replacement sailing club car park to be available to 
members of the general public. An update on this matter will be 

provided in the update note. 
 
 

8.154. Whilst it is apparent that the development phase will give rise to some 
disruption to local traffic and pedestrian movements, use of public 

rights of way and parking arrangements for local residents, it appears 
that these will be kept to a reasonable and practical minimum, taking 
into account the physical constraints of the development site, the 

limited alternatives for access to the development site, the need for the 
development, and the anticipated construction timescale. 

 
8.155. Based on the advice from DCC Highways it is not considered that the 

proposed development, or its construction phase, would give rise to an 

unacceptable risk to highways safety. 
 

Page 79



 72 

8.156. For these reasons, it is considered that approval of the proposed 
development would be in accordance with local policy CF6 and 

paragraphs 100, 110 and 111 of the NPPF, subject to conditions and 
the separate s278 agreement with DCC Highways. 

 
 

Public and Residential Amenity 

 

8.157. LP Policy EQ6 requires all new development to have a satisfactory 

relationship with existing land and buildings and protects the amenity of 
the area, which includes residential amenity of neighbouring properties. 
Aspects of residential amenity include impacts such as a loss of 

sunlight, overshadowing and overbearing impacts, loss of outlook, and 
loss of privacy. 

 
8.158. LP Policy EQ10 states that the Council will protect people and the 

environment from unsafe, unhealthy and polluted environments by 

ensuring development avoid potential adverse effects by imposing 
planning conditions that mitigate and strictly control issues such as 

noise and light intrusion. 
 
8.159. Paragraph 130 of the NPPF states that planning should create places 

with a high standard of amenity for all existing and future users.  
 

8.160. Paragraph 174(e) notes that planning decisions should contribute to 
and enhance the natural and local environment by, inter alia, 
preventing new and existing development from contributing to, being 

put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, 
unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land 

instability, and notes that development should, wherever possible, help 
to improve local environmental conditions such as air and water quality. 
 

8.161. Paragraph 185 of the NPPF highlights that planning decisions should 
ensure that new development is appropriate for its location through 

mitigating and reducing noise impacts and limiting light pollution from 
artificial light on local amenity. 
 

8.162. The application provides a detailed assessment of noise arising from 
the operation of the proposed development, within the Environmental 

Statement.  
 

8.163. Some elements of the development would be undertaken in relatively 

close proximity to the ten dwellings located between the north side of 
the park and Reservoir Road. From west to east these ten dwellings 

are known as Ashwood, Errwood, Langsett, Dovestone, Rutland, 
Torside, Shire Croft, Yew Tree Lodge, and 1 & 2 The Masons, with the 
latter three of these dwellings located adjacent to the Reservoir Road 

entrance to the park and therefore next to the intended exit point for 
construction traffic. 

 

Page 80



 73 

8.164. Toddbrook Lodge, located to the north of the existing sailing club 
buildings, would also be in close proximity to the development site and 

is enclosed by the proposed application site boundary. 
 

8.165. Public comments were received in relation to amenity, as summarised 
below: 

 

- Noise and anti-social behaviour arising from position of proposed 
basketball court and enclosed hut in play area 

- Lack of detail on size or height of site cabins – could cause loss of - 
privacy to adjacent neighbours 

- Concern about hours of construction and enforcement 

- Has a noise assessment been carried out? It should cover the 
construction period and the completed development 

- There is potential for noise of water within the spillway and the 
tumble bay. The existing situation is loud after heavy rainfall. If 
there is constant background noise it will adversely affect many 

people in Whaley Bridge 
- The depot will be positioned against our house (Ashford House), 

this could take three years minimum, the noise, contamination, 
mental and physical damage to our lives and damage it could do to 
our building. We need the option of relocation while the work is 

carried out. 
- The sailing club should be designed to have more consideration to 

security, privacy and screening to neighbouring residences and to 
discourage antisocial behaviour 

- The replacement sailing club buildings would have long term, 

permanent, direct and moderate adverse significant effects on our 
(Waterfront House, Reservoir Road) visual amenity. The plans 

show a kitchen window looking directly at the entrance to our 
property, bringing a loss of privacy. We also object to the full glass 
double doors facing our property entrance, giving a loss of privacy. 

The decking on the western side of the club building gives a direct 
line of sight up to our windows. The submission does not include 

any restrictions on light pollution, such as flood lights to aid 
operations beyond the club’s current usage, nor any restrictions to 
avoid noise nuisance, such as preventing loud music being played 

in the evenings. 
- Planning permission should include a condition limiting the periods 

during which the Clubhouse can be used, in particular to prevent it 
being used for activities and functions after 21:00 and/or private hire 
or parties. 

- The current boat yard generates significant unwanted noise during 
windy weather caused by the way in which the boats are stored 

(halyards bagging against the masts).  If this were to be replicated 
at the proposed location, the peace and serenity of the area and at 
our property would be materially adversely impacted. Should 

impose a condition that all boats to be stored in the Boat Yard must 
be done so to ensure that their there is no (or minimal) noise during 

windy weather. 

Page 81



 74 

- Please impose conditions to limit piling to CFA/Rotary and/or  
Silent/Push In Hydraulic techniques to limit both noise nuisance and 

potential damage to our homes from vibration and ground waves. 
- Vehicles carrying material away and the works will cause a 

considerable amount of dust and contamination to houses nearby 
 

- A detailed letter of representation has been submitted on behalf of 

Mrs Anna Cox, the occupant of Yew Tree Lodge (also known as 
Yew Tree House). The representation raises significant concerns 

about the effects that construction disruption will have upon Mrs 
Cox.  The representation sets out in detail her concerns and 
particular circumstances which she argues means that the impacts 

of the proposal will be particularly acute. The full representation on 
behalf of this resident is appended to this report. Further details 

have been provided in confidence. 
 

- The Canal and River Trust have responded in detail to the specific 

concerns raised and have explained why additional measures to 
further mitigate noise impacts cannot be achieved. The applicants’ 

full response is appended to this report. 
 
8.166. The public comments are noted and are considered in the following 

assessment. 
 

Amenity impacts from the completed development 
 
8.167. The new weir, tumble bay and spillway, and the replacement sailing 

club buildings, boat storage, car park and new access onto Reservoir 
Road, would be located in close proximity to the dwelling at Toddbrook 

Lodge.  The new vehicle access would be adjacent to the rear/side 
garden of this property. 
 

8.168. Given their scale and position, it is not considered that the new 
buildings would result in harm to the amenity of the occupants of 

Toddbrook Lodge, in terms of visual intrusion or overshadowing. It is 
not considered that the movement of vehicles over the new access 
would result in significant noise and disruption to Toddbrook Lodge, as 

the access will provide access for boats, disabled drivers and 
emergency vehicles, with the majority of vehicles visiting the sailing 

club using the existing access onto Reservoir Road. 
 

8.169. The new sailing club buildings and other facilities would be located to 

the front of dwellings on the north side of Reservoir Road, but would be 
situated at such a distance and would of such a scale that no material 

impact would result in terms of visual intrusion, overshadowing, loss of 
privacy or overlooking, or harmful noise and disruption. 

 

8.170. The replacement spillway and the sailing club car park would be built to 
the side and rear of three houses (Ashwood, Errwood and Langsett), 

located between the park and Reservoir Road.   

Page 82



 75 

 
8.171. The proposed arrangement is not dissimilar to the existing 

arrangement, where the sailing club car parking backs directly onto 
these houses. The replacement spillway will be set a similar distance to 

the existing main spillway. The replacement spillway will be of a 
different design to existing, comprising raised structures built over the 
rear face of the dam rather than a channel set fully into the ground. 

 
8.172. Owing to the scale of the replacement spillway, the distance to the 

nearest houses, levels difference and screening provided by trees, It is 
not considered that the new structures would result in any harm arising 
from visual intrusion or overshadowing. 

 
8.173. It is not considered that the replacement works (including the sailing 

club facilities) would result in any other harm to the amenity of the 
occupants of these three closest dwellings, including in terms of loss of 
privacy or overlooking, or noise or light nuisance. The turret structures 

would result in some additional elevated views towards these houses 
and neighbouring dwellings (Dovestone, Rutland and Torside) on the 

same development, but given the separation distance and the context 
of a public park, it is not considered this element would result in any 
material harm to the privacy of the occupants. 

 
8.174. The proposal includes a new access track across the body of the dam 

to allowing servicing and maintenance, following completion. This 
would appear likely to result in vehicle movements from Park Road, 
through the park to the south end of the dam. It is considered unlikely 

that the resulting vehicle movements would give rise to significant 
noise and disruption to residents on Park Road. 

 
8.175. It is considered appropriate that details of any external lighting to be 

used in relation to the completed development should be subject to 

conditional control, if permission is granted. 
 

8.176. It is not considered that the noise associated with the boat yard is likely 
to arise to harm to amenity or a statutory nuisance to neighbouring 
occupants. 

 
8.177. Comments received in relation to noise from water running through the 

replacement spillway and spilling basin are noted. It would appear 
unlikely that the effects of this would be significant, particularly 
compared to the existing situation. 

 
8.178. The comments on the design of the sailing club buildings are noted, but 

given the design of the building and the separation distances to the 
nearest dwellings, it is not considered that the proposed sailing club 
buildings would result in a harmful loss of privacy to any nearby 

residences.  
 

Page 83



 76 

8.179. Neighbour comments on the impact of the outlook from their home is 
noted. Effects on views cannot be taken into account in planning 

decisions. The proposed sailing club elements would not result in 
significant visual intrusion or harm to outlook of the properties 

overlooking the new sailing club. 
 

8.180. It appears unlikely that the replacement sailing club facilities or 

changes to facilities in the park would result in significant effects in 
terms of antisocial behaviour.  Comments suggesting that hours of use 

of the sailing club be controlled are noted. Given the nature of the 
facilities and any likely associated activities and events, it is considered 
unlikely that the arising levels of noise and activity to nearby residents 

would regularly be disruptive or comprise a harm to amenity. It is 
therefore considered that controlling the use of the sailing club by 

condition would be unnecessary and disproportionate and would fail 
the statutory tests for planning conditions. 
 

 
Amenity impacts during construction 

 
8.181. Noise and disruption arising from construction work are not ordinarily 

assessed as material planning considerations. However case law has 

established that such disruption can become a material planning 
consideration in some circumstances, including in the case of 

development with an extended construction phase. The application 
indicates that the proposal will take up to 24 months to complete and it 
is considered that in this case, the effects of the construction phase 

should be assessed as a material planning consideration. 
 

8.182. The environmental health officer has requested conditions to control 
the use of piling equipment, hours of noise-generating construction 
work (limited to 0800-1800 Monday to Friday, 0830-1400 Saturdays, 

and no works on Sundays or Bank Holidays), and to control noise and 
vibration and dust emissions during the construction phase. 

 
8.183. Indicative details of the location of site cabins were included with the 

construction traffic management plan. The potential impacts on 

adjacent neighbours arising from the height and layout of these is 
noted, and it is considered that further details be secured and 

controlled by condition. 
 

Page 84



 77 

8.184. It is understood that the construction phase will result in disruption to 
nearby residents, and that the effects will be particularly significant to 

those living immediately adjacent to the application site, particularly 
residents of the group of houses to the immediate north of Memorial 

Park, and of Toddbrook Lodge. It is understood that the personal 
circumstances of the occupant of Yew Tree Lodge would be 
particularly affected during the construction period. 

 
8.185. However, it is considered that the proposed works are necessary in the 

interest of public safety and control of flooding. It is noted that the 
development site is significantly constrained in terms of layout and 
access arrangements, giving limited practical options for the 

development site to be differently configured to further reduce the 
effects on neighbouring properties.  It has been satisfactorily 

demonstrated that all reasonable possible steps would be taken during 
the construction phase to limit the impact on residents living near the 
construction site.  The applicants have set out clearly why additional 

measures to limit construction noise are not possible. 
 

8.186. It is considered that the planning benefits of the scheme, particularly 
the improvements in terms of public safety and control of flood risk,  
would clearly outweigh the temporary harm to residential amenity 

arising from the residual effects of noise, vibration and disruption 
during the construction phase. 

 
8.187. For these reasons, it is considered that, subject to conditions as 

recommended by the Environmental Health officer, and as required for 

the approval of a fully detailed Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (to address matters including details of construction 

cabins and lighting), that the proposal would, on balance, be 
acceptable in terms of amenity, and would therefore accord with 
policies EQ6, EQ10, and NPPF paragraphs 130, 174 and 185. 

Page 85



 78 

Land Stability 

 

8.188. Local plan policy EQ 10 Pollution Control and Unstable Land notes that 
the Council will protect people and the environment from unsafe, 

unhealthy and polluted environments, and that this will be achieved by, 
inter alia, ensuring that sites are suitable for their proposed use taking 
account of ground conditions and land instability, including from natural 

hazards such as radon gas, former activities such as mining, or 
pollution arising from previous uses. 

 
8.189. NPPF Paragraph 174 notes that planning decisions should prevent 

new development from contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk 

from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of land 
instability. 

 
8.190. The application site is within an area identified by the Coal Authority as 

being Development Coal Mining High Risk, due to the presence of 

shallow coal seams and mine workings. 
 

8.191. The application is supported by a Coal Mining Risk Assessment 
(CMRA), which identifies the specific coal mining legacy risks and 
proposes a mitigation strategy to make the development site safe and 

stable for the proposed development. A summary of the CMRA, 
submitted with the application, notes that: 

 
The CMRA has been based on publicly available information, including 
that held by The Coal Authority and British Geological Survey (BGS), in 

addition to archive documents held by the Canal & River Trust (the 
Trust). Results of ground investigations carried out on behalf of the 

Trust have also been used. This information has been used to 
understand the site and its mining history. 
 

8.192. The Coal Authority is a statutory consultee responsible for advising on 
development safety in areas with a legacy of coal mining. The authority 

has reviewed the CMRA and their consultation response sets out the 
proposed risk mitigation measures. The Authority notes that the works 
should be designed and undertaken by competent persons and should 

be appropriate to ensure the safety and stability of the development as 
a whole. 

 
8.193. The Coal Authority has confirmed they have no objection to approval of 

the proposed development, subject to conditions for the 

implementation of remediation and mitigation works prior to 
commencement of works in the vicinity of the proposed stilling basin 

(agreed as an amendment to the condition originally suggested), and 
that a suitably competent person declare that the site is (or has been 
made) safe and stable for the proposed development, prior to the 

stilling basin first being brought into use. 
 

Page 86



 79 

8.194. Based on the advice from the Coal Authority it is considered that, 
subject to the recommended conditions, the proposed development 

would be acceptable in terms of the risk arising from legacy coal mining 
and therefore to be acceptable in terms of policy EQ10.  

 
Ecology and Biodiversity 
 

8.195. Policy EQ5 Biodiversity notes that the biodiversity and geological 
resources of the Plan Area and its surroundings will be conserved and 

where possible enhanced by ensuring that development proposals will 
not result in significant harm to biodiversity or geodiversity interests, 
and that this will be achieved by, inter alia: 

 
- Conserving and enhancing sites of international, European, and 

national importance. On these sites the Council will not permit any 
development proposal that has an adverse effect on the integrity of 
a European site (or wildlife site given the same protection as 

European sites under the NPPF) either alone or in combination with 
other plans or projects. 

 
- Conserving and enhancing any Sites of Special Scientific Interest. 

On these sites the Council will not permit any development proposal 

which would directly or indirectly (either individually or in 
combination with other developments) have an adverse effect on a 

Site of Special Scientific Interest 
 
- Conserving and enhancing regionally and locally designated sites. 

On these sites the Council will not permit any development proposal 
which would directly or indirectly result in significant harm to 

geological and biodiversity conservation interests, unless it can be 
demonstrated that: 

o there is no appropriate alternative site available; and all 

statutory and regulatory requirements relating to any such 
proposal have been satisfied; and 

o appropriate conservation and mitigation measures are 
provided, such mitigation measures should ensure as a 
minimum no net loss and wherever possible net gain for 

biodiversity;  
o or if it is demonstrated that this is not possible; 

o the need for, and benefit of, the development is 
demonstrated to clearly outweigh the need to safeguard the 
intrinsic nature conservation value of the site and 

compensatory measures are implemented  
- Encouraging development to include measures to contribute 

positively to the overall biodiversity of the Plan Area 
 

8.196. Chapter 15 of the NPPF outlines that Local Planning Authorities should 

aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity. The Framework places high 
value on the importance of enhancement of the natural environment, 

Page 87



 80 

especially valued landscapes. Paragraph 174 seeks to minimise 
impacts and provide net gains in biodiversity where possible.  

 
8.197. Paragraph 180 notes that in determining planning applications, Local 

Planning Authorities should apply principles including: 
 
If significant harm to biodiversity resulting from a development cannot 

be avoided (through locating on an alternative site with less harmful 
impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated for, 

then planning permission should be refused; 
 

a) development on land within or outside a Site of Special Scientific 

Interest, and which is likely to have an adverse effect on it (either 
individually or in combination with other developments), should not 

normally be permitted. The only exception is where the benefits of 
the development in the location proposed clearly outweigh both its 
likely impact on the features of the site that make it of special 

scientific interest, and any broader impacts on the national network 
of Sites of Special Scientific Interest; 

b) development resulting in the loss or deterioration of irreplaceable 
habitats (such as ancient woodland and ancient or veteran trees) 
should be refused, unless there are wholly exceptional reasons and 

a suitable compensation strategy exists; ... 
 

8.198. The proposals would have impacts on ecology and biodiversity assets 
arising from the works within the reservoir, the construction of the 
replacement sailing club, and the works within the park. 

 
8.199. These impacts have been assessed within the Environmental 

Statement.  Mitigation measures are proposed in the Biodiversity Net 
Gain Assessment and Management Plan and Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment. 

 
8.200. Consultation responses on ecological matters have been received from 

Derbyshire Wildlife Trust, English Nature and are recorded in section 7 
above. Formal comments from the Environment Agency are 
outstanding but informal comments received indicate that no objections 

will be made in terms of ecological matters. 
 

8.201. Public comments relating to ecology and biodiversity are summarised 
below: 
- How can biodiversity be increased when there are a large number 

of trees removed? 
- Where are the details of the compensation in the park woodland 

and enhancement of grassland to neutral grass meadow alongside 
the Goyt? 

- The lowering of the reservoir has increased vegetation, birds and 

animals, this new biodiversity will be lost 
- Baseline ecology survey data collected for the application should be 

collected for all designated sites, habitats and protected or notable 

Page 88



 81 

species that are considered likely to be affected by the scheme. 
Ecological data has been collected from within the planning 

application boundary for the scheme. However this data does not 
extend to those areas outside of the planning boundary within the 

likely Zone of Influence 
 

8.202. The public comments and the comments from the Planning Policy 

officer are noted.  
 

8.203. Having reviewed the proposed development and the supporting 
ecological assessments and biodiversity net gain assessment, 
Derbyshire Wildlife Trust and Natural England have raised to objection 

to approval of the proposed development, including in terms of effects 
on wildlife and ecology within development site and the Site of Special 

Scientific Interest, subject to conditions for a fully detailed Construction 
Environmental Management Plan and for approval of details of bird and 
bat boxes. Comments from the Environment Agency in terms of 

ecology are awaited. 
 

8.204. Accordingly, it is considered that the proposal would comply with the 
objectives of policy EQ5 and would comply with chapter 15 of the 
NPPF. 

 
Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows 

 
8.205. Policy EQ9 Trees, Woodland and Hedgerows notes that the Council 

will protect existing trees, woodlands and hedgerows, in particular, 

ancient woodland, veteran trees and ancient or species-rich hedgerows 
from loss or deterioration, and that this will be achieved by: 

 
- Requiring that existing woodlands, healthy, mature trees and 

hedgerows are retained and integrated within a proposed 

development unless the need for, and benefits of, the development 
clearly outweigh their loss 

 
- Requiring new developments where appropriate to provide tree 

planting and soft landscaping, including where possible the 

replacement of any trees that are removed at a ratio of 2:1 
 

- Resisting development that would directly or indirectly damage 
existing ancient woodland, veteran trees and ancient or species-rich 
hedgerows. 

 
8.206. NPPF paragraph 174 notes that: 

 
- Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance 

the natural and local environment by: ... 

recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, 
and the wider benefits from natural capital and ecosystem services 

Page 89



 82 

– including the economic and other benefits of the best and most 
versatile agricultural land, and of trees and woodland; 

 
8.207. Paragraph 180 notes that 

 
- development resulting in the loss or deterioration of irreplaceable 

habitats (such as ancient woodland and ancient or veteran trees) 

should be refused, unless there are wholly exceptional reasons and 
a suitable compensation strategy exists;  

 
8.208. The application is supported by an Arboricultural Impact Assessment 

which sets out the effects of the development upon trees within the 

development site. The AIA notes that the proposal will require the full 
or partial removal of nine individual trees, and five groups of smaller 

trees totalling removal of 52 further trees, and explains the reasons that 
these removals are necessary. Details of necessary tree pruning, and 
impacts on the roots of retained trees are also provided. 

 
8.209. Details of replacement planting of trees, scrub and hedgerow are noted 

in the AIA and are set out in the submitted landscape proposals. This 
would include 20 trees planted off site and additional trees planted on-
site.  

 
8.210. Public comments raised concerns in relation to the proposed loss of 

trees, including querying the necessity of particular removals.  
 

8.211. Public comments also noted: 

 
- The plan recommends that trees in our garden (labelled G9 in the 

Arboricultural Impact Assessment) should have their crowns lifted. 
In my opinion, this would make the trees top heavy and present a 
risk of falling in the future (for which we will be liable) therefore I 

request that these trees be pollarded instead. It is quite annoying 
that no one has bothered to come round to discuss this with us 

before submitting the application, as the trees are clearly in our 
garden. 

 

8.212. This matter will be reviewed and an update will be provided ahead of 
the committee meeting. 

 
8.213. The proposed scheme was developed with the input of the Council’s 

tree officers, both at pre-application stage and during determination. 

 
8.214. The tree officers’ final comments (following amendments made during 

determination) are recorded in section 7 above. They advise that: 
 
“...given the project objectives, site constraints and 

logistical/construction requirements of the whole development, the 
scheme as evolved and now proposed represents a reasonable and 

realistic minimised impact on existing trees on/around the site – which 

Page 90



 83 

nevertheless regrettably but inevitably involves the need to remove a 
substantial number of trees.” 

 
and that: 

 
“The proposed landscaping has evolved into an acceptable strategy 
scheme, showing different planting character areas such as individual 

trees, native hedgerows, native structural shrub areas, meadows etc. 
However, at this stage this does not constitute a comprehensive and 

fully specified/detailed landscaping scheme (eg does not include 
specific details of proposed species, planting sizes, numbers/densities, 
planting patterns etc). Given that an acceptable strategic landscaping 

now forms part of the application, submission of this further level of 
detail, along with subsequent implementation and aftercare 

maintenance, may be appropriately secured by suitable condition.” 
 

8.215. The tree officer has raised no objection to the scheme, subject to 

conditions including protection of retained trees, protection of roosting 
bats during development, submission of an arboricultural method 

statement, and submission of a fully detailed landscaping scheme. 
 

8.216. Subject to these conditions and implementation of the proposed 

mitigation, it is considered the proposed development would support 
the objectives of local policy EQ9 and NPPF paragraphs 174 and 180, 

and would be acceptable in terms of impacts on trees and hedgerows. 
 
Other matters 

 

8.217. In addition to the public comments noted in the preceding themed  

sections, comments were also received in relation to: 
 
- Inclusion of sustainable energy production in the proposed 

development. 
- Generalised queries about how the proposal is sustainable, how the 

proposal responds to climate change, potential for off-setting 
carbon from the project 

- Public consultation period for application is short relative to the size 

of the job and complexity 
- Application includes a lot of detailed information. Not all residents 

have internet access. 
- Concern about public consultation undertaken before the 

application and selection process for proposed option 

- Potential impact on sale of property during construction 
- Development presents opportunity to push boundaries and be 

innovative. A circular walk around the reservoir could be created if 
the level of the water was kept lower 

- What planning gain is being proposed by CRT bearing in mind the 

disruption it has caused to the residents of Whaley Bridge? 
- Several residents need to sell our properties within the next year or 

two because of personal circumstances. Compensation is required 

Page 91



 84 

for any physical damage to the property from the vibration and 
noise, from loss of amenity, and reduction in house price resulting 

from those aspects of the construction work. 
 

8.218. The other matters raised in public comments are noted. 
 

8.219. It should be noted that the original 21-day public consultation period 

was extended into February 2022 during the determination period. 
 

8.220. Impacts on property values and sales are not material planning 
considerations. 
 

8.221. Public comments on alternative approaches to achieving the safety and 
water supply objectives of the scheme, and of undertaking the works, 

are noted. As a general principle, it is only within the Council’s power to 
consider the proposal in front of it and only limited weight can be given 
to theoretical other proposals.  Notwithstanding that, it is considered to 

be clear that the proposals in front of the Council have been carefully 
developed following consideration of different practical constraints and 

planning constraints. 
 

8.222. Where the proposals do result in harm in terms of any material 

planning matters these have been kept to a minimum and where 
possible mitigated to a reasonable (and acceptable) level. 

 
8.223. The comments from Cllr Swift are noted. Given the nature of the 

development it is not considered necessary for any additional 

renewable energy elements to be included within the scheme for the 
proposal to be acceptable in terms of planning policy, including in 

terms of carbon reduction and climate change. The proposal of 
additional facilities at the sailing club is considered to be beneficial in 
terms of provision of sports and leisure facilities and therefore to be 

appropriate in terms of policy for sports and recreation, and acceptable 
in terms of development in the Green Belt.  The turret structures are 

understood to form an intrinsic functional part of the spillway design 
and as such it might be unfeasible for them to have any other function. 
In any case it is only appropriate to determine whether the specific 

proposed development in acceptable in terms of all relevant material 
planning considerations and policies.  

 

Page 92



 85 

9. CONCLUSION AND PLANNING BALANCE 

 

 
9.1. The starting point for the determination of any planning application is 

section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, 
which is to be read in conjunction with section 70(2) of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. Section 38(6) states that planning 

applications should be determined in accordance with the development 
plan, unless there are material considerations which indicate otherwise. 

 
9.2. In this instance the adopted Development Plan comprises with the 

policies contained with the  adopted High Peak Local Plan 2016. 

 
9.3. It is accepted that the proposed development is required in the 

interests of public safety, control of flood risk (subject to comments 
from the Environment Agency), and for the retention and protection of 
public recreation and leisure facilities. 

 
9.4. In terms of policies for development within the countryside and Green 

Belt, it is considered that all elements of the proposed development 
would be acceptable in principle. 
 

9.5. As set out in the preceding sections, it is considered that the proposed 
development would be acceptable in terms of water management, 

landscape and visual impacts, design and built character, highways 
safety, vehicle access and parking, public and residential amenity, 
effects on trees and ecology and biodiversity, subject to approval and 

implementation of further details relating to these matters. 
 

9.6. Whilst it is understood that the proposed development would result in 
some temporary disruption to local residents arising from construction 
noise, construction traffic, it is considered that these matters would be 

kept to the minimum practical level possible, subject to further details to 
be secured by condition, including through the approval of a fully 

detailed construction environmental management plan, and traffic 
management details to be agreed with DCC Highways.   
 

9.7. For these reasons, it is considered that the proposed development 
would accord with the relevant policies of the High Peak Local Plan 

and the relevant sections of the National Planning Policy Framework, 
and that approval of the application would be consistent with the 
development plan. 

 
 

10. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

A. That, subject to further comments from the Environment Agency, 

planning permission be APPROVED, subject to the following 
conditions – 

 

Page 93



 86 

 

 Condition 
ref number 

Brief description Comment 

General and standard conditions 

 AP01 Development in accordance with 
approved plans. 

 

 TL01 Commencement time limit  

 NSTD Approval of external facing materials  

 NSTD Full design details for elements 

including park footbridge, spillway 
vehicle access bridge, turret 
structures, boom, etc 

 

 NTSD Approval of temporary arrangement 

of play equipment during construction 

 

Flood Risk and Water Management 

 NTSD Condition from Environment Agency 
tbc 

 

 NTSD Approval of surface water drainage 

design and management and 
maintenance plan 

 

 NTSD Details of surface water management 

during construction 

 

 NTSD Drainage to be carried out in 
accordance with principles set out in 

submitted proposed drainage strategy 

 

 NTSD Approval of sustainable drainage 
management and maintenance plan  

 

 NTSD Protection of United Utilities assets 
within site boundary 

 

Ecology (and geomorphology) 

 NTSD Approval of fully detailed Construction 
Environmental Management Plan, to 
include ECO and full details of noise 

and vibration mitigation measures 

 

 NTSD Approval of details of bird and bat 
boxes 

 

 NTSD Implementation of approved 

biodiversity net gain measures off-site 
and on-site 

 

Archaeology and Heritage 

 NTSD Approval of scheme of investigation 

for cultural heritage and archaeology 

 

 NTSD Compliance with approved scheme  

 NTSD Approval and implementation of 
heritage impacts mitigation measures 

 

Highways and Public Rights of Way 

 NTSD Compliance with revised Construction 

Traffic Management Plan 

 

Page 94



 87 

 NTSD Approval of full details of 
arrangements for pedestrian access 
into Memorial Park from Reservoir 

Road 

 

 NTSD Provision of plant and materials 
storage area 

 

 NTSD Provision of wheel-washing facilities  

 NTSD Agreement with Highways on extent 

of carriageway condition surveys 

 

 NTSD No gates or barriers within 5m of 
nearside highway boundary, inward-

opening only 

 

 NTSD Restoration of public rights of way 
across site 

 

 NTSD Approval of details of temporary lay-

by for Reservoir Road residents 

 

 NTSD Provision and maintenance of 
visibility splays 

 

Residential Amenity and Environmental Health 

 CL05 Discovery of contaminated land  

 CLD09 Gas monitoring and assessment or 

protection measures 

 

 NSD12 Best practicable means of noise and 
vibration reduction to be employed at 

all times 

 

 CDD01 No visible dust emissions beyond site 
boundary during construction 

 

 CDD02 Management and disposal of 
construction and demolition waste 

 

 NSD02B Approval of piling method statement; 
piling limited to 0800-1800 Monday to 
Friday 

 

 NSD08 Piling noise and vibration monitoring 

and reporting of exceedances. 
Written approval required for higher 

level vibration levels. 

 

 NS02A Hours of noise-generating 
construction and demolition activities: 
0800-1800 Monday to Friday 

0830-1400 Saturdays 
None on Sundays or Bank Holidays 

 

 CLD11 Asbestos – evidence required that 

building works don’t pose a risk to 
potential occupiers or wider public, 

and approval of risk mitigation 
measures 

 

 CDD14 Amplified music and/or radios shall 
not be audible beyond the site 

boundary. 

 

Page 95



 88 

 NTSD Approval of external lighting prior to 
installation 

 

Trees and Landscaping 

 NTSD Retention of trees other than those 

required to facilitate development 

 

 NTSD Mature trees to be inspected for bat 
roosting opportunities prior to removal 
or substantial crown pruning. Further 

details inspection by licensed bat 
worker if necessary. Works to be 

undertaken with advice of bat worker 
if necessary. 

 

 NTSD Approval of arboricultural method 

statement 

 

 NTSD Implementation of tree protection 
measures, ground protection 
measures in accordance with British 

Standards 

 

 NTSD All tree works to be undertaken in 
accordance with British Standard 

3998:2010 Tree Work 

 

 NTSD Approval and implementation of 
comprehensive and full specified 
landscaping scheme 

 

Coal Risk 

 NTSD Implementation of coal mining land 
instability remediation and/or 
mitigation measures 

 

 NTSD Confirmation that development has 

been made safe and stable with 
regards coal mining land instability 

 

Sports and Leisure 

 NTSD Timescale for provision of 

replacement sailing club 

 

 NTSD Timescale and details for 
reinstatement of playing fields 

 

    
Informatives 

Highways, United Utilities, Coal Authority, Environmental Health, LLFA 

    

    

    

    
 
 

 
B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 

Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 

conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for 

Page 96



 89 

approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Head of 
Development Services has delegated authority to do so in 

consultation with the Chairman of the Planning Applications 
Committee, provided that the changes do not exceed the 

substantive nature of the Committee’s decision. 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Page 97



 90 

SITE PLAN - OVERVIEW 
 

 
 
SITE PLAN – REPLACEMENT SAILING CLUB 

 

Page 98



 91 

Appendix A – representation on behalf of Mrs Anna Cox  
 

Page 99



 92 

Appendix B – Response from the Canal and River Trust to Mrs Anna Cox

Page 100



 93 

Appendix C – Representations by Mr Graham Aldred  
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank



Your reference: HPK/2021/0607  

Our reference: ES04.COX0365-0001.CF 

Direct email: eshield@hcrlaw.com 

18 November 2021 

FAO Tom Hiles 
High Peak Borough Council 
Planning team 
Buxton Town Hall 
Market Place, Buxton 
Derbyshire 
SK17 6EL 

Overross House 
Ross Park 
Ross-on-Wye 
HR9 7US 
Telephone: 01989 562 377 
Fax: 01989 565 961 
DX: 22485 Ross-On-Wye 
Direct Line: 01989 561 438  

REAL ESTATE COMMERCIAL 
PROP 

BY EMAIL: planning@highpeak.gov.uk; planning@highpeak.gov.uk 

Dear Tom  

Re. OBJECTION: Application reference HPK/2021/0607 - Planning permission for the 
construction of a replacement spillway and associated dam infrastructure, replacement sailing 
club facilities including new access, replacement play equipment and park landscaping 

We are instructed by Ms Anna Cox to submit an objection to planning application reference 
HPK/2021/0607 (the Application) validated by High Peak Borough Council (the Council) on 22 
October 2021. Planning permission is being sought via the Application for ‘construction of a 
replacement spillway and associated dam infrastructure, replacement sailing club facilities including 
new access, replacement play equipment and park landscaping’ (the Proposal) on land at Toddbrook 
Reservoir, Reservoir Road, Whaley Bridge (the Site).  

Ms Cox has a property located in full view of the current slipway and adjacent to the proposed 
construction vehicle access route. More information is provided below.  

Our client’s main concerns relating to the Proposal are as follows; 

i) Impact of noise and vibration emanating from the development during construction and

operation;

ii) Ground stability and other impacts of vehicle movements during construction; and

iii) Visual impact and loss amenity during both the construction and operation phases

Each of these issues is discussed in turn below. 

Page 103

mailto:planning@highpeak.gov.uk
mailto:planning@highpeak.gov.uk


Noise and vibration impacts 

High Peak Borough Council Adopted Local Plan (2016) (‘the HPBC Local Plan’) policy EQ 6 is clear 
that development should be well designed and respond positively to its environment. This is stated to 
be achieved by a number of factors including;  

• Requiring development to be well designed to respect the character, identity and context of
High Peak's townscapes and landscapes

• Requiring that development on the edge of settlement is of high quality design that protects,
enhances and / or restores landscape character, particularly in relation to the setting and
character of the Peak District National Park

• Requiring that development contributes positively to an area's character, history and identity in
terms of scale, height, density, layout, appearance, materials, and the relationship to adjacent
buildings and landscape features

• Requiring that development achieves a satisfactory relationship to adjacent development and
does not cause unacceptable effects by reason of visual intrusion, overlooking, shadowing,
overbearing effect, noise, light pollution or other adverse impacts on local character and
amenity

My client is concerned that this policy will not be complied with by the Proposal, particularly during the 
construction phase. Although construction impacts are not usually a material consideration, in cases 
where construction will take place over several years (2 years in this case) and the impacts will be felt 
for a long period; it is my client’s contention that the construction impacts should be material to the 
final decision. This is especially so when construction impacts are required to be assessed within an 
EIA in accordance with Paragraph 5 of Schedule 4 of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental 
Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017.  

Specifically, my client is concerned that the building work and vehicle movements during construction 
will generate an unacceptable level of noise, compared to the surroundings she currently 
experiences. My client considers that, from the project description, noise may be caused by beeping 
lorries, crane movements, general vehicle movements and controlled explosions. Chapter 6 of the 
Environmental Statement appears to support this view. In particular, table 6.10 of the Environmental 
Statement sets out the baseline levels for location 4 which is the location closest to my client’s 
property. It is noted that the baseline noise levels in this location are some of the lowest experienced 
at the assessed locations (at 39Db background noise and 50Db ambient daytime noise). This is the 
reason my client chose to live in this property as she works from home and has sensitivities to noise 
so needed somewhere quieter than the average home to live comfortably and healthily and to 
generate an income.  

Table 6.11 of the Environmental Statement shows that the ABC criterion (set out in section 6.3 of the 
Environmental Statement) will be exceeded during the construction phase in a number of locations. At 
R5 (as it is shown on figure 6.2 – the closest assessed receptor to my client’s property) there appears 
to be an increase during the construction phase of 15Db compared to the baseline ambient daytime 
noise assessment at location 4 as shown on figure 6.1 (50Db). Whilst 65Db may not exceed the ABC 
threshold, this represents a significant increase compared to baseline levels. This is even more so 
when it is considered that the background noise assessment at location 4 was 39Db thereby 
representing an increase of 26Db at this location compared to pre-construction.  

Relevant to this, HPBC Local Plan Policy EQ 10 ‘Pollution Control and Unstable Land’ confirms that 
the Council will only permit developments which are deemed to result in pollution (which includes 
noise and vibration and light intrusion) if the developer ensures that potential adverse effects are 
mitigated to an acceptable level. 

It has already been demonstrated that the noise levels as the scheme is designed result in an 
unacceptable increase in noise at my client’s property. Despite significant effects being identified, only 
embedded mitigation is being considered (as confirmed in the ES, paragraph 6.7) and these 
measures are as follows: 

The construction noise and vibration assessment assume that the works would be undertaken using 
best practicable means (BPM). BPM is therefore assumed as incorporated mitigation to control 
construction noise in the form of low noise emission plant and processes, as specified in BS5228-1 
Annex B.  
BPM would include:  

Page 104



• informing residents prior to any particularly noisy or high vibration works;

• the selection of quiet and low vibration equipment;

• the use of low vibration piling methods (if practicable) such as CFA piling and the ‘press in’
method for sheet piling;

• for vibratory rollers, avoiding switching on or off the vibration mechanism when close to
dwellings as the transient frequency sweep as the mechanism starts up and reaches the
operating frequency can be particularly intrusive;

• review of construction programme and methodology to consider quieter methods (including
non-vibratory compaction plant, where required);

• location of equipment on site away from dwellings;

• control of working hours;

• the provision of acoustic enclosures;

• the use of less intrusive alarms, such as broadband vehicle reversing warnings;

• a reduction in the amount of plant operating simultaneously in one area to mitigate any
significant effects identified;

• screening including local screening of equipment, perimeter hoarding or the use of temporary
stockpiles; and

• through further dialogue with High Peak Borough Council a Section 61 (of the Control of
Pollution Act 1974) agreement for prior consent to carry out the works is expected to be
utilised to ensure contractors use BPM to control construction noise.

Embedded mitigation is generally taken to have formed part of the project as assessed by the EIA, 
being an integral part of the project design. Therefore, as the noise assessment has been conducted 
already taking into account the embedded design and project features, these embedded measures 
alone should not be considered to make the Proposal acceptable. The lack of additional measures to 
prevent, reduce and offset likely adverse effects which could not be avoided through design, mean 
that the Proposal is currently contrary to policy EQ 10. It is my client’s view that the Council should 
compel the developer to reconsider its noise mitigation measures and to prepare a more detailed set 
of measures prior to determination of the application (to be secured by condition), otherwise the 
Proposal should be refused.  

Measures which could be considered in addition to the above (which should be secured by the 
Council by way of condition as a minimum) include a condition for continuous noise monitoring which 
should be based on the need to minimise the increase in noise experienced at my client’s property 
compared to baseline levels (it is suggested this is in location 4 as shown on figure 6.1 of the 
Environmental Statement). Limits should be placed on the number of vehicle movements and the 
times when they are permitted to travel to and from the site to minimise the duration of noise each 
day.  

In terms of operational impacts, the Environmental Statement confirms at paragraph 6.3.2.1 that; 

“There are no existing prediction methods to calculate noise from spillways in operation (once 
construction is complete). To enable an assessment of noise level from the spillway for the proposed 
Scheme, reference has been made to a noise and vibration assessment for a similar shaped 
spillway14. This assessment includes measurements of spillway noise for receptors at a similar 
distance to the nearest receptors to the proposed Scheme.”. 

Then at paragraph 6.6.2.3, the overall operational impact is assessed as follows; 

“Therefore, there is likely to be a direct, permanent effect which is moderate adverse. Considering the 
small number of receptors affected, the change in noise exposure between the existing and proposed 
spillway and the variability of noise levels throughout the year, this effect has been assessed as not 
significant, when utilising professional judgement.” 

We do not question the professional judgement of someone who has worked in the industry for a 
number of years and has significant experience however, my client considers that this professional 
judgement (even though properly exercised) may come from the wrong starting point. It is considered 
that a worst-case scenario should be used for the purposes of assessment where the impacts cannot 
be fully assessed quantitatively. This may have been done here but the Environmental Statement 
does not make that clear. Without certainty that a worst-case scenario has been used, my client is 

Page 105



anticipating significant impacts, and this is causing her anxiety. 

It is agreed that ordinarily the individual private/personal circumstances of an interested party would 
not be a material consideration. However, the EIA is required to take into account sensitive receptors 
and my client considers that her circumstances call for additional sensitivity. Relevant to this is the 
recent High Court case of G, R (On the Application Of) v Thanet District Council [2021] EWHC 2026 
(Admin) where planning permission was quashed due to a failure to adequately assess the 
construction and operational impact of noise, highway safety and air quality on the pupils at a school 
for children with special educational needs. The key point made repeatedly by the judge was that 
those affected by the scheme (i.e. the pupils with special educational needs) were particularly 
sensitive and vulnerable, raising concerns for the adequacy of the overall assessment of the 
scheme’s environmental impacts. It is submitted that the same considerations should be taken into 
account in this case. Should the Council require further information on this point, please contact me 
and I will discuss with my client whether information can be provided privately. 

Although not related to noise; my client is also concerned about dust and fumes during construction 
and considers that these should be assessed with appropriate conditions put in place to control this to 
ensure compliance with policies EQ 6 and EQ 10 of the HPBC Local Plan.  

In terms of construction traffic impacts, we have reviewed the Construction Traffic Management Plan 
prepared by Kier in addition to the Environmental Statement. This primarily reinforces my client’s 
concerns. In particular it is noted that the proposed construction hours are as follows; 

• Monday to Friday, between the hours of 08:00 to 18:00.
• Should Saturday working be necessary, prior approval will be sought from the local authority.
• No working is anticipated on Sundays or bank holidays.

Whilst this is fairly standard for noisy working, it is submitted that, given the sensitivity of the location 
and the potential increase in noise compared to baseline levels, the Council could consider 
conditioning more restrictive hours than this, with enforced quiet periods during the day if possible. 
Notice should be given to surrounding residents of any peak vehicle movement times. In line with 
above suggestions, numbers of vehicles could be restricted by condition as well.  

Finally, on the subject of noise, it does not appear as though the development is capable (at present) 
of complying with the requirements of paragraph 185 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) which states; 

“185. Planning policies and decisions should also ensure that new development is appropriate for its 
location taking into account the likely effects (including cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living 
conditions and the natural environment, as well as the potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area 
to impacts that could arise from the development. In doing so they should: 

a) mitigate and reduce to a minimum potential adverse impacts resulting from noise from new
development – and avoid noise giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health and the quality of
life
b) identify and protect tranquil areas which have remained relatively undisturbed by noise and are
prized for their recreational and amenity value for this reason;
and
c) limit the impact of light pollution from artificial light on local amenity, intrinsically dark landscapes
and nature conservation”.

Paragraph (c) is relevant to the matters discussed below in respect of amenity and visual impact. 

Paragraph 174 (e) is also relevant to the issues of noise and other matters discussed in this letter and 
the Proposal is arguably not able to comply with this policy;  
“e) preventing new and existing development from contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk 
from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land 
instability. Development should, wherever possible, help to improve local environmental conditions 
such as air and water quality, taking into account relevant information such as river basin 
management plans”. 

Page 106



Ground Stability and additional vehicle impacts 

Additionally, my client has concerned that lorries travelling past her house daily will potentially 
damage the foundations of the house and could cause subsidence/ cracks. It is submitted that the 
path the vehicles are travelling on is not made for lorries – it is a pedestrian footpath. There did not 
appear to be any assessment within the submitted application relation to the suitability of the path for 
lorries and therefore there is nothing at present to reassure my client that the development will not 
harm the character and appearance of her property, and her use and enjoyment of it.   

This matter is covered by HPBC Local Plan policy EQ10 which confirms that; “the Council will protect 
people and the environment from unsafe, unhealthy and polluted environments. This will be achieved 
by: 
…Ensuring that sites are suitable for their proposed use taking account of ground conditions and land 
instability, including from natural hazards such as radon gas, former activities such as mining, or 
pollution arising from previous uses.” 

In light of this, it is considered that this Proposal should not be granted permission until these impacts 
are assessed and it is confirmed that there will be no adverse impact on the stability of the path or my 
client’s property (or indeed any other properties which may be affected along the lorry route).  

Furthermore, it is considered that there will be significant disruption to the traffic flow in and out of 
Reservoir Rd which will negatively impact residents’ ability to travel to and from their homes.  

Amenity and visual impact 

HPBC Local Plan policy EQ6 seeks to guard against; unacceptable effects by reason of visual 
intrusion, overlooking, shadowing, overbearing effect, noise, light pollution or other adverse impacts.  

My client is concerned that light pollution emanating from the development both during the 
construction and operational phases will affect her ability to sleep. If lights are constructed to light the 
Site this will impact significantly on her quality of life as many of the main windows overlook the Site 
(including the bedroom window). My client has particular sensitivities in this regard due to her health 
conditions and this sensitivity should be taken into account (see above). Again, she purchased this 
particular property because of the dark conditions it offered at night. 

In the HPBC Local Plan explanatory notes, paragraph 5.85 states; “Light pollution refers to the effect 
of excessive or intrusive lighting arising from poor or insensitive design. The Council will seek to 
reduce light pollution by encouraging the installation of appropriate lighting and only permitting lighting 
proposals which would not adversely affect High Peak Local Plan - Adopted 91 Development 
management policies 5 amenity or public safety. Lights should be appropriately shielded, directed to 
the ground and sited to minimise any impact on adjoining areas, and of a height and illumination level 
of the minimum required to serve their purpose.” The Council are asked to take this into account 
when assessing compliance with HPBC Local Plan policies. 

The development is also contrary to policy EQ6 in that the construction hoardings will be overbearing 
and will block the natural day light into my client’s kitchen significantly and ruin my client’s view from 
the large windows from her sitting room for at least two years. This will harm her amenity and 
enjoyment of her property. To resolve this we would suggest that, if they cannot be moved away from 
my client’s property entirely; the duration that the hoardings will be present should be limited and this 
fixed by condition, and more investigation should be made into their positioning to prevent or reduce 
the harmful impact.  

Additionally, my client is concerned about the visual impact of the development more generally both 
during construction and operational phases. Part of this impact relates to the loss of trees in the 
vicinity of her property (between the property and the development) which currently enhance the view. 
Whilst some tree planning is proposed and many trees will be retained, there are some trees of good 
quality which are to be lost. With this in mind, the Council should consider the proposals in light of 
HPBC Local Plan policy EQ 9 which states (my emphasis); 

The Council will protect existing trees, woodlands and hedgerows, in particular, ancient woodland, 
veteran trees and ancient or species-rich hedgerows from loss or deterioration. This will be achieved 

Page 107



by: 
• Requiring that existing woodlands, healthy, mature trees, and hedgerows are retained

and integrated within a proposed development unless the need for, and benefits of, the
development clearly outweigh their loss

• Requiring new developments where appropriate to provide tree planting and soft landscaping,
including where possible the replacement of any trees that are removed at a ratio of 2:1

• Resisting development that would directly or indirectly damage existing ancient woodland,
veteran trees and ancient or species-rich hedgerows.

In this case, it is considered that more could be done to retain and integrate the existing trees, 
particularly as the loss of trees in the vicinity of my client’s property will primarily be for construction 
purposes and therefore not directly related to the development itself (which it is accepted there is an 
need for). In this case, it is suggested that the developer reconsiders their construction routing, 
laydown, and parking areas to minimise loss of trees. 

Additionally, my client requests that the visual impact assessment includes consideration of the views 
she will experience during both construction and operation and that planning permission is not 
granted until this has been completed and limited visual impact is found.  

Summary/Conclusions 

At present, the Proposal is contrary to a number of HPBC Local Plan policies including those 
discussed above, and policy S1 which confirms; 

“Policy S 1 Sustainable Development Principles The Borough Council will expect that all new 
development makes a positive contribution towards the sustainability of communities and to 
protecting, and where possible enhancing, the environment; and mitigating the process of climate 
change, within the Plan Area. This will be achieved by: …Seeking to secure developments provide a 
high standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings, ensuring 
communities have a healthy, safe and attractive living and working environment and the risks from 
potential hazards are minimised”. 

Whilst there is no doubt that some solution needs to be found for the Spillway, my client asserts that 
the scheme is not yet acceptable in planning terms and more needs to be done to make it so, and to 
reassure the Council and interested parties of this fact.  

Once this has been done, the Council is asked to use its powers to impose appropriate conditions to 
control the various impacts of the development outlined above (including noise, ground stability and 
impact on amenity).  

We would be grateful if you could advise us of your likely recommendation prior to making a decision, 
if possible. Please also provide us with details of any further information which is submitted by the 
applicant in respect of this Proposal and provide us with an opportunity for further comment in respect 
of any such information. Should the application fall to be determined by the Council’s planning 
committee; please inform us of this at the earliest opportunity. Our contact details are at the top of this 
letter.  

Yours sincerely 

Elizabeth Shield 
For and on behalf of 
HARRISON CLARK RICKERBYS INC SHAWCROSS 

Page 108



The purpose of this note is to address concerns raised by Harrison Clark Rickerbys Solicitors on behalf 
of a resident who lives in close proximity to the site, relating to noise, vibration, vehicle impact on ground 
stability, light and visual amenity. This is considered in the context of the statement within the letter that 
the resident has particular sensitivities to noise and light. As applicant, we do not have details of these 
sensitivities, but we have sought to respond to the points raised.  
 
Assessment of Noise  
 
The main concerns raised in the letter are that: 

1. construction activity will result in a significant increase in noise levels over the existing ambient 
level; 

2. the use of embedded mitigation is insufficient to adequately control construction noise; and,  
3. the assumptions used for the assessment of operational noise levels for the spillway do not 

represent a reasonable worst case. 
 
Construction noise levels 
 
The letter raises concerns over increased noise levels due to construction activity and makes the point 
that the existing ambient noise levels are low. The effects of construction noise have been assessed 
using the ABC method set out in "BS 5228-1:2009+A1:2014 Code of practice for noise and vibration 
control on construction and open sites". This methodology takes existing ambient noise levels into 
account by setting the significance threshold based on existing noise levels.  
 
The ambient noise levels used for the assessment were determined through a noise survey and it is 
recognised that the existing levels are low. This is reflected in the use of the Category A threshold for 
the assessment, which is the lowest threshold for determining significant effects in BS 5228. 
Considering this, we believe that the impacts from construction noise have been adequately assessed 
and have sufficiently taken into account the existing noise climate. 
 
Embedded mitigation 
 
The letter raises concerns over the assumption of embedded mitigation in the assessment of 
construction noise and goes on to state that "the lack of additional measures to prevent, reduce and 
offset likely adverse effects which could not be avoided through design, mean that the Proposal is 
currently contrary to policy EQ 10".  
 
Best practicable means (BPM) is assumed as incorporated within any embedded mitigation measures 
meaning any noise impacts will be minimised as far as reasonably practicable. The Construction 
Management Plan will ensure that best practicable means are employed. Additionally, through 
consultation with High Peak Borough Council, it was agreed that a section 61 application under the 
Control of Pollution Act 1974 would be advisable to ensure that construction noise (and vibration) 
impacts are adequately controlled. For these reasons, no additional mitigation is recommended (beyond 
the embedded mitigation detailed in the ES) as noise impacts are already controlled as far as 
reasonably practicable. 
 
Operational assessment 
 
The letter raises concerns about the assumptions used in the assessment of operational effects from 
the new spillway. In particular it is questioned whether the assessment represents a worst-case 
scenario. The assessment of environmental noise typically employs reasonable worst-case 
assumptions (i.e. favourable wind conditions or moderate ground-based temperature inversions). This 
principle has been used in the assessment of noise from the spillway.  
 
As stated in the ES, there are no existing prediction methods to calculate noise from spillways in 
operation so the assessment relies on published noise measurements taken of similar shaped spillway 
in operation. The published data states that the dominant noise source in the measurement was "noise 
generated by water rushing over the dam spillway". The data is therefore considered to be 
representative of a reasonable worst-case scenario with large amount of water flowing over the spillway. 
The assessment is not representative of infrequent absolute worst-case events such as storms. 
 

Page 109



The letter states that the closest assessed receptor to the correspondent's dwelling is R5. This receptor 
is around 200m from the centre of the proposed spillway. At this distance, we predict reasonable worst 
case spillway noise levels of 36dBA which is 4dB below the 40dBA LOAEL threshold (i.e. the 4dB below 
the threshold where adverse effects on health and quality of life can be detected) and 14dB below the 
existing daytime ambient noise level of 50dBA (see the ES for further details). 
 
Summary 
 
Overall, we believe that the assessment presented in the ES adequately addresses the concerns raised 
in the letter. Namely, 

• The use of the Category A threshold for the construction assessment takes the low ambient 
noise levels into consideration; 

• The incorporation of BPM means that any construction noise impacts will be minimised as far 
as reasonably practicable and therefore additional mitigation does not need to be proposed in 
the ES; and, 

• The operational noise assessment represents a reasonable worst-case scenario of a large 
amount of water flowing over the spillway. 

 
Consideration of whether any further mitigation of impacts could be achieved  
 
Noise and vibration impacts 
 
As stated above, best practicable means (BPM) is assumed as incorporated within any embedded 
mitigation measures, meaning any noise impacts will be minimised as far as reasonably practicable. 
Any residual noise effects will be managed and mitigated through the implementation of a Construction 
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP). Noise impacts being controlled as far as reasonably 
practicable, there is no further mitigation that can be made. Numerous inclusions of BPM are listed; it 
is worth noting that the topography / level differences within the site makes noise mitigation measures 
more difficult to practically implement. We agree that communication with residents prior to noisy or 
high vibration works will be particularly important and would also make reference to our ‘Construction 
Phase Communications Note’ submitted as supplementary information.  
 
The letter references consideration of limits being placed on the number of vehicle movements and the 
times when they are permitted to travel to and from the site to minimise the duration of noise each day. 
Doing so would inhibit construction and prolong the works programme duration significantly, which we 
believe would not be the interests of close residents. We have placed reasonable limits on construction 
working hours (and it is noted that these are typical for noisy working), as well as including the need for 
prior approval from the Council before Saturday working could be implemented (which is not normally 
restricted for Saturday mornings).  
 
We note that noise monitoring is referenced in the letter as a potential additional measure. We would 
be willing to implement noise monitoring (frequency to be agreed) at the site and review this data in 
conjunction with the Council’s EHO, but we do not believe it is realistic to reduce noise further to that 
done so by implementing BPM, as already proposed.  
 
Ground Stability and additional vehicle impacts 
 
The letter states concerns that lorries will potentially damage foundations and could cause subsidence. 
We do not envisage this occurring, and would not allow a vehicular route where this was likely. The 
route will be upgraded to be suitable for all vehicle traffic.  
 
Nonetheless, we have appointed an independent Building Surveyor for the project, in order to conduct 
Condition Surveys (where consented to), for purpose of residents being assured that in the unlikely 
event of damage occurring, it will be identified and rectified. It is our understanding that a survey has 
taken place at this resident’s property.  
 
Amenity and visual impact 
 
Several points are raised regarding amenity and visual impact:  

• Light pollution  

Page 110



• Construction hoardings  
• Loss of existing trees  

 
Measures regarding lighting are included in the Outline CEMP, and will be further detailed in a full 
CEMP to be completed for construction, which would be submitted for LPA approval. We have stated 
that lighting controls will be included and temporary lighting will be arranged so that glare is minimised 
outside the construction site. Where possible, out of hours lighting will be kept to a minimum, although 
there will be a need for this in conjunction with maintaining site security.  
 
The site compound and surrounding construction hoarding is needed nearby to the resident’s property, 
as the space available for a compound in the north part of Memorial Park is limiting for a construction 
scheme of this scale. We believe our construction compound plan to be reasonable in relation to 
surrounding residents, and taking account of the necessary space needed for site welfare, parking, 
materials / plant / equipment storage etc. Hoardings are incorporated for both visual screening and a 
degree of noise mitigation, the need for which is referred to in the letter. With the level difference in the 
site, and the position of the residents property and fenestration, we believe the impact of hoarding 
blocking natural light will be minimal.  
 
We acknowledge that a number of trees will be lost in order to construct the new spillway. This is 
unfortunately a necessity owing to the complex engineering requirements and constraints. However, 
we have taken additional effort to ensure retention of the tree group G8 (see Appendix 7 of our 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment). Whilst not substantial in number, the plans for the compound initially 
required removal of this group. In consideration of the close residents, these plans were specifically 
rearranged at the cost of compound space and therefore efficiency, in order that the group could be 
retained. Retaining these will offer some degree of longer term screening of the spillway once complete. 
Working in conjunction with the Council’s Tree Officer during the planning application phase, some 
further trees have been added to the landscape plans in this part of the park, which (once established) 
ought to be of benefit to the resident.  
 
Summary  
 
We do not believe we can incorporate any further noise mitigation within the scheme, with 
implementation of BPM having been assumed.  
However, we propose that we could implement noise monitoring as stated above. The requirement for 
a Section 61 has been agreed, and monitoring data from the site reviewed with the EHO could assist 
in this regard.  
 
___________________________________________________ 
 
 
Kind regards, 
 
Tom Greenwood 
MEng (Hons) IEng MICE MAPM 

Principal Project Manager 
 
 
North West 
Canal & River Trust, National Waterways Museum, South Pier Road, Ellesmere Port, Cheshire, CH65 
4FW 
 
Sign up for the Canal & River Trust e-newsletter 
Become a fan on Facebook. Follow us on Twitter and Instagram 
 

Page 111

https://url6.mailanyone.net/v1/?m=1nFxM4-0005oN-5z&i=57e1b682&c=VVjrYFmHn0DwZ-JIquqsFaiO9MbgCKVbToZGUB-nYizWynKqAgEJ_wYf-vmXCna9Zk3pQmpL7cCPs0n8HqSsWZCNJ3QYHu5mMCxr95_0cp1IdNOxnMpCAy2qIfKa4mWjGmkNgWDt9pxD6-KKpgBOSwXC7tiQ98hZU3Ac18HPHiIIiJC5p0lXBKzWeHcCqM-OoFsLsWpqKpveERRt77hKjfbMk-wbGsL_VUJEm25CVjMV-pNPAMZIaZGzL281JpZe
https://url6.mailanyone.net/v1/?m=1nFxM4-0005oN-5z&i=57e1b682&c=cqdU4UAg5UOWb1f0faSeddStlIhmJWtLZMbb5i3TwKIP_GKblccngoInJAx3CENu08NLF1QxwOfqsylAaLtjVd1dd12zFWYRmJMJgbE66F4y67AUd_Fr8zApuM59IgrV7QwirZkberVDZ20Z4AvN3v9e9FsEbfWEh9ilkN6UetNHQuoKOP0unRgeiIOMGbu4TO-j8R6Ug-mYN5OdxJdvDo0olbmJbw7SSBt2y_xHDye3_An89BEYIUQsWJwV9l1h
https://url6.mailanyone.net/v1/?m=1nFxM4-0005oN-5z&i=57e1b682&c=3Y_1ETGpX_Vbx3AGHHID6pnxC1c6F80CsB7poaYAsWcKu4cey8lbKLvW7GYqZqZp3_NFB2jLaO53nOdyjnLCVy6SsYnv5aqWdxRiwvTcUdnY6T3xBKEJdcVzE5sBJXaqQTWlGHbP945dT23fX2XFcxrweYk1zfsOSt0PykTLzw9-v131CGQsDaU0IF5sIMFkmoNs6zYgToKG9BS4EOXrEVrQxy1bQnq6viSJf5tUjjY
https://url6.mailanyone.net/v1/?m=1nFxM4-0005oN-5z&i=57e1b682&c=ljfxxfB5d5bdvAhuan3bwq-ZNNJJaUcAVSLxC-3CbOcfPB16RhwnRNH0XsIXmr3JGu3gh-9nbZJPxSWy_Q7tha2zqAHkOgycLOLDu39mpx79XEhJMC0v-KJjHGipP1Sygmdi2kMhKo3qa2mgKES9pgurlHW__rlXlLFwYXwYrMdjYWTRO30clSuIIEl4bEETb3P23jU2gnC8B5eh1sH1GivIZzNOpr4PDMUfczOl7XZDyG_qAngoNpJ2AA8F9Zjq


 
 

Page 112



1 

 

Toddbrook reservoir planning application HPK/2021/0607. 

Introduction. 

This application is unique for HPBC in that it seeks approval for a major civil 

engineering modification to be carried out on an existing High Risk Reservoir critically 

located inside Whaley Bridge town. I believe that it is the responsibility of Planning 

Authority to ensure that any Construction to which it gives Approval meets the highest 

safety criteria if it is to be installed in the Public Domain and can potentially harm or kill 

people or damage property. What makes this application complicated for HPBC is that 

the construction to be approved does not stand alone when completed but it will 

become the controlling part of an existing old reservoir system. Consequently HPBC will 

need to assess how the safety of the whole system will be affected by the integration of 

the new part (the overflow) even if the design of the new part itself is perfectly well 

specified and designed.  

This is precisely what did not happen in 1970. The Toddbrook dam was recklessly 

modified by the previous owner, British Waterways without any concern for the effect on 

the overflow system.  Fifty years later this led directly to a dramatic near breach of the 

dam in August 2019 and the urgent evacuation of 1500 people for 10 days. 

In any reservoir the load on the dam by the impounded water and the height of the 

overflow weir are fundamentally linked. In this case of an old recently damaged dam 

the formal documentation submitted for approval of a new overflow weir should include 

a full safety assessment of the dam, the removal of all the concrete, any inspections 

and technical results, any repairs, and enhancements, load profiles for different heights 

and risk assessments.        

Critical safety issues for the planning application. 

1)Damage History  

The Toddbrook earth/clay dam is more than 182 years old, under construction before 

Queen Victoria’s reign started, one of the oldest and highest (77ft) of this primitive type 

in the country. It is rated ‘ High Risk’ by the Environment Agency which means that it 

could kill people if the dam breaches (which it very nearly did in Aug 2019).  

The construction of the Aux. Spillway over the crest in 1970 removed many tonnes of 

material from the downstream shoulder of the dam. It removed 6ft or more from the 

crest and clay core. No cut off was installed to protect the clay core at Top Water Level 

(TWL). Then very dangerous cross dam abutment walls were built and these required 

footings at least 2-3 ft below TWL.  Thus the overall integrity of the dam was destroyed 

and this caused the development of erosion channels for 50 years under the concrete 

of the Aux. Spillway. These channels allowed water to pass under the crest panels under 

the Aux .Spillway and  under  the cross dam footings to run under the LH side wall.  

Page 113



2 

 

A leak in the dam, first detected in 1930, led to extensive investigations and 

speculative remedies over the next 50 years. The investigation continued even after the 

Aux. Spillway was constructed. It is therefore not certain that the leak was ever cured 

because the installation of the Aux. spillway prevented further access to the shoulder to 

confirm success. The evidence of water under the spillway concrete became obvious 

but those responsible unfortunately attempted to treat the symptoms rather than find 

the cause.  The water could have been from the 1930s leak or the erosion channels or 

both. 

On July 31 2019 there was a massive overflow on the Aux spillway, only the fourth in its 

history. Erosion channels were finally widened and major flow under the concrete 

shifted some spillway panels. The much increased flow under the concrete crest then 

attacked the unprotected clay core. Many tonnes of shoulder and core from the dam 

were washed into the Goyt creating a huge hole which left the remains of the clay core 

in a dangerous unstable state. The school and town were at critical risk but saved from 

the breach because it stopped raining just in time. Chinook helicopters managed to 

create a temporary repair with 800 tonnes of a special grit and grout mixture in bags 

which supported the clay core whilst the reservoir level was lowered.  

 Obviously this old Dam has had a hard life.  So it can be strongly argued that it must be 

rigorously assessed and its safety confirmed beyond doubt before it is operated at any 

Top Water Level (TWL) but especially at the maximum level as proposed in this 

application.  

2)Choice of the new Top Water Level.   

 If a new reservoir with an earth clay dam were to be proposed in the same location in 

Whaley Bridge it would never be approved because of the obvious serious risks to the 

school and town. However the current intention is just to repair the existing reservoir by 

building a new overflow/ spillway system to replace the original overflow arrangements 

which were designed in 1830 to be managed by a resident warden. This was successful 

for the first 130 years until British Waterways recklessly removed the essential 5-6 ft. 

clay core safety margin from the dam and thereby destroyed its integrity.  

But the major safety issue which must be paramount in the consideration by HPBC is 

not any (unlikely) flaws in the design of the new overflow system itself.  It is the 

intention to construct the new overflow weir at the original height chosen in 1830. The 

main overflow weir determines the maximum height of the water behind the dam which 

is called Top Water Level (TWL).  As a consequence, the load profile on the old 

damaged dam from the impounded water in the reservoir will be exactly the same in 

future as it ever was. Keeping the events of Aug 2019 fully in mind, the justification and 

risks of this decision must be critically examined by HPBC when considering the 

approval of a modern modification to be applied to an old existing system to make it 

function again at the full specification. In any other Engineering sector this is a practice 

that would generally be treated with considerable caution. HPBC may need to seek 

independent technical advice to assess the state of the dam. 

Page 114



3 

 

What has been done to prepare the dam for re-use? 

This question should have been answered in a comprehensive document submitted by 

the CRT with the application. 

From the outset in Oct 2019, less than 3 months after the auxiliary spillway failure 

which caused massive damage to the dam itself, it was evident that the CRT intended 

to refill the reservoir to its original level without any evidence that the dam was 

undamaged and that it was safe to be loaded to the same height. A leaflet describing 

‘temporary work’ was issued in Dec. 2019 at the Public Meeting in Buxton. In fact only 

one part of this work has been implemented, the Cut Off wall across the crest, which, 

due to obvious cost and duration of the work, is evidently anything but ‘temporary’  

So hidden in the ‘temporary works’ was the construction of a very permanent cut off 

wall which could not have been justified until the dam had been assessed and approved 

for maximum load. An expensive cut off wall at that height could only mean that the 

CRT has always intended to return the reservoir to the original level, only 2 months after 

the town and school were nearly inundated and 1500 residents had to be evacuated at 

30 minutes notice for 10 days. If the TWL was to be lowered by around 1.5m then the 

cut off wall would not have even been required.  

It is understood that subsequently various bores and ground penetrating radar (GPR) 

surveys have also been used to look through the concrete to assess the internal 

structure of the dam and detect any leakage. But the reservoir has been empty for over 

2 years so the dam is neither wet (to be able to leak) nor loaded (to allow pressure 

measurements) so such investigations have considerable limitations. Also the GPR 

survey could not have been complete across the Aux. spillway particularly in the crucial 

area of damage where the bags were dropped. GPR imaging is also disturbed by 

steelwork in the concrete.  All these technical investigations and limitations should be 

documented formally and presented with the application. 

What has not been done to prepare the dam for re-use? 

The downstream shoulder of the dam has not been exposed by removal of ALL the 

1970s concrete nor have the emergency repair bags which are hiding the state of the 

near breach and are preventing inspection and repair. 

The Application indicates the order of work. It is planned to construct the new overflow 

system first before all the redundant concrete of the Aux. Spillway system has been 

removed from the dam, before the ‘sticking plaster’ bags, the temporary repair of Aug. 

2019, are removed, before the dangerous near breach hole is exposed, before the 

depleted clay core is actually inspected, before the cause of the 175 ft longitudinal 

crack across the crest panels is investigated, before the urgency to evacuate 1500 

people from their homes at 25 minutes notice is confirmed by inspection of the state 

of the old dam.  

  

Page 115



4 

 

Why is it important that the dam is modified and repaired first? 

Obviously the state of the dam is fundamental to the safety for Whaley Bridge. 

Although some confidence has been built in the structure of the dam this cannot be 

complete until the whole downstream shoulder and damaged core is exposed by 

careful removal of all the concrete. Then all the repairs and reconstruction of the dam 

can be carried out. Simply put the state of the dam determines the safe height to 

construct the new overflow weir and that will not be known until the dam is exposed.  

 HPBC may know that there are 7 other earth clay dams that were recklessly modified 

in the 1970s with the same dangerous over crest auxiliary overflow. Toddbrook was the 

first, a very poor design not even constructed to the flawed specification. The identity of 

these dams has been kept secret by the Govt. since Oct 2019 despite FOI requests.  

The expert Investigators have only speculated about how bad the Aux Spillway is, 

speculated about the extent of water erosion channels, the cause of failure and its 

sequence.  There has been the opportunity to carefully remove all the concrete to 

confirm their theories (or not) but in 2.5 years this has not been done. The point is that 

there is unexamined evidence in the Toddbrook Aux Spillway System that is not only 

relevant to the safety of Toddbrook but also to the safety of the other 7 Dams. This 

means that careful, even forensic, dismantling of the whole concrete system is a very 

important priority task in its own right.  

What are the weaknesses in this planning application ? 

1) Overflow constructed at max TWL prior to Dam repair.  

There is no clear statement in the submission that the original 1840 TWL is to be 

retained. Given that this has serious implications for the dam a document describing all 

the operations to assess and repair the dam should have been submitted. It was not. 

The design drawings submitted for approval simply describe an excellent new overflow 

construction to be set at a certain absolute height but with no obvious consequence or 

connection with the loading on the old dam.  

The major weakness is that the HPBC planning team should have been guided to 

recognise that the Overflow Construction, however perfect it may be in itself, cannot be 

approved in isolation. It can only be approved in conjunction with an understanding of 

the state of the Dam itself and the profound safety influence of the height of the new 

overflow weir, which defines TWL and therefore the load on the dam.  

2) Construction sequence. 

The application says that the first phase will be to build the Overflow system and this 

will be constructed to provide the historic maximum TWL which cannot then be 

reduced. This means that it will be built first before all the redundant concrete of the 

Aux. Spillway system has been removed from the dam. Given the history of the dam 

summarised above, the construction of the Overflow system before all operations to 

Page 116



5 

 

inspect and repair the dam are completed is the fundamental engineering error in this 

Project as submitted. It means that any defects, damage, leaks and structural faults in 

the old dam, which have not been detected or have been  misunderstood, hidden or 

ignored for the last 52 years under the concrete (especially the crest), will be prevented 

from having any influence on the future operational TWL. Because, in the current plan, 

the TWL will already be defined by the overflow weir which will have been set 

permanently in concrete and steel....literally..... before the dam is fully exposed and 

inspected. 

Exposing the state of dam shoulder, the clay core and its crest to daylight prior to any 

Overflow construction begins will certainly provide the opportunity for forensic 

inspection of the most damaged part of the dam and a complete Risk assessment. But 

in addition it will provide the opportunity to exercise sound engineering caution by 

lowering the TWL even if unexpected safety issues are not exposed on the dam. There 

cannot be any justification for the sequence 1)“Construct Overflow” followed by 

2)“Repair Dam” as proposed, it is not logical and has profound safety implications. 

Requirement for maximum TWL questioned. 

This demand is made by the CRT who opposes any lowering of the Reservoir TWL. That 

is why the new cut off wall was installed (Jan-June 2020) so prematurely. This was 

constructed at maximum TWL having been designed just 2 months after the near 

breach in Aug. 2019. The Canal system is well served by supply reservoirs and conduits. 

Coombs  was first to supply  Marple locks  in 1810 and that was when commercial 

canal use was approaching its zenith, creating a huge demand from Coombs to support 

the Marple Lock traffic plus general leakage and usage in the Macclesfield canal. 

Toddbrook was only completed by 1840 when canal use was rapidly falling into decline 

caused by railway expansion. So it can be argued that the modern recreational traffic 

(much less than the commercial traffic of the 1810-35 can be adequately supported by 

Coombs plus a somewhat lower but much safer Toddbrook.  

Advantages of a lower TWL:- Safety for Whaley Bridge. 

If the future reservoir level was to be lowered by as little as 1.5m, it would re-establish 

the original 1830 Dam safety margin of 5 ft. recklessly destroyed by British Waterways 

in 1970. This would bring the additional safety benefit of considerably reducing the 

pressure on the 180 year old recently damaged dam. There are obvious consequences 

which would increase the margin of safety for the school and the town.   

1) It would reduce the risk /probability of breach because as the height of water is 

reduced the pressure on the old damaged dam is reduced considerably in 

proportion to the height squared.   

2) But if a breach were to occur then the lower the reservoir the less energy and 

volume of water would be available to injure, kill and destroy as it rushed over 

the school and down the main street of Whaley Bridge. 

Page 117



6 

 

3) The Primary school with up to 244 little children and perhaps 26 staff is about 

350m directly from the toe of the dam and therefore directly in line of  flow from 

a breach in the dam.  

4) The children’s playground in the Park is only about 50m.from the toe.  

Summary. 

I have argued the case against the current application fully in the interests of increased 

safety for the children, the school, the residents and businesses of Whaley Bridge. The 

Safety of the community is paramount and if it cannot be achieved than the reservoir 

should decommissioned. I am sure HPBC can only agree.  

The state of the dam cannot be excluded from the Approval sought for the new 

overflow. 

The plan should be resubmitted to HPBC with the following modifications:- 

All work on the dam, as summarised above :- careful and forensic removal of all 

concrete and bags, investigations of leaks, rebuilding the dam and repairs, load 

modelling to explore various TWLs must be completed, described in detail and 

submitted in a report with the revised application. This means that the dam must be 

completely repaired BEFORE Approval is sought, before any work starts on the new 

overflow system. 

The overflow system specification and drawings should be revised to allow TWL to be 

set potentially lower than the current maximum. The desired TWL should be proposed 

with justification for the very safe Dam loading in the Dam Report given that the 

commercial/recreational requirement for max TWL cannot possibly outweigh the  

human right for community safety in Whaley Bridge.  

A lowered TWL does not mean that the proposed design will not function it just means 

that the basic construction datum is lower by perhaps 1.5m. This ought not to change 

any details within the design itself. 

The excellent new design is the result of efforts by a team of engineers supported by 

digital design drawing facilities so changes to the base datum of the proposed overflow 

should be extremely routine to process. It should not be argued that any resulting 

changes are too expensive or will cause delays. The max TWL design is premature, it is 

based on what the CRT wants rather than based on a confirmation of safety of the dam. 

Max TWL has pre-empted essential safety work on the dam which alone should define 

the safe TWL which may or may not be the max TWL.  

 

Graham Aldred         9 January 2022 

 

 

Page 118



www.lymewood.co.uk 10/02/22 

I oppose HPK 0607 on safety grounds. The CRT has not provided a full system safety 

plan as indicated below. The Dam and System is in a unrepaired neglected dangerous 

state. Graham Aldred, Disley  11/02/2022. 

Safety First at Toddbrook Reservoir. 

Below is an Extract from “Repairing Toddbrook Reservoir” by Graham Aldred 15 Sept 2021.Circulated 

widely as stated. 

“It is hoped that this document will be seen as a careful and positive contribution to the 

future safety of the Community of Whaley Bridge and its little School. Those in control 

must acknowledge that there is no way that a new reservoir would ever be approved in 

2021 for this location if the old reservoir had not previously existed.  Yet here we are 

trying to do just that but without any rigorous time tried official safety procedures and 

committed Govt. oversight. It is not just a case of major modifications to an old 

reservoir, it is a case of major modifications to an old reservoir now in the wrong place. 

Toddbrook needs more than just a few repairs, it must have a whole system 

assessment, each subsystem must be updated and then managed and operated 

differently than in the last 50 years. It is an important recreational and healthy asset 

but it is potentially very dangerous as all reservoirs are. This document is my attempt to 

emphasise this paradox and to urge the WB Community, WB Town Council, the HP 

Borough Council, Local MPs, Ministers and Owners to take an urgent proactive interest 

in all the operations required to modify, repair and make safe the Toddbrook System. 

To ignore my recommendations could lead to a future catastrophe as Prof Balmforth 

bluntly emphasises on page 86 of his critical review (Part B):- 

“The Environment Agency estimates that over 2.4m people in England 
are at risk from 2095 large raised reservoirs, most of which are currently 
designated as high risk. They present one of the largest threats to human 
life and property of any infrastructure sector in the UK. 
The failure of a dam can lead to a sudden and large release of water 
which would be difficult for the population affected to envisage. The 
Toddbrook Reservoir incident in 2019 could have ended in disaster. Had 
the dam breached, and had this occurred at night and without warning, 
there would likely have been a significant loss of life.” 

I ,Graham, will add that if the dam had breached during school hours then there could 

have been a disaster far more catastrophic than the tragedy at the Aberfan school 

when, in 1966, 144 people died, 116 of whom were little children.  The Safety of 

Toddbrook will be the legacy of all those in local and elected office who have the 

responsibility to ensure that the dam and every subsystem must meet the critical safety 

standards outlined here.” 

See whole document on www.lymewood.co.uk ref GA4 ( Right click on link for drop 

down menu) or type link into your Browser (Google) 

Damning assessment of the Auxiliary Spillway. by Dr. Hughes March 2020. See

whole Docs AH1 and GA4 on my website  “Fundamentally the original design does not follow 

recognised best practice and is seriously flawed; it has features within it or that have 

not been provided which have led to the failure which occurred on 1st August 2019. It is 

likely that flows took place under the slab almost from day one, when the water level in 

the reservoir was high enough. In my opinion the original design was flawed and so the 

situation was an incident/ accident waiting to happen – it was just a question of how, 

when and to what degree, unless some intervention was taken in the meantime.” 

Page 119

http://www.lymewood.co.uk/


www.lymewood.co.uk 10/02/22 

Table 1: Safety Assessment &Technical Approval is required for the 

following integrated Plans and Procedures before any physical work 

commences. Extract from Doc (Sept 2021).see GA5 on my website. Table been updated.

TITLE OR PURPOSE PLAN STATUS

DAM: Removal of all 1970’s concrete and temporary bags. 

 Assessment and repair of damaged structure. Major work 

sequence errors in overflow plans. 1) Overflow constructed before 

dam repaired, 2) Max TWL as original. Installation of modern 

monitors reqd. Decision on reservoir level. Public Access across 

the Dam. Estimation of the safe future life of this Dam.  

Fundamental Safety Issue 

No formal plan. Some 

structural studies 

done. Work sequence 

errors from Overflow 

plan. No specific safety 

plan 

NEW DESIGN RESERVOIR OVERFLOW SYSTEM. 

Option chosen and description produced, not very accessible due 

to inappropriate doc design by CRT. Decision on reservoir level 

required (TWL).Fundamental Safety Issue 

Planning application 

into HPBC. Invalid max 

TWL defined prior to all 

Dam repairs. 

DISCHARGE VALVES & CANAL FEED CULVERTS. 

Valves to be modernised, safer, moved ex dam, upstream 

hydraulic operation.  Plus emergency discharge large dia. pipes 

into spillway. No 1 canal discharge culvert to be repaired. 

Deliberately blocked in 1990 reason then not given.   Critical 

Safety Issue 

These engineering 

upgrade intentions 

seem to be committed. 

But no coherent single 

doc. 

THE ABSTRACTION WEIR. (side not head) 

Proposal to repair and operate this weir as the primary Fill Weir. 

The Operation and Emergency procedures must be described in 

the Toddbrook Safety Plan.(non existant !) 

Intentions Unknown, 

not discussed. Not part 

of any plan 

HEAD WEIR, GATE CONTROLS.  BYPASS & FEED CHANNEL. 

Sluice gate proposal Dec 2019, apparently abandoned. 

Critical Safety Issue 

Intentions Unknown, 

not discussed. Not part 

of any plan 

VEHICLULAR ACCESS TO THE HEAD WEIR. 

Critical Safety Issue. Ref Aug 2019 emergency.  Incredibly not on 

current plan with HPBC. 

Critical Importance re 

2019 but not 

recognised or planned. 

REDESIGNED OVERFLOW CONVERGENCE WITH THE RIVER GOYT. 

Critical Safety Issue. Ref. Aug 2019 emergency video evidence 

No redesign but 

Invalidates Flood Risk 

Assessment 

PROTECTION FOR THE FERNILEE/ERRWOOD RESERVOIR 

DELIVERY PIPE. 

 Very Critical Safety Issue. 

No Plan. Not 

recognised as a very 

serious safety issue 

INSTALLATION OF RAIN GAUGES IN TODDBROOK WATERSHED. 

Essential for flood management. Critical Safety Issue 

No plans. Not 

considered necessary 

1)NORMAL OPERATIONAL MAINTENANCE AND INSPECTION

PROCEDURES. Critical Safety Issue

2)OPERATIONAL PROCEDURES PRIOR TO AND DURING FLOODS.

These procedures must be written to utilise all the new and

repaired system facilities in the list above. They should be

submitted as part of the Safety Plan for Toddbrook.(non existent)

No recognition of this 

requirement despite 

Prof Balmforth’s  two 

excellent reports on 

deficiencies in  Resr. 

Management. 

All these safety issues are discussed in detail in GA5 on my website. Reservoir Safety Plan as a single 

topic has not been produced by the CRT. This table was updated after phone meeting  (7 Dec 2021)  with 

Mr Martin Hewitt, the Govt. appointed Qualified Civil Engineer (QCE).His remit appears limited to Overflow 

current plan , most of above excluded.  Further updates added Jan 2022. 

Page 120



 1 

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 

 
7th March 2021 

 
Application 
No: 

HPK/2021/0347 

Location 3 Temple Road Buxton SK17 9BA 
Proposal Conversion, alterations and extensions to existing 

hotel/residential building to form 10 new apartments, 3 
cottages and 1 townhouse; extension to building to create 
new townhouse, including demolition of existing garage; 

closing up of one access on Temple Road and improvements 
to other (existing) access points on Temple Road and College 

Road; formation of new car park; hard and soft landscaping; 
and other associated works, including engineering operations. 

Applicant Amos Homes (Buxton) Ltd 
Agent - 
Ward/Parish Temple Date registered 11 June 2021 
If you have a question about this report please contact:  Owen Gore 

owen.gore@highpeak.gov.uk  01538 395400 ext 4133  

 
1.    SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION 

 

 
Refusal 
 

 

2. REASON FOR COMMITTEE DETERMINATION 
 

2.1 This application has been brought before the Development Control Committee 
as it is a major planning application. 
 

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS 
 

3.1 The application property is the former Alison Park Hotel, consisting of a large the 
existing building, which is positioned towards the south of the site in an elevated 
ground level on triangular, corner plot that is bounded by Temple road to the 

North and West and College Road to the East. The application site falls within a 
residential area which is characterized by large house with generous gardens, 

tall mature trees and a spacious feel. The site has a number of mature trees 
around the site and on the pavement beyond the boundary particularly along 
Temple Road. The gardens are to the ‘front’ of the property in the north corner 

and the site is accessed through six existing vehicular access, three off Temple 
Road and two off College Road. 

 
3.2 The ground level falls from the south to the north and from west to east with the 

existing building sat on a raised platform with views out towards The Pavilion 

Gardens to the North. 
 

Page 121

Agenda Item 7

mailto:owen.gore@highpeak.gov.uk


 2 

3.3 The building itself is of a four storey, Arts and Crafts style, including key features 
and detailing, such as corner stone towers, the repetition of the half-timbered 

gables (some jettied out at the first floor), the stone mullions, leaded lights, oriel 
windows and chimneys. The building is designed to face each road as well as 

addressing the corner. The applicant has described the building as being 
dilapidated and in poor general overall condition. 

 

3.4 The property sits on the corner of the two adjoining highways Temple road to the 
North and West and College Road to the East. The application site shares a 

boundary with two residential properties, No.5 Temple Road to the southwest 
and No.4 College Road to the south east. To the west and north west beyond the 
public highway No.6 and No.2 Temple road, and to the north east beyond the 

public highway between Spencer Road and West Road are a pair of semi-
detached dwellinghouses, Farringford and Somersby, built in 1896, they are 

Grade II listed. Although they were built at a similar time to the other houses 
along this road the architectural style is more Arts and Craft, similar to the 
application building. 

 
3.5 For the purpose of the Local Development Plan, the site lies within the built-up 

area boundary, the Buxton College Conservation Area and Article 4 area, and 
the Buxton groundwater source protection. 

 
 

4. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL  

 

4.1   The application seeks consent for the conversion, alterations and extensions of 
the existing hotel/residential building to form 9 new, two bedroom and 1 one 

bedroom apartments, siting 3 two bedroom cottages to the ‘rear’ of the property 
adjacent to the southern boundary and 1 three bedroom and 1 four bedroom 

townhouses. The proposal includes the three storey extension to south elevation 
in the south east corner of the site, adjacent to the boundary with No.4 Collage 
Road, and a circulation core positioned centrally to all apartments to the rear of 

the building.  
 

4.2 Following consultee comments to the original submission, the applicant has 
amended the scheme. The key alterations were the following: - 

 

• Removal of rear dormer to the town houses, thus avoiding the need to 
alter this part of the roof. Obviously the new dwelling will involve a new 

roof but will follow the same ridge and pitch as the existing building; 
• Removal of a number of rooflights to front elevation;  
• Removal of porches over main entrance doors; 

• Removal of first floor balcony to apartment 6; 
• Alterations to parking layout, involving the reduction in spaces from 31 to 

26 spaces, which still meets the Council’s parking standards. Note that 
the reduction in parking allows for a large part of front lawn to be retained; 
and 

• They have simplified the dormer windows on front elevation, in particular 
removing pitched roofs to the dormers to apartment 10. 

 

Page 122



 3 

4.3 The amended proposal plans show that alterations to the Collage Road (east) 
elevation will include the additional side extension to the south east side of the 

building which will form a second 3 bedroom town house, that will continue the 
existing roofline of the gable on this side and a new front facing gable finished in 

Tudor revival style timber detailing. The existing northernmost gable on the east 
elevation will increase in height, adding an additional storey with a window in the 
apex; excavations will be carried out to create a sunken terrace area accessed 

from the lower ground floor accommodation of apartment No.4. Behind the 
parapet of the flat-roofed, north east corner turret, a dormer window will be 

added, set back to create a small amenity area for the accommodation within the 
roofspace at second floor level; there will also be alterations to the main door 
within this turret at ground floor level, increasing in size and new steps leading to 

it. 
 

4.4 The alterations to the north elevation, facing the junction with Collage Road and 
Temple Road, will include the replacement of a single storey, lean-to extension 
with a new extension and adjoining ground floor level terrace, both covered 

hipped-roof. There will be an area at the base of the building that will be 
excavated to create basement level amenity areas for the lower ground floor 

apartment, off of the kitchen dining area and the bedroom. At second floor level 
the proposal will replace a long, flat-roofed, central dormer with small gable 
feature, with a taller flat-roofed dormer featuring bi-folding doors and glazed 

balustrade. 
 

4.5 Alterations to the Temple Road (west) elevation include removal of a lean-to 
extension, revealing a large set of double doors and alterations to the narrow, 
two storey northernmost gable and dormer above, to increase the height to 

match the main roof; the adjacent, flat-roofed dormer will be replaced with a 
similar sized dormer featuring a sloping, tiled roof and tall, glazed, bi-folding 

doors and glazed balustrade. The southernmost gable on this side will also 
increase in height with the addition of a window in the apex and a new dormer on 
the south elevation. 

 
4.6 A flat-roofed, glazed, infill extension will be introduced in the rear service area, 

replacing a warren of rooms and external staircases, to create a circulation 
space, lift shaft and staircase to serve the apartments, excluding apartment 4, 
which has a dedicated access. The removal of the existing, modern conservatory 

will allow for a new set or bi-folding doors to serve the bedroom of apartment 
No.2. 

 
4.7 Three dormer cottages will be built to the rear (south) of the main building. The 

siting is such that it set back from the main highway with the front elevations in 

line with the rear elevation of the neighbouring No.5 Temple Road. A small 
garden, private garden area has been allocated to each of these properties. 

 
4.8 Alterations are being made to the access points on Temple Road and College 

Road, including closing up of one access on Temple Road and improvements to 

others. A new car park, including hard and soft landscaping and other associated 
works will be formed in the garden areas to the north.  Bin stores have been 

indicated on the submitted landscape plan that will enclosed within a treated 

Page 123



 4 

timber faced structures with access doors. The Primary bin sore will be located 
to the south west of the site with direct access for kerb side refuse collection 

along Temple Road. 
 

 
5. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

 

HPK/2007/0807 - Replacement Conservatory At Rear at 3, Temple Road, Buxton, , 
Sk17 9ba 

[APPROVED - 26/11/2007] 
 
HPK/0003/0683 - Conference Room And Wc at 3 The Alison Park Hotel Temple Road 

Buxton 
[APPROVED - 30/07/1991] 

 
HPK/0003/0242 - Foundations & Ret.walls For Modular Seminar Bldg To Be Replaced 
In Future By Single Storey Stone Structure For Primarily In-house Conferences at 

Alison Park Hotel Temple Road Buxton 
[REFUSED - 13/03/1991] 

 
HPK/0002/6762 - Erection Of New External Fire Escape To Replace Existing Internal 
Escape at3 Alison Park Hotel Temple Road Buxton 

[APPROVED - 18/07/1988] 
 

HPK/0002/5710 - Change Of Use Of Residential Home For The Elderly To Hotel With 
Specialised Adaptations For Use By The Disabled at 3 Alison Temple Road Buxton 
[APPROVED - 07/09/1987] 

 
HPK/0000/8625 (Old Reference - 8625/HPK/8/78/743) - For Concrete Garage For Car 

And Caravanette at Alison Homes Limited Temple Road Buxton Derbyshire 
[APPROVED] 
 

HPK/0000/6222 - Alterations To Staff Quarters at 3 Temple Road, Buxton 
[APPROVED] 

 
 

6. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION 

 
High Peak Local Plan 2016 

 
Policy S 1 Sustainable Development Principles 
Policy S 1a Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

Policy S 2 Settlement Hierarchy 
Policy S 7 Buxton Sub-area Strategy 

Policy EQ 1 Climate Change 
Policy EQ 5 Biodiversity 
Policy EQ 6 Design and Place Making 

Policy EQ 7 Built and Historic Environment 
Policy EQ 9 Trees, woodland and hedgerows 

Policy EQ 11 Flood Risk Management 

Page 124



 5 

Policy E 6 Promoting Peak District Tourism and Culture 
Policy H 1 Location of Housing Development 

Policy H 3 New Housing Development 
Policy H 4 Affordable Housing 

Policy CF 6 Accessibility and Transport 
Policy CF 7 Planning Obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy 
 

National Planning Policy Framework 

 

Section 2 - Achieving sustainable development 
Section 5 -Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 
Section 9 -Promoting sustainable transport 

Section 11 -Making effective use of land 
Section 12 -Achieving well-designed places 

Section 14 -Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
Section 15 -Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
Section 16 -Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

 
Supplementary Planning Documents and Guidance 

 
Residential Design SPD (2005) 
High Peak Borough Council Design Guide SPD (2018) 

Water In Buxton (2021) 
 

 
7. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT 

 

Site notice Expiry date for comments: 26 August 2021 
Neighbour letters  Expiry date for comments: 27 July 2021 

Press Advert Expiry date for comments: 12 August 2021 
Re-consultation Expiry date for comments: 26 October 2021 

 

The following is a summary of the key and relevant comments received from consultees 
and interested parties. Their full comments and any accompanying documentation are 

available to view on the Council's website. 
 

Neighbours 

 
7.1 Thirteen objections have been received, following the initial consultation and the 

subsequent re-consultation of the amended plans. Below are the key points 
raised: - 

 

 Several objections support the redevelopment of the site/conversion of the 

existing building in principle, but object to the current proposals; 

 Overdevelopment of the site with too many buildings, over massing of the 
area to utilise nearly every available piece of land for development; 

 Cottages are more substantial and akin to townhouses, they don’t respect 
the character of the neighbouring properties; 

Page 125



 6 

 The proposed development is entirely incongruous, does not respect the 
proportions of the neighbouring properties and will be out of character with 

the conservation area; 

 Extension increasing the massing and leading to a terracing impact; 

 Alterations, including new dormers, amount of glazing, especially to the 
roof area and increase in height, will be harmful to the character of the 

existing building. Glazed balconies do not fit with local architecture; 

 Loss of the entire mature and substantial front and rear garden areas, with 

huge amount of hard standing and paving for car parking and would 
entirely ruin this highly attractive corner of the conservation area; 

 Loss of gardens impacting biodiversity; 

 Proposed lighting looks inappropriate and will increase light pollution; 

 It will add to the existing traffic and parking problems in this area with 

Buxton Community school, Doctors Surgery and visiting public; 

 Potential increase in risk to pedestrians from cars accessing and 

egressing the site; 

 Not enough electric vehicle charging stations; 

 Does not allow adequate external amenity space for all the occupants; 

 Overlooking/loss of privacy to immediate neighbours; 

 Visual intrusion, overbearing and overshadowing; 

 Outdoor amenity space and bin storage area is likely to cause noise and 
nuisance to neighbouring properties’ 

 
7.2 Four comments have been received expressing neither objection nor support. 

Noting potentially important flowers on the site, requesting details of a potential 
legal agreement, explaining the current traffic/parking situation to request 
consideration to be made and a note from the adjacent Buxton medical practice 

to emphasise the need access to the surgery at all times for disabled, and 
vulnerable patients as well as the emergency services. 

 
7.3 One letter of support has been received, stating that ‘…it will bring about a 

significant improvement in the building and provide much needed local 

accommodation within easy walking distance of the town. The proposed 
development will enhance the building and improve the appearance from the 

various changes that were made to the building by previous owners. Several 
large properties nearby in College Rd have been converted into flats and have 
had no impact on traffic and noise to nearby residents. Most noise is generated 

from school traffic and pupils around the area’. 
 

Consultations 
 

 
Consultee 

 

 
Comment 

 
Officer 

response 

 
Town / Parish 

Comments 
No comments at the time of writing. 

 

 

Economic 
Development 

The economic development team provided initial 
comments, dated 19 September 2021, raising 

 

Page 126



 7 

 concern that the applicant had not submitted any 
evidence with the application for change of use, 
stating that ‘therefore regeneration team have no 

option other than to oppose this application until 
such evidence of marketing has been supplied 

and can be assessed’. The comments continue 
by setting out a list of information which they 
consider to be the minimum necessary to assess 

whether an adequate marketing exercise has 
been carried out before the sale of the properties 

for conversion, in reference to the local plan 
Policy E4 Change of Use of Existing Business 
Land and Premises. 

 
Economic development updated their comments 

on 14 October 2021: - 
 
‘Scarborough Tourism Economic Activity Monitor 

(STEAM) data has identified that there were 1.5 
million day visitors to High Peak who have an 

economic impact/spend of £38.90 per person per 
day on average. In contrast, there were lower 
levels of overnight visitors, at 0.14m, who stayed 

an average 3 nights. However, despite the lower 
numbers the economic impact/spend value of 

£238.40 per visit or £79 per person per day is 
more than double that of the day visitor per day 
and the difference cannot be accounted for by 

the costs related to accommodation, as this 
accounts for only 18% of total expenditure. This 

means that staying visitors are worth significantly 
more to the local economy than day visitors, and 
all growth and tourism policies of the Council aim 

to retain/increase the amount of tourist 
accommodation and encourage the conversion of 

day visitors to staying visitors due to the positive 
impact that this has on the local economy. 
 

The Alison Park Hotel in Buxton had fourteen 
ensuite bedrooms, which assuming an average 

occupancy of 60% (industry standard) would 
result in 6132 guest‐days per year. The potential 

loss of this staying audience could result in a 
negative impact of the local economy of a 

potential income £484,428 per annum (or 
£397,230 after accommodation costs are 
removed). This is a significant potential loss 

impacting on local shops and restaurants, 
attractions and the wider supply chain. 

 

Page 127



 8 

The proposed loss of serviced accommodation is 
in direct opposition to policy E 6 ‘Promoting Peak 
District Tourism and Culture’ which states that 

the aim of ‘Retaining and enhancing existing 
serviced accommodation and supporting the 

provision of new serviced accommodation in 
towns and villages in order to encourage 
overnight visitor stays’; 

 
Taking into consideration both the potential 

negative impact on the local economy, and the 
conflict with the adopted policy, together with the 
fact that there appears to have been no attempt 

to advertise or sell the hotel in its existing use 
class, from a regeneration perspective we would 

oppose the change of use until such time as the 
applicant can show that they have approached 
the market and there is no commercial interest in 

taking over the site and operating it as a hotel’. 
 

The comments continue by setting out a list of 
information which they consider to be the 
minimum necessary to assess whether an 

adequate marketing exercise has been carried 
out before the sale of the properties for 

conversion. 
 

Derbyshire 
County 

Council 
Highways 

‘The proposed retention/amendments/closure in 
respect of accesses is considered acceptable. 

 
The level of off-street parking is acceptable 

subject to the correct number of spaces being in 
the relevant areas to accommodate what the 
parking area is serving. Whilst visitor spaces are 

referred to, the number of spaces to be provided 
would not allow for separate additional visitor 

spaces based on two spaces per two/three-
bedroom dwelling or three spaces per four/four 
plus bedroom dwelling. 

 
The provision of cycle parking and electric car 

charging points is welcomed. It is not considered, 
however, that the location of the cycle parking is 
entirely clear and you may consider this should 

be clarified. 
 

It is assumed that refuse/recycling collection 
arrangements are acceptable to the collection 
Authority. 

 

 

Page 128



 9 

Subject to the above, there are no objections to 
the proposal and it is recommended that the 
following conditions are included in any consent’. 

 
The comments continue by suggesting conditions 

to be attached to any grant of planning 
permission relating to: - 
 

 detailed designs to be submitted and 
approved, for space within the site for 

storage of plant and materials, site 
accommodation, loading, unloading and 

manoeuvring of goods vehicles, parking 
and manoeuvring of employees and 
visitors vehicles; 

 the provision of vehicle wheel cleaning 
facilities onsite during the construction 

period; 

 the proposed new vehicular and 
pedestrian access, as well as 

amendments to existing access be carried 
out in accordance with the application and 

that adequate visibility sightlines are 
provided; 

 the redundant vehicular accesses, to be 

permanently closed with a physical barrier 
and the existing vehicle crossover 

reinstated as footway; 

 the parking and turn spaces for cars and 

other vehicles being laid out within the site 
in accordance with the application 
drawing; and 

 no gates or other barriers being installed 
on the accesses to the site; 

 
The comments also provide suggested 
informatives regarding: - 

 

 prior notification being given to the 

highways department regarding access 
works within the highway; 

 the applicants responsibility concerning 
loose material mud or other extraneous 
material being carried out of the site and 

deposited on the public highway; 

 the applicants responsibility concerning 

the closure of any redundant accesses 
and the reinstatement of the footway 
within the limits of the public highway, to 

Page 129



 10 

seek formal written Agreement of the 
County Council as Highway Authority; 

 providing contact details for the Traffic 

Management team to provide advice 
regarding procedures; and 

 confirmation that any necessary 
diversion/protection/relocation of Statutory 

Undertakers apparatus or street furniture 
will be at their expense. 

 

(dated 02 August 2021) 
 

Updated comments were provided on 03 
December 2021, which stated ‘Subject to 
sufficient space for parking spaces 8 and 9 to 

operate satisfactorily, there does not appear to 
be any significant change from the highway point 

of view. On the basis of the above, there are no 
objections to the revised plan and it is 
recommended that the previous conditions and 

notes are included in any consent…’. 
 

Environmental 

Health (Waste 
minimisation 
and 

Recycling) 
 

‘No issues regarding waste collections’ (dated 25 

July 2021). 
 
The comments continue by noting the contact 

details for advice and purchasing large 
communal bins, which they have confirmed 

would be Approx. 4 x 1100 litre bins (refuse and 
recycling) for 10 dwellings. 
 

The comments were updated on 20 October 
2021 following the re-consultation with the added 

note ‘Regarding the large bin store - please 
consider large communal bins rather than 
individual bins. This will help with collections and 

less bins to move’. 
 

 

Environmental 

Health 
(Pollution) 

‘The Environmental Health Department has no 

objection to the proposed development subject to 
the conditions set out below being applied to any 
permission granted’. (dated 8 October 2021) 

 
The suggested conditions include: - 

 

 confirming the noise mitigation measures 

consistent with those presented within the 
approved noise impact assessment; 

 requiring details, as well as a phased risk 

assessment and appropriate remediation 

 

Page 130



 11 

proposals if contamination or evidence of 
likely contamination not previously 
identified is found during development; 

 the control of visible dust emissions 
beyond the site boundary associated with 

construction/demolition works;  

 the confirmation that waste material 

associated with the demolition or 
construction shall not be burnt on site; 

 that The best practicable means reduce 

noise and vibration from the site are 
employed at all times during construction; 

 confirming the times permitted for 
construction & demolition works;  

 details concerning the identification of 
Asbestos; and 

 confirmation of measures to control 

amplified music and/or radios during 
construction/demolition. 

 
Following these comments, the applicant has 

provided an Asbestos Refurbishment / Demolition 
Report. It was also confirmed that the 
recommendations of this report have been 

implemented, and asbestos removed to avoid 
health risks. This report was send to the 
Environmental Health officer and it was agreed in 

the email dated 26 October 2021 that the details 
would avoid the need to add the relevant 

condition. 
 

Severn Trent 

Water Ltd 
The comments dated 02 August 2021 suggest 

the inclusion of a condition being attached to any 
grant of planning permission requiring the 
submission and approval of a scheme for the 

disposal of surface water and foul sewage. The 
comments reference the Planning Practice 

Guidance and section H of the Building 
Regulations 2010 regarding the surface water 
disposal hierarchy. 

 
A suggested informative has also been included 

advising the applicant to contact Severn Trent 
Water to discuss the proposal, concerning 
sewers that have been recently adopted  and to 

assist in obtaining a solution which protects both 
the public sewer and the building. 

 
The above comments were also reflected in the 
updated comments received on 22 October 2021. 

 

Page 131



 12 

Lead Local 
Flood 
Authority 

(LLFA) 

The initial comments dated 09 September 2021 
confirmed that the LLFA recommends a holding 
objection due to a lack of necessary information 

provided in the original submission. It states 
‘These details are required at the early planning 

stage to demonstrate that the proposed site is 
able to drain and that due consideration has been 
given to the space required on site for surface 

water storage’. 
 

In the updated comments dated 06 December 
2021, the Flood Risk Management officer 
confirmed that they were still unable to provide 

an informed comment until the applicant has 
provided further information. The comments 

requested additional information concerning 
greenfield runoff rate calculations, flow controls 
proposed and evidence that Severn Trent Water 

has authorised the 2 connections into the 
surface water sewers and agreed discharge 

rates. 
 
Following discussions between the Flood Risk 

Management officer and the applicant, final 
comments were provided dated 25 January 2022 

and 31 January 2022 to confirm that the LLFA 
has no objection subject to conditions being 
attached to any grant of planning permission. The 

conditions concerned: -  
 

 a detailed design and associated 
management and maintenance plan of the 
surface water drainage for the site; 

 a detailed assessment to demonstrate that 
the proposed destination for surface water 

accords with the drainage hierarchy; 

 details indicating how additional surface 

water run-off from the site will be avoided 
during the construction phase; and 

 a verification report to demonstrate that 

the drainage system has been constructed 
as per the agreed scheme; 

 
A number of advisory/informative notes have also 

been recommended SuDS schemes and their 
future maintenance, the applicant’s 
responsibilities concerning watercourses and 

additional information relating to the requested 
conditions. 

 

Derbyshire ‘As enhancement for breeding birds, WDEC  

Page 132



 13 

Swift 
Conservation 
Project 

Environmental has recommended: “species-
specific bird nest boxes, being incorporated into 
and on any new building/s”. 

 
We have 3 observations regarding these 

recommendations: 
- integrated nest sites should always be the 
default when specifying nest sites; they are less 

subject to temperature variation, removal or 
vandalism and are far more durable and 

aesthetically pleasing than exterior mounted nest 
boxes. 
- current advice on the density of nest bricks is to 

install 1 nest brick per dwelling* 
- the birds most likely to use such nest sites are 

the rapidly declining and red listed house 
sparrow, starling, swift and house martin. All 4 of 
these urban species readily utilise swift bricks 

and these can be considered a “universal” nest 
site, so not restricting the enhancement to one 

species only. 
 
Hence, we request that a condition is imposed to 

ensure this development is built with up to 14 
internal nest bricks designed for Swifts as a 

universal biodiversity enhancement for urban bird 
species’ (dated 23 December 2021) 
 

Conservation 

Officer 
The following comments were provided on 09 

August 2021 based on the original submission. 
Unfortunately, it was not possible to seek 

additional comments on the updated scheme. 
 
‘The property is within the Buxton Conservation 

Area and regarded as a non-designated heritage 
asset. It is in close proximity to several Listed 

Buildings: Nos. 1 & 3 College Road, The Bath 
House on Macclesfield Road and 1-6 Bath Road, 
and there are clear site-lines though to Pavilion 

Gardens (Grade II* Registered Park and 
Garden). The Buxton Character Appraisal notes 

that Alison Park Hotel (APH) was built on a 
prominent corner of College Road and Temple 
Road on a raised platform, and the main 

elevation overlooking Pavilion Gardens in the 
distance was designed as a focal point. It shares 

design characteristics with Nos.1 & 3 College 
Road and others along College Road, built at the 
same period. They were built in the Arts and 

Crafts Style, making bold design statements, set 

 

Page 133



 14 

in spacious gardens with thickly planted 
boundaries. APH is identified in the character 
appraisal as being an important architect-

designed building with other buildings of similar 
styling and status in the immediate area. 

Although APH has witnessed some minor 
unsympathetic alterations to some elevations, 
including piecemeal dormers, window alterations 

and small additions, its over-riding design quality, 
architectural intent and presence on the street is 

maintained. Its set back from the road, elevated 
position and green, open frontage adds greatly to 
the feeling of spaciousness around this road 

junction. The impact of the sweeping front garden 
and how it connected with the gardens of 

adjoining properties and Pavilion Gardens can be 
seen in the 1927 ariel photo in the Heritage 
Statement. 

 
Key features of the building include the Arts and 

Crafts detailing including the corner stone towers, 
the repetition of the half-timbered gables (some 
jettied out at the first floor), the stone mullions, 

leaded lights, oriel windows and chimneys. The 
building is designed to face each road as well as 

addressing the corner. 
 
The Heritage Statement notes that APH was 

designed by W. R. Bryden (along with The 
Towers, College Road) and built in 1904. It notes 

that the building displays some important 
architectural elements, including its asymmetric 
plan form, its Tudor-style timber detailing, jettied 

windows, ashlar dressings and mock towers. It 
confirms that its significance is in the 

preservation of its original fabric, its Arts and 
Crafts/Tudor Revival architectural detailing and 
its historic value as a hotel. It comments, 

however, that its overall significance has been 
severely eroded by modern alterations and 

additions on all of its elevations and deterioration 
in its fabric has also reduced significance. 
 

It notes that the grounds have become 
overgrown and unkempt but the building and 

those in the area retain the historic character of 
the area. 
 

It should be noted that the Heritage Statement 
incorrectly identifies the Listed Bath House which 

Page 134



 15 

is actually the 18th century house on 
Macclesfield Road, towards Pavilion Gardens. 
 

Assessment of Significance 
 

The Heritage Statement is useful in 
understanding the site and its significance, it 
clearly highlights the fact that this architect-

designed building remains a landmark in the 
Conservation Area and has a group value with 

other buildings of the same age and character in 
the area. The Arts and Craft, Tudor inspired 
architecture and its characteristic setting in 

spacious, landscaped grounds all add to the 
building’s significance. I consider that the 

Heritage Statement underplays the grandeur of 
the building, failing to include key views (such as 
from College Road and from the frontage), no 

analysis of key features of the building or historic 
photos. There is no detailed assessment of the 

number of external modern alterations and I 
would not agree that the significance of the 
building has been severely eroded by modern 

alterations and additions. An assessment of 
these elevations show that the three elevations 

have only received two, small lean-too 
extensions to create bay windows and an 
unsightly dormer window facing Temple Road. In 

addition there are a scatter of UPVC windows, 
but the majority of windows to the main 

elevations are historic. All of these alterations are 
easily reversible and the survival rate of the 
buildings features and preservation of its garden 

setting is high. The Heritage Statement fails to 
mention the raising of the height of historic 

gables and ridges and the impact this will have 
on significance. 
 

Proposal 
 

The application seeks radical change both in 
raising the height of key parts of the building, 
increasing its footprint and introducing prominent 

new elements to key elevations. It also seeks to 
introduce car parking across the majority of the 

landscaped grounds. The proposal totally fails to 
work with the historic and architectural 
significance of the building and its setting. 

Particularly harmful elements include: 

 The extension facing College Road which 

Page 135



 16 

will not be a visually subordinate addition 
and will harm one of the key historic views 
of the building with its four half-timbered 

gables 

 Raising the height of three half-timbered 

gables and interfering with their 
architectural detailing 

 The dominant dormer window facing 
Temple Road which jars with the building’s 
architecture 

 The proposed balconies to the front 
elevation and altering the historic dormer 

 Introducing a dormer above one of the 
corner towers 

 The proliferation of rooflights 

 Porches which visually disrupt the historic 

legibility of the building and its historic 
access points.  

 Creating a basement apartment and 

excavating the ground on the NE elevation 
which will be a discordant feature  

 The extent of car parking and 
hardstanding in place of the landscaped 
garden setting 

 
The Heritage Statement has highlighted the 

importance of the survival of historic fabric and its 
architectural detailing but the proposal sets out to 
erode this, creating a building of similar form and 

scale throughout, interfering with historic details 
and introducing new, prominent elements which 

will detract from the historic architecture. It 
represents less than substantial harm to the 
character and appearance of the Conservation 

Area and setting of the nearby Listed Buildings. 
 

This constitutes a substantial planning objection 
and I would suggest substantial revision or 
withdrawal. 

 
 

Arboricultural 

Officer 
‘The proposals impact on several mature trees to 

be retained within the curtilage of the property . 
 
All these trees are protected by virtue of being 

within the Conservation area. A combination of 
existing hard surfacing and or ground level being 

retained such that a three dimension geogrid 
construction can be used to support hard 

 

Page 136



 17 

surfacing and limit damage to the root system 
 
Subject to these proposed works being 

undertaken to BS5837:2021 and a suitable 
method statement being submitted and 

supervised and implemented in full there is no 
overriding arboricultural objection to the 
proposals 

 
However the property and its setting is prominent 

within the Conservation area at the junction of 
Temple Road and College Road. It was clearly 
designed as a focal point. The property was 

deliberately set within spacious gardens with 
thickly planted boundaries of hedging such as 

beech. The proposals do not respect the historic 
landscape setting of this property or its prominent 
location. A number of trees and hedges were 

removed prior to the application being submitted 
the landscaping should also aim to redress the 

loss of these trees as well. 
 
The proposals consist of very unsympathetically 

designed car parking. I consider that the 
landscaping and parking element of the 

proposals need to be carefully considered to 
ensure that the original character of this corner 
plot is respected and that there is sustainable 

planting of trees, shrubs and hedges designed 
such that they limit the visual impact of the 

parking and respect the original arts and crafts 
garden design. 
 

This will require a redesign of the layout of the 
parking and a reduction in the area of hard 

surfacing were possible’ (dated 15 December 
2021) 
 

HPBC Parks 

Team 
 

Obviously with it being a small development we 
wouldn’t be requesting any on‐site open space or 

recreational provision so would be seeking off 
site contributions. 
 

Whist the current SPD is hopefully being 
updated, we are using 11 units as the threshold 

for contributions (which is what I think will be 
included in the new SPD), so with this being 14 
we would be seeking the following:‐ 

‐ Play towards the Pavilion Gardens ‐ 

£192 x 14 = £2,688 

 

Page 137



 18 

‐ Parks and Gardens towards the Pavilion 
Gardens ‐ £571 x 14 = £7,994 

‐ Outdoor sports to within a 2km radius of 

the development site ‐ £489.40 x 14 = 

£6,851.60 
 

Strategic 

Housing  
 

‘From an affordable housing perspective I have 

the following comments: 

 Local Plan policy H4 requires a 20% 
affordable housing contribution on sites 5-

24 units (amended to 10 units, following 
guidance in the Ministerial Statement). 

 The vacant structure on site, formally the 
Alison Park Hotel ceased trading on 

1/06/20. 

 Through the PPG, the government has 
introduced the Vacant Building credit, 

which provides an incentive for brownfield 
development on sites containing vacant 

buildings. The guidance states para 28,  
that the credit applies to  where the 
building has not been abandoned. In 

deciding whether a use has been 
abandoned, account should be taken of all 

off relevant circumstances such as: 
• Condition of the property 
• The period of non-use 

• Whether there is an intervening 
use: and 

• Any evidence regarding the owners 
intention. 

 In considering how the vacant building 

credit should apply to a particular 
development the council should consider: 

• Whether the building has been 
made vacant for the sole 
purpose of redevelopment 

• Whether the building is covered by 
an extant or recently expired 

planning permission for the 
same or substantially the same 
development.  

 It’s for you to judge if you feel the building 
meets the PPG criteria. My view is that the 

building hasn’t been vacant for long and 
as mentioned by colleagues from 
Economic Development no evidence of 

lack of demand for business use has been 
submitted.  

 

 

Page 138



 19 

 If you were minded to implement the VBC, 
then a ‘credit’ would be applied which is 

equivalent of the gross floorspace of any 
relevant vacant building being bought back 
into use or demolished as part of the 

scheme and deducted from the overall 
affordable housing contribution calculation. 

If based on the evidence you felt the case 
for VBC hadn’t been met, we would seek 
to secure a contribution in line with policy 

H4’. 
 

(dated 02 September 2021) 
 
In further updates, it was confirmed that Strategic 

Housing would be looking to secure an off-site 
contribution in this instance, as the provision of 3 

units on site would be complicated given the 
shared access to the apartments and shared 
communal gardens. 

 

 
 

8. POLICY AND MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS AND PLANNING BALANCE  

 
Principle of Development 

 
8.1 The proposal is for the conversion and alterations (including demolition of 

existing extensions and garage) to the former Alison Park Hotel building, to form 
10 apartments, 2 town houses, and 3 cottages, along with changes to access, 
new parking, landscaping and associated works. 

 
8.2 Policy S 1 ‘Sustainable Development Principles’ states that ‘The Borough 

Council will expect that all new development makes a positive contribution 
towards the sustainability of communities and to protecting, and where possible 
enhancing, the environment; and mitigating the process of climate change, within 

the Plan Area. This will be achieved by: 
 

 Making effective use of land (including the remediation of contaminated land 
and reuse of brownfield land), buildings and existing infrastructure; 

 Making efficient use of land by ensuring that the density of proposals is 

appropriate (and informed by the surrounding built environment); 

 Taking account of the distinct Peak District character, landscape, townscape, 

roles and setting of different areas and settlements in the High Peak; 

 Protecting and enhancing the natural and historic environment of the High 

Peak and its surrounding areas including the Peak District National Park; 

 Providing for a mix of types and tenures of quality homes to meet the needs 

and aspirations of existing and future residents in sustainable locations; 

 Minimising the need to travel by promoting development in locations where 
there is access to a broad range of jobs, services and facilities which are 

Page 139



 20 

accessible by foot, cycle or public transport with minimal reliance on the 
private car; 

 Requiring that all new development addresses flood risk 
mitigation/adaptation, ensuring for example that sustainable drainage 

systems are considered at the outset within proposals (and to comply with 
legislative requirements); 

 Seeking to secure high quality, locally distinctive and inclusive design in all 

development that can be accessed and used by everyone including disabled 
people; 

 Seeking to secure developments provide a high standard of amenity for all 
existing and future occupants of land and buildings, ensuring communities 

have a healthy, safe and attractive living and working environment and the 
risks from potential hazards are minimised 

 

8.3 In all cases development should not conflict with the relevant policies in this 
Local Plan. Development should be designed to be sustainable; seek to enhance 

the environment; have regard to both its direct and indirect cumulative impact 
over the longer term; and should provide any necessary mitigating or 
compensatory measures to address harmful implications’. 

 
8.4 Policy S 1a ‘Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development’ states that 

‘When considering development proposals the Council will take a positive 
approach that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development 
contained in the National Planning Policy Framework. It will always work pro-

actively with applicants jointly to find solutions which mean that proposals can be 
approved wherever possible, and to secure development that improves the 

economic, social and environmental conditions in the area’. 
 
8.5 Policy S 2 ‘Settlement Hierarchy’ states that ‘Development will be directed 

towards the most sustainable locations in accordance with the following 
settlement hierarchy’. The hierarchy lists Market Towns at the top, of which 

Buxton is the first one listed; it continues by stating that these towns ‘will be the 
main focus for housing, employment and service growth, consistent with 
maintaining and where possible enhancing their role, distinctive character vitality 

and appearance’. 
 

8.6 Policy S 7 ‘Buxton Sub-area Strategy’ states that The Council and its partners 
will seek to establish Buxton as England’s leading spa town and consolidate its 
role as the principal service centre for the Peak District. This will be achieved by: 

 
1. Protecting and enhancing the unique character of Buxton’s spa 

heritage, townscape and natural environment to maintain the quality of life 
and act as a catalyst for tourism by …Protecting and enhancing the 
historic environment [and] Continuing to support regeneration projects that 

protect and enhance the town's spa heritage and historic character… 
2. Providing for the housing needs of the community by planning for 

sustainable housing and mixed-use developments by Supporting the 
development of new housing on sustainable sites within the built up area 
boundary primarily in Buxton’. 

 

Page 140



 21 

8.7 The policy continues by stating that it will also aim to achieve the goals set by 
‘Protecting the quality and supply of natural mineral water. Development, 

including proposals for Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) should have 
regard to the Buxton Mineral Water Catchment Area, and Nitrate Vulnerable and 

Groundwater Source Protection Zones in terms of their impact on water quality 
and quantity’. 

 

8.8 In terms of the loss of the hotel use, Policy E 6 ‘Promoting Peak District Tourism 
and Culture’ states that ‘The Borough Council will support the development of 

Peak District tourism and culture. This will be achieved by…Retaining and 
enhancing existing serviced accommodation and supporting the provision of new 
serviced accommodation in towns and villages in order to encourage overnight 

visitor stays’. 
 

8.9 Whilst the economic development team provided initial comments citing Policy 
E4 ‘Change of Use of Existing Business Land and Premises’, they later updated 
their comments, stating that ‘The proposed loss of serviced accommodation is in 

direct opposition to policy E 6…’. The comments continue by stating that object 
‘…until such time as the applicant can show that they have approached the 

market and there is no commercial interest in taking over the site and operating it 
as a hotel’. 

 

8.10 Policy E6 does not emphasise the need to demonstrate poor suitability or 
commercially viability for a serviced accommodation via marketing evidence in 

the same way that it does for Policy E4. Whilst the policy does aim to retain and 
enhance existing serviced accommodation, this is carried out with less of a strict 
test and more of a balanced decision, based on the merits of the application. 

 
8.11 The information provided by the Economic Development team relates the 

benefits of visitors staying overnight in the borough/town, which are significant, 
and they also describe the potential occupancy per year; however, they don’t 
necessarily reflect the actual accommodation provided, which in specific 

instances appears to be poor quality. The applicant has stated that the overall 
condition of the building is poor and that the property, along with the grounds, 

now appear visibly run down and badly in need of attention and new investment. 
It is obvious at the time of visiting site that there have been various 
unsympathetic changes and additions over the years; including removal of the 

majority of the original leaded windows, addition of porches, a conservatory, 
various alterations to the roof. 

 
8.12 In terms of the creation of new residential accommodation on the site, Policy H 1 

‘Location of Housing Development’ states that ‘The Council will ensure provision 

is made for housing taking into account all other policies in this Local Plan 
by…Promoting the effective reuse of land by encouraging housing development 

including redevelopment, infill, conversion of existing dwellings and the change 
of use of existing buildings to housing, on all sites suitable for that purpose’  

 

8.13 Policy H 3 ‘New Housing Development’ states that ‘The Council will require all 
new residential development to address the housing needs of local people by: a) 

Meeting the requirements for affordable housing within the overall provision of 

Page 141



 22 

new residential development as set out in Policy H4…c) Providing a mix of 
housing that contributes positively to the promotion of a sustainable and inclusive 

community taking into account the characteristics of the existing housing stock in 
the surrounding locality, [and] e) Supporting dwellings designed to provide 

flexible accommodation which is capable of future adaptation by seeking to 
achieve adequate internal space for the intended number of occupants in 
accordance with the Nationally Described Space Standard and delivered to meet 

accessibility standards set out in the Optional Requirement M4(2) of Part M of 
the Building Regulations’. 

 
8.14 ‘Where the provision of affordable houses proposed is below the requirements 

set out above, the Council will require applicants to provide evidence by way of a 

financial appraisal to justify a reduced provision. Affordable housing provision 
should normally be provided within the development site itself and in perpetuity. 

In exceptional cases, the Council may allow provision off-site or a financial 
contribution of broadly equivalent value’. 

 

8.15 The proposal will make effective reuse of land by changing of use of an existing 
building and redeveloping a site within an existing residential area to create 

additional housing, and in this case, based on the location and the overall size of 
the site, it is considered suitable for that purpose. The proposed development will 
make efficient use of a vacant building, and in a location (Buxton) that is 

expected to play an important role in meeting the growth needs of the Borough. 
 

8.16 In this case the nature and mix of the properties proposed are considered to 
contribute positively to the promotion of a sustainable and inclusive community, 
which is described in the Council’s latest Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

and Housing Need Report dated April 2014 (SHMA), which identifies a need for 
flats/apartments and promotes the provision of 2 bed accommodation. Details of 

the affordable housing have been addressed in the appropriate sections below. 
 
8.17 In terms of the provision of the new dwellings/apartments, the Council has 

published its Five Year Housing Land Supply Update which indicates that the 
Council cannot currently demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing. Paragraph 11 

of the NPPF states that ‘Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in 
favour of sustainable development’ noting that for decision-taking this means: d) 
where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are 

most important for determining the application are out-of-date (i.e. where the 
local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable 

housing sites), granting permission unless: …i. the application of policies in this 
Framework that protect areas or assets of particular importance provides a clear 
reason for refusing the development proposed’, which includes designated 

heritage assets. This considered in further detail below 
 

8.18 The principal is acceptable, subject to the considerations below, and in particular 
those relating to heritage assets. 

 
Design & Heritage 

 

Page 142



 23 

8.19 Policy EQ 6 ‘Design and Place Making’ states that ‘All development should be 
well designed and of a high quality that responds positively to both its 

environment and the challenge of climate change, whilst also contributing to local 
distinctiveness and sense of place’. This policy continues ‘Requiring 

development to be well designed to respect the character, identity and context of 
High Peak's townscapes and landscapes’ and ‘Requiring that development 
contributes positively to an area's character, history and identity in terms of 

scale, height, density, layout, appearance, materials, and the relationship to 
adjacent buildings and landscape features’. 

 
8.20 Policy EQ 7 ‘Built and Historic Environment’, states that ‘The Council will 

conserve heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their significance. This will 

take into account the desirability of sustaining and enhancing their significance 
and will ensure that development proposals contribute positively to the character 

of the built and historic environment in accordance with sub area strategies S5, 
S6 and S7. Particular protection will be given to designated and non-designated 
heritage assets and their settings including: …Conservation Areas’  

 
8.21 It continues ‘This will be achieved by: …Requiring development proposals in 

Conservation Areas to demonstrate how the proposal has taken account of the 
distinctive character and setting of individual Conservation Areas including open 
spaces and natural features and how this has been reflected in the layout, 

design, form, scale, mass, use of traditional materials and detailing, in 
accordance with Character Appraisals where available’. 

 
8.22 It also states that ‘This will be achieved by: …Preventing the loss of buildings 

and features which make a positive contribution to the character or heritage of an 

area through preservation or appropriate reuse and sensitive development, 
including enabling development, unless it can be demonstrated that the 

substantial harm or loss is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that 
outweigh that harm or loss or other relevant provisions of the NPPF apply. 

 

8.23 The property is within the Buxton Conservation Area and regarded as a non-
designated heritage asset. It is in close proximity to several Listed Buildings: 

Nos. 1 & 3 College Road, The Bath House on Macclesfield Road and 1-6 Bath 
Road, and there are clear site-lines though to Pavilion Gardens (Grade II* 
Registered Park and Garden).  

 
8.24 The Buxton Character Appraisal notes that Alison Park Hotel was designed by 

W. R. Bryden in 1904 along with No.2 College Road. It states that ‘The Alison 
Park Hotel, built on the prominent corner of College Road and Temple Road was 
set upon a raised platform and this main elevation, overlooking Pavilion Gardens 

in the distance, was designed as a focal point. It shares design characteristics 
with Nos. 1 & 3 College Road, which was built at the same time as the other, 

more conservative, properties on College Road’. 
 
8.25 The Character appraisal notes that ‘Although only Nos. 1 & 3 College Road are 

listed, there are still a number of important individual, architect-designed 
buildings; Temple Court, 12, 14, 26 & 30, 3 (Alison Park Hotel) & 2 College 

Road, 11, 25 & 27 & 29’. The application site is identified as being an important 

Page 143



 24 

architect-designed building with other buildings of similar styling and status in the 
immediate area. 

 
8.26 It is noted by the Conservation Officer that although the application property has 

witnessed some minor unsympathetic alterations to some elevations, including 
piecemeal dormers, window alterations and small additions, its over-riding 
design quality, architectural intent and presence on the street is maintained. Its 

set back from the road, elevated position and green, open frontage adds greatly 
to the feeling of spaciousness around this road junction. The impact of the 

sweeping front garden and how it connected with the gardens of adjoining 
properties and Pavilion Gardens can be seen in the 1927 ariel photo in the 
Heritage Statement. 

 
8.27 The application seeks consent for the conversion, alterations and extensions of 

the existing hotel/residential building to form 9 new, two bedroom and 1 one 
bedroom apartments, siting 3 two bedroom cottages to the ‘rear’ of the property 
adjacent to the southern boundary and 1 three bedroom and 1 four bedroom 

townhouse. The proposal includes the three storey extension to south elevation 
in the south east corner of the site, adjacent to the boundary with No.4 Collage 

Road, and a circulation core positioned centrally to all apartments to the rear of 
the building, as well as various alterations to the external elevations. 

 

8.28 The High Peak Borough Council Design Guide SPD, chapter 5, paragraph 5.5 
states that ‘All extensions should harmonise with the parent building. An 

extension should respect the dominance of the original building and be 
subordinate to it in terms of its size and massing. Setting back the new section 
from the building line and keeping the eaves and ridge lower than the parent 

building will normally help’. Paragraph 5.6 states that ‘In some circumstances it 
may be acceptable to consider extensions which do not emulate the style of the 

original building. A more contemporary approach to an extension in terms of 
style and materials, will provide a more honest recognition of the building’s 
evolution and retain its historic integrity. These need to be handled carefully and 

must respond to the scale and character of the host building’. 
 

8.29 Paragraph 5.8 states that ‘Irrespective of size, however, all buildings can reach a 
threshold point beyond which further extension is just not possible without 
destroying their character’. 

 
8.30 The Conservation Officer reviewed the original submission, after which the 

applicant was given the opportunity to amend the scheme. It was not agreed that 
the significance of the building has been severely eroded by modern alterations 
and additions.  

 
8.31 The Conservation Officer in assessing the existing property concluded that, the 

three main facing elevations have only received two, small lean-too extensions to 
create bay windows and an unsightly dormer window facing Temple Road. In 
addition there are a scatter of UPVC windows, but the majority of windows to the 

main elevations are historic. All of these alterations are easily reversible and the 
survival rate of the buildings features and preservation of its garden setting is 

high.  

Page 144



 25 

 
8.32 Unfortunately, it was not possible to seek additional comments on the updated 

scheme; however, despite amendment, the application still seeks radical change 
both in raising the height of key parts of the building, increasing its footprint and 

introducing prominent new elements to key elevations. It also seeks to introduce 
car parking across the majority of the landscaped grounds. The Conservation 
Officer listed the particularly harmful elements of the original submission. 

Following amendment the following elements do not appear to have been 
addressed: -  

 

 Despite the amendment to continue the existing roofline, the extension facing 
College Road will not be a visually subordinate addition and will harm one of 

the key historic views of the building with its four half-timbered gables; 

 Raising the height of three half-timbered gables and interfering with their 

architectural detailing; 

 The dominant dormer window facing Temple Road which jars with the 

building’s architecture; 

 Whilst the proposed first floor balconies were removed from the north 
elevation the upper ground floor will feature a new covered balcony below, 

which due to the excavated ground to create a lower ground floor terrace, will 
appear to sit at higher level; 

 Creating a basement apartment and excavating the ground on the NE 
elevation which will be a discordant feature  

 The replacement of the dormer on the north elevation with a taller dormer 
with a vertical emphasis; 

  Introducing a dormer above one of the corner towers; 

 The extent of car parking and hardstanding in place of the landscaped garden 
setting 

 
8.33 The Conservation officer continues by stating that ‘The Heritage Statement has 

highlighted the importance of the survival of historic fabric and its architectural 
detailing but the proposal sets out to erode this, creating a building of similar 
form and scale throughout, interfering with historic details and introducing new, 

prominent elements which will detract from the historic architecture. It represents 
less than substantial harm to the character and appearance of the Conservation 

Area and setting of the nearby Listed Buildings’. 
 
8.34 In addition to the comments from the Conservation Officer, the Arboricultural 

Officer has provided comments to the amended scheme. They note that the 
proposals impact on several mature trees to be retained within the curtilage of 

the property, which are protected by virtue of being within the Conservation Area. 
Whist there was no overriding arboricultural objection to the technical information 
provided, subject to these proposed works being undertaken to BS5837:2021 

and a suitable method statement being submitted and supervised and 
implemented in full, the Officer expressed concerns regarding the property and 

its setting is prominent within the Conservation area at the junction of Temple 
Road and College Road.  

 

8.35 They stated that ‘It was clearly designed as a focal point. The property was 
deliberately set within spacious gardens with thickly planted boundaries of 

Page 145



 26 

hedging such as beech. The proposals do not respect the historic landscape 
setting of this property or its prominent location. A number of trees and hedges 

were removed prior to the application being submitted the landscaping should 
also aim to redress the loss of these trees as well. The proposals consist of very 

unsympathetically designed car parking. I consider that the landscaping and 
parking element of the proposals need to be carefully considered to ensure that 
the original character of this corner plot is respected and that there is sustainable 

planting of trees, shrubs and hedges designed such that they limit the visual 
impact of the parking and respect the original arts and crafts garden design’. 

 
8.36 Therefore, in line with the professional advice given by the Council’s 

Conservation Officer and Arboricultural Officer, the current proposal is 

considered to be inappropriate within the historic context of the building, harming 
its individual character and appearance and that of the surrounding area, and it 

is considered not preserve or enhance the character of the Conservation Area. 
This proposal will in fact cause less than substantial harm to the historic asset. 

 

8.37 As set out in paragraph 202 of the NPPF where development would cause less 
than substantial harm, this harm should be weight against the public benefits of 

the proposal. Paragraph 203 states that ‘The effect of an application on the 
significance of a non-designated heritage asset should be taken into account in 
determining the application. In weighing applications that directly or indirectly 

affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required 
having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the 

heritage asset’. In defining the term public benefits Paragraph: 020, Reference 
ID: 18a-020-20190723 of the Planning practice guidance ‘Historic environment - 
Advises on enhancing and conserving the historic environment’ states that 

‘Public benefits may follow from many developments and could be anything that 
delivers economic, social or environmental objectives as described in the 

National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 8). Public benefits should flow 
from the proposed development. They should be of a nature or scale to be of 
benefit to the public at large and not just be a private benefit’. 

 
8.38 In this instance the public benefits are likely to be the retention of the existing 

non-designated heritage asset and its future preservation, the benefits that this 
would have on the wider Conservation Area and the setting of the adjacent 
Listed Buildings, and the creation of additional housing at a time of housing 

under supply.  
 

8.39 However, the applicant has stated that the hotel officially closed for business in 
June 2020, but had been vacant for some months before this due to Covid-19 
restrictions. Whilst the property may be tired and in need of investment, the 

description appears to confirm that it operated as a hotel until the pandemic 
required the closure of all tourist accommodation. In correspondence provided by 

the applicant’s agent, the agent responsible for the sale of the hotel state that 
they were initially invited to view and value the property on 26th April 2018. This 
correspondence states ‘During my discussions with the vendors, they informed 

me that they did not wish the property to appear on any property portals or 
indeed to be generally marketed in the normal way, i.e. brochures, For Sale 

Page 146



 27 

boards  etc, due to the fact that The Alison Park Hotel was a going concern’. The 
agents also confirmed that they had no developer contacts in the hotel industry.  

 
8.40 It is therefore considered that the reason that the building became vacant was 

the social restrictions placed on the country as a whole and with the aid provided 
by the government it is reasonable to assume that the hotel business could have 
resumed following the lifting of restrictions, as may other similar businesses did.  

 
8.41 Whilst the Council cannot demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing and the 

proposal provides mix of the properties in line with the Council’s Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment and Housing Need Report (SHMA), this is 
considered not to tilt the planning balance so as to outweigh the harm of the 

proposed external alterations and the impact that these have on the character 
and appearance of the non-designated heritage, the wider character of the area 

and Conservation Area and the setting of the adjacent Listed Buildings. 
 
8.42 The proposal will fail to preserve or enhance the character of the Conservation 

Area and will in fact cause less than substantial harm to it without providing 
sufficient benefit to the public at large, enough to tilt the planning balance favour 

of the proposal. It is considered that the proposal will have a significant, harmful 
impact on the character and appearance of the property, a non-designated 
heritage asset and the surrounding area. The development is therefore 

considered to be contrary to Policies S1, EQ6, and EQ 7, of the High Peak Local 
Plan, the guidance contained within the Residential Design SPD, High Peak 

Design Guide, and Sections 12 and 16 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
Amenity 

 

8.43 Policy EQ 6 ‘Design and Place Making’ requires that ‘…development achieves a 
satisfactory relationship to adjacent development and does not cause 
unacceptable effects by reason of visual intrusion, overlooking, shadowing, 

overbearing effect, noise, light pollution or other adverse impacts on local 
character and amenity. 

 
8.44 The property sits on the corner of the two adjoining highways Temple Road to 

the North and West and College Road to the East. The application site shares a 

boundary with two residential properties, No.5 Temple Road to the southwest 
and No.4 College Road to the south east. It was noted that the properties at No.5 

Temple Road and No.4 College Road both sit at a higher ground level to the 
application site with the ground floor level of the property at No.5 Temple Road 
being at the approx. level of the roof of the existing extension to the rear (south) 

of the main application building. The ground level of No.4 College Road appears 
to be approx. 1.5m above that of the application building. 

 
8.45 The Council’s Residential Design SPD, paragraph 9.2 states that ‘Domestic 

extensions should be of a scale and be designed and positioned to avoid undue 

harm to the amenity of neighbouring properties. They must have regard to the 
orientation of adjacent homes, the number and position of windows and land 

levels’.  

Page 147



 28 

 
8.46 Paragraph 8.6.1 states that ‘As a guide a distance of 21 metres between 

habitable room windows of adjacent properties will provide an acceptable level of 
amenity. Where changes in levels on site are evident or where taller buildings 

are present, these distances should increase by 1 metre for every 0.5 metre 
difference in height between the smaller to the taller building’ and paragraph 8.8 
states that ‘The layout and format of windows will be important in establishing 

views, overlooking and privacy. Where buildings are located closer than 21 
metres, the layout of windows and doors should avoid creating direct views from 

properties’. 
 
8.47 In this instance there is an existing relationship between the application building 

and the two adjacent neighbouring properties, with the first and second floor 
elements at the ‘rear’ being approx. 19m to the closest boundary with No.4 

Collage Road and the side element of the Temple Road elevation being approx. 
15m from the closest boundary with No.5 Temple Road. Although there is 
development in the form of the glazed circulation space and a new dormer on 

these aspects, neither of these are considered to significantly alter that 
relationship. 

 
8.48 The fundamental aspects that create the potential for additional impacts, 

particularly in terms of overlooking, to these two neighbouring properties is 

considered to be the extension to the south east elevation to create the 
additional townhouse, and the proposed dormer cottages to the south of the 

application site.  
 
8.49 In this instance, the neither the proposed townhouse nor the end cottage 

includes windows to the side (south) elevations. Each are however orientated so 
that the rear elevations to face the rear elevations of the neighbouring properties 

with the cottages facing No.4 Collage Road and the townhouse facing No.5 
Temple Road; the distances between these elevations are approx. 24m and 32m 
respectively. Therefore impact therefore in terms of overlooking is considered 

unlikely to be significant. 
 

8.50 The location of these two closest neighbouring properties to the south of the 
applications site means that they are unlikely to have any impact in terms of 
overshadowing and the separation distances noted above, as well as the ground 

level differences between the sites and the lack of any main windows serving 
habitable room, on the side elevations of these properties means that any impact 

in terms of overbearing are considered unlikely to be significant.  
 
8.51 The orientation of the proposed extensions and new buildings on the application 

site does create the potential for overlooking between the proposed properties 
with the windows of the townhouses overlooking, down over the cottages at a 

distance of approx. 15m and a potential overshadowing and overbearing impact 
on the bedrooms of the new ground floor apartment No.2 from the adjacent 
cottages. Whilst this relationship is not ideal, the proposed accommodation will 

be open market dwellings and therefore subject to “Caveat Emptor”. 
 

Page 148



 29 

8.53 The proposal is therefore considered unlikely to have a significant, harmful 
impact on the amenity of the neighbouring properties. The development is 

therefore considered to be in accordance with Policies S1, and EQ6, the 
guidance contained within the Residential Design SPD, High Peak Design 

Guide, and Section 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Highway Safety, Parking and Access 

 
8.53 Policy EQ 6 ‘Design and Place Making’ requires that ‘…developments are easy 

to move through and around, incorporating well integrated car parking, 
pedestrian routes and, where appropriate, cycle routes and facilities’. Policy CF 6 
‘Accessibility and Transport’ states that development should not ‘lead to an 

increase in on street parking to the detriment of the free and safe flow of traffic’. 
 

8.54 The Derbyshire County Council Highways team have reviewed the submitted 
details and have confirmed that ‘The proposed retention/amendments/closure in 
respect of accesses is considered acceptable’ and ‘The level of off-street parking 

is acceptable subject to the correct number of spaces being in the relevant areas 
to accommodate what the parking area is serving’. Subject to the above, no 

objections are raised to the proposal and it is recommended that the advised 
conditions are included in any consent. 

 

8.55 Therefore the proposal is considered to comply with local plan policy CF6 in this 
regard. 

 
Trees 

 

8.56 Policy EQ 6 ‘Design and Place Making’ requires that ‘…public and private 
spaces are well-designed, safe, attractive, complement the built form and 

provide for the retention of significant landscape features such as mature trees’. 
 
8.57 Policy EQ 9 ‘Trees, woodland and hedgerows’ states that ‘The Council will 

protect existing trees, woodlands and hedgerows, in particular, ancient 
woodland, veteran trees and ancient or species-rich hedgerows from loss or 

deterioration’. In doing so, the policy requires that ‘…existing woodlands, healthy, 
mature trees and hedgerows are retained and integrated within a proposed 
development unless the need for, and benefits of, the development clearly 

outweigh their loss’. 
 

8.58 The site has a number of mature trees around the site, located along the street 
and on the site western boundary along Temple Road. The boundary treatment 
comprises of early to semimature Beech, Privet and Lilac hedgerows to the East 

and West boundaries and timber fencing to the Northern boundary.  The 
applicant has provided details in the arboricultural survey and constraints report. 

 
8.59 The Councils Arboricultural Officer has reviewed these submitted details and 

states that ‘A combination of existing hard surfacing and or ground level being 

retained such that a three dimension geogrid construction can be used to 
support hard surfacing and limit damage to the root system’ 

 

Page 149



 30 

8.60 ‘Subject to these proposed works being undertaken to BS5837:2021 and a 
suitable method statement being submitted and supervised and implemented in 

full there is no overriding arboricultural objection to the proposals’. They did 
however raise concern regarding the character of the site, the surrounding area 

and the Conservation Area, which have been dealt with in the design and 
heritage section above. 

 
Biodiversity 

 

8.61 Policy EQ 5 ‘Biodiversity’, states that ‘The biodiversity and geological resources 
of the Plan Area and its surroundings will be conserved and where possible 
enhanced by ensuring that development proposals will not result in significant 

harm to biodiversity or geodiversity interests’. 
 

8.62 The applicant has submitted a Bat Roost Appraisal Survey Report which found 
that there was no evidence of bats (of any species) was discovered anywhere 
within the building and that there was no evidence of a barn owl discovered 

anywhere within the building. The report did however conclude that additional 
surveys would be required in this instance due to the high potential for bats for a 

building of this age and type. 
 
8.63 A further report of the Preliminary Bat Roost Assessment and Bat Activity 

Surveys was provided which concluded that no bats were observed emerging or 
re-entering the building with the only activity taking place outside the site, 

particularly focused on Collage Road. The report included some 
recommendations that should be carried out for all future works on the site and 
could be included on any scheme granted on the site. 

 
8.64 The Derbyshire Swift Conservation Project commented on the application, noting 

the enhancement for breeding birds, recommending “species-specific bird nest 
boxes, being incorporated into and on any new building/s”. they have provided 
observations regarding these recommendations concerning integrated nest sites, 

density of nest bricks and utilising ‘swift bricks’ as they can be considered a 
“universal” nest site, so not restricting the enhancement to one species only. 

They recommend that a condition be added to ensure compliance with the 
recommendations. 

 

8.65 Subject to these conditions the proposal is considered to comply with local plan 
policy EQ5 in this regard. 

 
Drainage 

 

8.66 Policy EQ 11 ‘Flood Risk Management’ states that ‘The Council will support 
development proposals that avoid areas of current or future flood risk and which 

do not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere, where this is viable and 
compatible with other polices aimed at achieving a sustainable pattern of 
development. When considering planning applications the Council will also have 

regard to all relevant Catchment Flood Management Plans and the Local Flood 
Risk Management Strategy’. It continues ‘Management of flood risk will be 

achieved by: 

Page 150



 31 

 
• Development proposals should consider opportunities to contribute 

towards the objectives of the relevant Catchment Flood Management 
Plan. Wherever possible, development should promote the reduction of 

flood risk by…limiting of surface water runoff to Greenfield rates via the 
use of sustainable drainage techniques. 

 

• Wherever possible SuDS will be expected to contribute towards wider 
sustainability considerations, including amenity, recreation, conservation 

of biodiversity and landscape character, making use of the role that trees, 
woodland and other green infrastructure can play in flood alleviation and 
water quality control. 

 
8.67 The applicant has been in discussions with the Lead Local Flood Authority 

(LLFA) and following the submission of additional information the LLFA have 
confirmed that they have no objection subject to conditions being attached to any 
grant of planning permission. 

 
8.68 Severn Trent Water Ltd have suggest the inclusion of a condition being attached 

to any grant of planning permission requiring the submission and approval of a 
scheme for the disposal of surface water and foul sewage. 

 

8.69 On this basis the proposal is considered to comply with local plan policy EQ11 of 
the local plan. 

 
Planning Obligations 

 

8.70 Policy H 4 ‘Affordable Housing’ states that ‘The Council will seek to maximise the 
delivery of affordable housing across the plan area by working in partnership with 

the Homes and Community Agency, Registered Providers, Developers and Local 
Communities’. This policy continues ‘In order to address the need for affordable 
housing, residential developments should seek to achieve the following 

proportions of residential units as affordable housing…20% affordable housing 
on sites of 5-24 units (0.16ha or larger)’. 

 
8.71 The applicant has drawn attention to paragraph 64 of the NPPF states that to 

‘support the re-use of brownfield land, where vacant buildings are being reused 

or redeveloped, any affordable housing contribution should be reduced by a 
proportionate amount’. The reduction is known as a vacant building credit (VBC), 

and is intended by the government as incentive for developers to bring forward 
brownfield sites with vacant buildings. 

 

8.72 The National Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) Paragraph: 027 Reference ID: 
23b-027-20190315, provides further details of how VBC works in practice. It 

states “Where there is an overall increase in floorspace in the proposed 
development, the local planning authority should calculate the amount of 
affordable housing contributions required from the development as set out in 

their Local Plan. A ‘credit’ should then be applied which is the equivalent of the 
gross floorspace of any relevant vacant buildings being brought back into use or 

demolished as part of the scheme and deducted from the overall affordable 

Page 151



 32 

housing contribution calculation. This will apply in calculating either the number 
of affordable housing units to be provided within the development or where an 

equivalent financial contribution is being provided’. 
 

8.73 Paragraph: 028 Reference ID: 23b-028-20190315 states that ‘The vacant 
building credit applies where the building has not been abandoned. The courts 
have held that, in deciding whether a use has been abandoned, account should 

be taken of all relevant circumstances, such as: the condition of the property; the 
period of non-use; whether there is an intervening use; and any evidence 

regarding the owner’s intention. Each case is a matter for the collecting authority 
to judge’. 

 

8.74 It continues ‘…In considering how the vacant building credit should apply to a 
particular development, local planning authorities should have regard to the 

intention of national policy. 
 
8.75 In doing so, it may be appropriate for authorities to consider: whether the building 

has been made vacant for the sole purposes of re-development; and whether the 
building is covered by an extant or recently expired planning permission for the 

same or substantially the same development’. 
 
8.76 In this case the applicant’s agent has provided correspondence from the estate 

agents (Jon Mellor & Company) that were involved in the sale of the property. 
The correspondence states that the estate agents ‘were initially invited to view 

and value the property on 26th April 2018 and continues “During my discussions 
with the vendors, they informed me that they did not wish the property to appear 
on any property portals or indeed to be generally marketed in the normal way, 

i.e. brochures, For Sale boards  etc, due to the fact that The Alison Park Hotel 
was a going concern”.  

 
8.77 The estate agents were asked to act on an introduction basis only due to the 

their experience, and they were asked ‘to approach all and any residential 

developer contacts that we knew of’.  They confirm that ‘The Alison Park Hotel 
was also in need of a substantial amount of modernisation throughout and the 

vendors themselves felt that it’s future lay in redevelopment rather than its 
current usage surrounded by residential homes’.  Upon signing a sole agency 
agreement with the estate agents for an introduction only, the agents contacted 

various residential developers including The Amos Group and at that time all of 
their contacts were not interested. 

 
8.78 The correspondence specifically states that the estate agents explained that they 

had no developer contacts in the hotel industry and that they and the agents both 

agreed that this approach was not viable and that residential developers would 
be the target market. 

 
8.79 As above the estate agents did only low key or passive marketing via word of 

mouth from the office in terms of marketing, to avoid adverse impacts on the 

continuing business and indicate that no contact was made to any hotel 
business/operators. 

 

Page 152



 33 

8.80 In line with the National Planning Practice Guidance, the condition of the 
property, although tired, was serviceable for use as tourist accommodation up to 

the point at which they were obligated to close during the government lockdown 
restrictions. The period of non-use is formally as of June 2020, although 

restrictions were formally introduced in February 2020. It is not specified in the 
submission when ownership was transferred but it is noted that the current 
application was received on 11 June 2021 including a signed Certificate A and 

indicating Amos Homes (Buxton) Ltd as the applicant. There is no evidence of an 
intervening use, although refurbishment works began prior to the site visit on 05 

August 2021. The above details taken from the correspondence that was 
provided by the applicant’s agent appears to indicate the previous owners 
intention. 

 
8.81 In this case, there are no extant or recently expired planning permission for the 

same or substantially the same development; however, from the information 
provided, it is clear that the building has been made vacant for the sole purposes 
of re-development, as the option of exploring contacts within the tourist 

accommodation industry were not only unavailable as the estate agent did not 
have any, but also as the correspondence confirms that the original owners had 

agreed with them that they would actively pursue contact with residential 
developers.  

 

8.82 It is therefore considered that this does not accord with the intention of the 
national policy and in line with the National Planning Practice Guidance 

Paragraph: 028 it is considered that a vacant building credit should not be 
granted in this instance. In the event that a planning permission is granted, the 
full the affordable housing requirement under Policy H 4 should be sought. 

 
 

9. PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION  
 

9.1 For the reasons outlined above, the development is considered to conflict with 

the relevant policies contained in the High Peak Local Plan and the NPPF. As 
such the application is recommended for refusal. 

 
   
10. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
A. Refusal for the following reasons: - 

 
1. The proposed development, by virtue of its form, design, materials, 

detailing and landscaping, would fail to preserve or enhance the 
character of the Conservation Area and would cause less than 
substantial harm to it. Alterations to historic detailing of the non-

designated asset such as raising the height of three half-timbered 
gables and creating a basement apartment and excavating the ground 

on the north east elevation, as well as the addition of modern features 
such as the visually competing extension to the south east elevation, 
replacement dormers and balconies with a vertical emphasis, including 

above one of the corner towers, are considered to unacceptably 

Page 153



 34 

interfere with its historic, architectural detailing and will harm the key 
historic views of the building within the Buxton Collage Conservation 

Area. The extent of car parking and hardstanding in place of the 
landscaped garden setting, which is a clear focal point of the historic 

design, does not respect the historic landscape setting of this property 
or its prominent location. The public benefits of the proposal, including 
provision of housing when the Council cannot demonstrate a 5 year 

supply are considered not to outweigh the harm to the host building, as 
well as the character and appearance of the surrounding area, 

Conservation Area and the setting of the adjacent Listed Buildings, 
Farringford and Somersby. The development is therefore considered to 
be contrary to Policies S1, EQ6, and EQ7, of the High Peak Local Plan, 

the guidance contained within the Residential Design SPD, High Peak 
Design Guide, and Sections 12 and 16 of the National Planning Policy 

Framework. 

 
B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 

Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) 

prior to the decision being issued, the Head of Development Services has 
delegated authority to do so in consultation with the Chairman of the 
Planning Applications Committee, provided that the changes do not exceed 

the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision. 
 

 
Site Plan 

    (Not to scale) 

 
 

Page 154



 35 

 

Page 155



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

 
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 

 
Date 7th March 2022 

 
Application 
No: 

HPK/2021/0648 

Location 1 Royle Avenue, Glossop 
Proposal Lower ground floor attached garage to be formed partially through 

excavation. Single storey side extension linking to two storey rear 
extension. Inglenook single storey extension to kitchen. Alterations 

to existing porch  
Applicant Mr Craig Jackson 
Agent Archonic Architecture 
Parish/ward N/A/Dinting Date registered 26th November 2021 

If you have a question about this report please contact: James Stannard, Tel. 

01298 28400 extension 4298, james.stannard@highpeak.gov.uk  

 
1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION 

 
 

Refuse 

 
 

1. REASON FOR COMMITTEE DETERMINATION 
 

1.1 This application has been brought before the Development Control 

Committee by Councillor Wharmby in light of the applicant disagreeing 
with the Officer’s assessment of the application. 

 
2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS 
 

2.1 The application relates to a relatively large residential corner plot that 
stands at the western end of Royle Avenue, east of Norfolk Street. The 

site contains No.1 Royle Avenue; a relatively large two storey four 
bedroom dwelling that is finished in a white render and situated on 
higher ground comparable to the public highway, orientated in a similar 

manner to neighbouring properties sited on the northern side of Royle 
Avenue whereby the front principal elevation faces southwards on to a 

front garden and private driveway. 
 
2.2 The main body of the dwelling comprises an ‘L’ form which spans a 

width of approximately 12.2m and has a depth of some 5.3m. The 
western side of the dwelling extends outwards from the main part of the 

house by a further 2.3, in the form of a cat slide roof with a pitched 
dormer above. 

 

2.3 The rear elevation of the dwelling is characterised by a small single 
storey Utility Room that has a flat roof on the eastern side that cover an 

Page 157

Agenda Item 8



 2 

approximate area of 3.6sqm that is physically connected to the 
adjoining kitchen which extends outwards from the rear elevation by 

4.8m and spans a width of 7.6m. Following the granting of planning 
permission in 1994, a first floor was added to this outrigger which 

serves a bedroom and en-suite bathroom and is characterised 
externally by two pitched gables which have a relatively consistent 
scale, but when read as a whole against the backdrop of the rear 

elevation of the main house are considered to represent a 
disproportionate and unbalanced addition, thus contributing negatively 

to the overall character and appearance of the dwelling. 
 
2.4 The site is bounded to the southwest by the side elevation and 

associated amenity areas of No.3 Royle Avenue; the side elevation 
contains a ground floor habitable window serving a kitchen which 

stands some 10m distant from the side elevation of the host property. 
 
2.5 Beyond the northern boundary stands No.68 Norfolk Street, which lies 

in a large residential plot bounded by a large conifer hedge. The public 
highway lies to the west and south, whilst to the north-east beyond the 

larger rear garden is an open area of land free from development. 
 
2.6 The site has a long planning history. The most recent application 

assessed and determined under HPK/2020/0525 was for the following 
description of development: 

 
“Proposed two storey side extension linked to two storey rear 
extension. Lower ground floor attached garage to be formed partially 

through excavation. Inglenook single storey extension to kitchen. 
Elevational alterations including to the front elevation.” 

 
2.7 The application was refused by the Council on 5th February 2021 for 

the following reasons: 

 
1. The proposed development, by virtue of its scale, height, 

massing and visual appearance would result in a wholly 
disproportionate additions that dominate and consume the 
existing dwelling to the extent that the original building could not 

be read in conjunction with the new additions. The application 
fails to respect the dominance of the parent building and as a 

result of its design, fails to read as a subordinate and secondary 
addition; contrary to High Peak Local Plan Policies S1 and EQ6, 
the High Peak Residential Design Guide SPD 2005, the High 

Peak Residential Design Guide SPD 2018, and relevant 
paragraphs under Chapter 12 of the NPPF. 

 
2. The proposed development, by virtue of the siting, scale and 

massing of the proposed two storey side extension would, due 

to its proximity with the side elevation of No.3 Royle Avenue that 
contains a habitable kitchen window, result in significant harm to 

the residential amenity for occupiers of this property with 

Page 158



 3 

regards to an overbearing and oppressive development that 
reduces sunlight to habitable window and the quality of outlook 

from it, contrary to High Peak Local Plan Policy EQ6, the High 
Peak Residential Design Guide SPD 2005, and paragraph 127 

(now paragraph 130) of the NPPF. 
 
2.8 This applicant lodged an appeal against the above decision, which was 

subsequently dismissed by the Inspectorate on 4th June 2021. As 
such, the conclusions of the Inspector is now the starting point for 

assessing any applications for similar development at this property. 
 
3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL  

 

3.1 This application seeks consent for the following aspects of 

development: 
 

- Lower ground floor attached garage with external terrace above. 
 

- Single storey side extension linked to two storey side and rear 

extension 
 

- Alterations to existing porch 
 

3.2 The lower ground floor garage is shown to sit some 3.1m below the 

level of the ground floor level of the house which would – like the 
previous application – sit at an angle to the main house facing towards 
the existing driveway which as shown on the Proposed Site Plan would 

be reconfigured to align with the new garage. 
 

3.3 The single storey side extension is shown to be flush with the main 
house, spans a width of approximately 4.3m and has a flat roof, which 
due to the subtle changes in topography, has a height of 4.9m from 

ground floor level at its highest point nearest to the ground floor 
external terrace above the garage. 

 
3.4 The depth of the single storey side extension extends to the building 

line of the rear elevation. Beyond the rear elevation of the original 

house and the proposed single storey extension, the plans show the 
provision of a two storey side and rear extension which has a depth of 

approximately 4.8m, and a total width of approximately 8.2m. 
 
3.5 The side and rear extensions are shown to serve a large lounge and a 

large open plan kitchen/dining area at ground floor level, with the first 
floor serving a fifth bedroom with en-suite bathroom. The side 

extension is shown to have a lower ground floor connecting to the 
garage serving utility and storage rooms. 

 

3.6 The two storey aspect is shown to have a gable which faces south-
eastwards towards No.3 Royle Avenue, which reaches an eaves height 

Page 159



 4 

of approximately 5m and overall ridge height of 8m consistent with the 
height of the existing two storey rear extension. 

 

3.7 The plans show that the proposed extensions would be constructed 

from materials that are broadly consistent with those used in the main 
house. 

 

3.8 The application was scheduled to be considered at February 
Committee however this was deferred to allow further information to be 

submitted and considered. 
 
3.9 This information is presented in the form of a short document titled 

“Committee Report to Support Applicants Statement  – 07.03.22” and 
consists of photographs and 3D images with supporting text.  

 
3.10 The application in full (including the above document) can be viewed 

online using the following link  

 
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServle

t?PKID=251690  
 
4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

 

4.1 The site has been subject to the following planning history: 
 

HPK/0002/6769 Erection of four detached dwellings (Refused 08/09/1988) 
 

HPK/0003/3606 First Floor Extension to form Bedroom and Bathroom 
   (Approved 05/07/1994) 

 
HPK/2009/0737 Demolish existing house and erect nine dwellings and 

new access road (Refused 23/03/2010) 

 
HPK/2019/0125 Proposed two storey side and rear extension, new glazed 

entrance. New triple garage with dependants 
accommodation over, single storey extension to front, 
remodelling driveway incorporating remodelled vehicular 

and pedestrian entrances (Withdrawn 31/05/2019) 
 

HPK/2020/0415 Certificate of lawfulness for a proposed single storey side 
extension. Proposed first floor rear extension. proposed 
side inglenook single storey extension. Alteration of 

window at rear first floor level. (Granted 24/11/2020) 
 

HPK/2020/0525 Proposed two storey side extension linked to two storey 
rear extension. Lower ground floor attached garage to be 
formed partially through excavation. Inglenook single 

storey extension to kitchen. Elevational alterations 
including to the front elevation 

   (Refused 05/02/2021)  

Page 160

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=251690
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=251690


 5 

Appeal Dismissed (APP/H1033/D/21/3269689) – HPK/2020/0525  
(Dismissed 04/06/2021) 

 
5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION 

 
High Peak Local Plan 2016 

 

S1 Sustainable Development Principles 
S1a  Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

S2 Settlement Hierarchy 
S5 Glossopdale Sub-area Strategy 
EQ6  Design and Place Making 

CF6  Accessibility and Transport 
 
National Planning Policy Framework 2019 

 

Achieving Sustainable Development Chapter 2 

Promoting Sustainable Transport  Chapter 9 
Achieving Well Designed Places  Chapter 12 
 
6. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT 
 

Site notice Expiry date for comments:  5th January 2022 
Neighbour letters  Expiry date for comments:  20th December 2021 

Press Notice Expiry date for comments:  N/A 

 
Neighbours 

 

6.1 Neighbours were contacted to by way of written letters. 6 x objections 
were received, concerns of which are summarised as follows: 

 

 Scale and Massing is excessive 

 Not materially different to HPK/2020/0525 dismissed at appeal 

 Garage and external terrace would be highly visible 

 Harm to residential amenity of No.3 Royle Avenue 

 Potential for precedent to build above garage in front of building line 

 Dwelling already reached its ‘threshold’ for extensions 

 Proposals do not respect amenity of neighbours on Royle Avenue 
 

 

Consultee Comment 

 

DCC Highways 
 

 

No comments to make 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 161



 6 

4. POLICY AND PLANNING BALANCE  
 

Planning Policies 
 

7.1  The determination of a planning application is to be made pursuant to 
section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, 
which is to be read in conjunction with section 70(2) of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990.  
 

7.2  Section 38(6) requires the local planning authority to determine 
planning applications in accordance with the development plan, unless 
there are material circumstances which 'indicate otherwise'. Section 

70(2) provides that in determining applications the local planning 
authority "shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, 

so far as material to the application and to any other material 
considerations." The Development Plan consists of the High Peak 
Local Plan Policies Adopted April 2016. 

 
7.3  Other material considerations include the National Planning Policy 

Framework (NPPF), Supplementary Design Guidance, and National 
Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG). Paragraph 11 of the NPPF explains 
that at the heart of the Framework is the presumption in favour of 

sustainable development.  For decision makers this means that when 
considering development proposals which accord with the development 

plan, they should be approved without delay, but where the 
development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out of date, 
grant planning permission unless any adverse impacts would 

significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed 
against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole. 

 
Principle of Development 

 

7.4 The application seeks extensions and alterations to an existing 
dwellinghouse on a site that lies within the built-up area boundary of 

Glossop; defined as a Market Town within the settlement hierarchy 
under Local Plan (LP) Policy S2 that are the focus for growth. The site 
is not constrained by any particular policy designation. 

 
7.5 As such, the general principle of development is supported, subject to 

all material planning considerations. 
 
Key Material Considerations 

 

 Design Character and Appearance 

 Public and Residential Amenity 

 Access, Parking Provision and Highway Safety 

 
 
 

 

Page 162



 7 

Design Character and Appearance 

 

7.6 LP Policy S1 sets out a number of sustainability principles which all 
new development proposals should incorporate in order to make a 

positive contribution towards the sustainability of communities and to 
protect, and where possible enhance the environment. 

 

7.7 LP Policy EQ6 states that all development should be well designed to 
respect and contribute positively to the character, identity and context 

of High Peak’s townscapes, having regard to matters of scale, height, 
density, layout, appearance and materials. 

 

7.8 Paragraph 9.0 of the Residential Design Guide SPD states that: 
 

“Extensions and alterations to existing houses can have a significant 
impact on the appearance of a house, neighbouring property and the 
street scene. It is important, on all types of houses, that domestic 

development is carefully designed.” 
 

Paragraph 9.1 goes on to state that: 
 

“Extensions should be designed to so as to be subordinate to the main 

form of the house. It is important that the extension results in a dwelling 
that is well designed in itself.” 

 
7.9 Chapter 5 of the Design Guide SPD refers specifically to Alterations, 

Extensions and Conversions. 

 
With regards to alterations, paragraph 5.2 states that: 

 
“Alterations need to be undertaken with care. Insensitive changes can 
easily spoil a building. The key to a sensitive approach is to take note 

of what is there already before preparing the design and to work with, 
and not against, the buildings character. The aim should be to revitalise 

the building without altering its fundamental character.” 
 

With regards to extensions, the following paragraphs of the SPD are 

relevant: 
 

5.5 All extensions should harmonise with the parent building. An 
extension should respect the dominance of the original building 
and be subordinate to it in terms of its size and massing. Setting 

back the new section from the building line and keeping the 
eaves and ridge lower than the parent building will normally 

help. 
 

5.7 The smaller the parent building, the fewer the options of 

extension…. 
 

Page 163



 8 

5.8 Irrespective of size, however, all buildings can reach a threshold 
point beyond which further extension is just not possible without 

destroying their character. 
 

With regards to garages, the SPD states the following: 
 

5.10 …need to be designed and built in sympathy with the properties 

they serve. Materials and roof pitch should generally match 
those of the parent building. If attached to the building, the new 

garage should be clearly subordinate. A separate garage 
building is however often the better solution particularly where 
more than one garage is needed 

 
7.10 Paragraph 130 of the NPPF states amongst other things that decisions 

should ensure that developments will add to the overall quality of the 
area; are visually attractive as a result of good architecture; and are 
sympathetic to the surrounding built environment. 

 
7.11 Paragraph 133 of the NPPF states that development that is not well 

designed should be refused, especially where it fails to reflect local 
design policies and government guidance on design, taking into 
account any local design guidance and supplementary planning 

documents such as design guides and codes. 
 

7.12 This application represents the fourth attempt to secure an ancillary 
garage, and two storey additions to the side and rear elevations of the 
existing dwelling. Before assessing the plans and documentation that 

accompanied this application, it is worth understanding how various 
schemes evolved over time and the comments that the assessment 

that the Council have made in relation to each application: 
 
HPK/2019/0125 

 
7.13 This first application proposed a garage to be sited beyond the front 

building line with a finished floor level that contained ancillary living 
accommodation at first floor level, with interconnection with the main 
house. A two storey side and rear extension (wrap around) was also 

shown. 
 

7.14 Officers commented as follows with regards to its design and impact on 
the street scene: 

 

“Royle Avenue benefits from a strong building line characterised by two 
storey dwellings with shallow front gables with each property differing 

slightly but in the main elevated above the highway with mature 
gardens leading down the road. The site does differ slightly in that it is 
a corner plot, however the position of the dwelling within the plot 

reinforces the existing building line that as a whole is read in 
conjunction with the rest of the dwellings on that side of Royle Avenue.  

 

Page 164



 9 

The site is bounded by mature and dense foliage which provides an 
important buffer between the house and the highway. The new garage 

and dependent living accommodation would create an incongruous, 
intrusive and uncharacteristic addition between the house and the 

highway which would interrupt the uniformity of the building line and 
would be very visible within the street scene when entering Royle 
Avenue due to the loss of the important green screening and as such 

its impact would be greatly increased.” 
 

“The existing house is simple in form and character. It has been 
extended in the past with a first floor gabled addition at the rear 
(HPK/0003/3606) which substantially increased the existing floor space 

to create a four bed dwelling. The proposed two storey side extension 
to the original southern gable is acceptable in principle. If the further 

two storey extension were to be added to the rear this would amount to 
an increase in the footprint of the dwelling by 100%. This would 
constitute overdevelopment of the site as most extensions are 

considered to be acceptable when a dwelling is increased by 50%.” 
 

“However in this instance, the grounds are substantial at the rear and 
there is scope for further sensitive additions. The proposed four gable 
arrangement at the rear is bulky and is not subordinate to the dwelling. 

It is acknowledged that the existing two storey rear extensions do not 
have a subordinate roof form and have a depth of 4.5m which is 

greater than half the depth the of the existing dwelling. Any further 
similar additions would subsume the original house obscuring its 
original footprint and character. This would also be exacerbated by the 

uncharacteristic changes proposed to the front of the dwelling including 
the dormers…to the point where the simple character is lost.” 

 
“The proposals to lower the garage are acceptable in principle and 
would overcome concerns in relation to the scale of the proposed 

garage. However, the scale of the extensions collectively consumes 
the original dwelling; a point which has been made beforehand. A rear 

elevation of four projecting gables of a substantial size would be 
overdevelopment and out of character with this property.” 

 

7.15 In light of the above, the applicant opted to withdraw the application on 
31st May 2019. 

 
HPK/2019/0469 
 

7.16 A revised application was submitted later in 2019 which afforded the 
following comments from Officers with regards to its design, its impact 

on the existing building and the wider street scene: 
 

“The most notable change put forward within this revised application is 

the revised design of the proposed ancillary garage. The garage is now 
shown to be set below the ground level of the existing house having a 

height of some 2.8m. Whilst this would result in a somewhat heavily 

Page 165



 10 

engineering form of development, these revisions do address previous 
concerns raised in relation to the proposed garage and first floor 

accommodation put forward under HPK/2019/0125, and as such this 
aspect of development could be supported.  

 
This revised application proposes extensions and alterations to the 
front, side and rear elevation of the existing dwelling. Based on the 

submitted Existing Floor Plans, the existing footprint of the dwelling as 
it stood prior to the extension being erected following the granting of 

permission under HPK/0003/3606 is calculated at approximately 87m2. 
The approved rear extension consists of a floor area of some 38m2, 
equating to approximately a 30% increase in floor area of the dwelling 

as it originally stood.   
 

The current rear extension dominates the elevation, although it can still 
be read in conjunction with the original elevation and the chimney 
stack. The extension is characterised by two symmetrical gables which 

stand subordinate to the main part of the house with regards to their 
ridge height.  

 
As a result of the proposed development and based on the Proposed 
Floor Plans, the dwelling would have a footprint of 206m2, thus 

equating to a 136% in floor area comparable to the original dwelling 
and a 67% increase comparable to the dwelling as it stands today. The 

percentage increase in volume comparable to the existing house as a 
result of the proposed development is also substantial. 

 

Given the planning history of the site and the figures set out above, it is 
considered that the property has reached its maximum (or threshold) in 

terms of extensions. Any further extensions or alterations would result 
in a disproportionate and bulky form of development which would 
dominate and consume the main house to the point where its original 

form and character is lost in its entirety.  
 

The proposed plans shows two further gables to be added to the rear 
which would be joined to the proposed two storey side extension. The 
scale and volume of the proposed side and rear extensions, together 

with the proposed alterations to the front of the dwelling, continues to 
represent overdevelopment of the site, which by virtue of its scale, 

height, massing and visual appearance fails to respect the simple form, 
character and appearance of the existing dwelling, contrary to policies 
S1 and EQ6 of the High Peak Local Plan, the High Peak ‘Design 

Guide’ SPD and relevant paragraphs contained within Chapter 12 of 
the NPPF. 

 
In summary, the proposed extensions of the scale, height, footprint and 
volume proposed will not be supported, and is consistent with the 

previous view taken by my colleagues. This email has been written 
without giving full consideration to any resultant harm to the amenity of 

neighbouring properties, which judging by previous email 

Page 166



 11 

correspondence, could also be an issue, and would be fully assessed 
prior to preparing and finalising my report and recommendation.”  

 
7.17 The application was withdrawn by the applicant’s agent on 6th January 

2020. 
 
HPK/2020/0161 

 
7.18 The applicant subsequently applied for a third time for extension and 

alterations to the dwelling with a ancillary detached garage that was 
shown to have a ridge height that was consistent with the finished floor 
level of the main house. 

 
7.19 This application continued to show a proposed two storey side and rear 

extension that in the view of Officers did not go any way to address 
previous concerns relating to its relationship with the main house by 
virtue of its scale, height, mass and visual appearance. 

 
7.20 Following advice from Officers this application was subsequently 

withdrawn by the applicant on 3rd July 2020. 
 
HPK/2020/0415 

 
7.21 Following the withdrawal of three previous schemes, a Certificate of 

Proposed Lawful Development was granted under HPK/2020/0415 for 
a single storey side extension and a two storey rear extension having 
complied with all relevant parameters of the General Permitted 

Development Order. 
 

7.22 The two aspects are shown on the approved plans to not be 
connected, and similarly the two storey rear extension is shown to be 
separate from the existing extension implemented following consent 

granted in 1994. 
 

7.23 The applicant’s agent was advised at the time of assessing this 
application that the extensions and alterations secured through the 
granting of this Certificate would be unlikely be judged as comprising a 

realistic fall-back position should any subsequent application be made 
for the nature of extensions previously submitted, given the constrained 

nature of the first floor bedroom and that these lawful works would be 
required to not be physically connected, and thus the likelihood of the 
applicant building out this arrangement is low. 

 
HPK/2020/0525 

 
7.24 This application continued to put forward a scheme for a two storey 

‘wrap around’ extension, together with other alterations to the 

appearance of the dwelling and an ancillary garage that is situated at a 
lower level, with the roof having a broadly consistent height with the 

ground floor of the main house. 

Page 167



 12 

7.25 Officers had previously agreed with the applicant that whilst the garage 
would be sited forward of the established building line of the street 

scene, it would not result in any harm to the overall character and 
appearance of the street scene given the significant screening that 

defines the western boundary to Royle Avenue, and that the building 
would be barely visible when viewed from the east. It was thus 
considered that in its own right, this aspect of development could be 

supported. 
 

7.26 The Officer’s assessment of this scheme as set out within the 
accompanying Delegated Report is presented below: 

 

“In line with Officers assessment for previous applications, the 
proposed development would equate to over 100% increase in the floor 

area and volume of the original dwellinghouse, with the extensions 
dominating and consuming the original elevations so that the old 
cannot be read with the new, thus leading to the original character of 

the dwelling being lost. 
 

The side and rear extensions fail to respect the dominance of the 
existing dwelling, failing to incorporate any set back behind the existing 
building line and failing to design a roof that is lower than the existing 

dwelling, 
 

Essentially, the dwelling has reached its threshold with regards to 
extensions and alterations over and above that which is permitted. The 
extensions granted under the Certificate of Lawful Development are 

therefore not considered to offer a reasonable fall back position as their 
impacts and relationship with the main dwelling are significantly lower 

than the current proposals.  
  

Turning to the other aspects of development, the proposed side 

extension showing the inglenook fire place with a mono-pitched slate 
roof and flue is considered to read as a subordinate addition that would 

be in keeping with the dwelling and in its own right could be supported.  
 

The newly proposed gable in the front elevation contains an excessive 

amount of glazing that bears no relationship to the existing character 
and appearance of the street scene. Taken cumulatively with the newly 

proposed  fenestration at the rear which is at odds with existing 
windows, it is considered that the proposed fenestration as a whole 
adds to the concerns with regards to the overall design of the scheme. 

 
For the reasons set out above, and in line with previous advice offered 

to the applicant, the extensions and alterations proposed when taken 
as a whole are considered to be in direct conflict with Local Plan 
Policies S1 and EQ6, the High Peak Residential Design Guide SPD, 

the Design Guide SPD, and relevant paragraphs under Chapter 12 of 
the NPPF.” 

 

Page 168



 13 

7.27 The application was refused on two grounds, the first of which related 
to design, character and appearance.  

 
7.28 The application was dismissed by the Planning Inspectorate at appeal. 

The key conclusions reached by the Inspector as set out within the 
appeal decision are set out as follows: 

 

8. The appeal property is already a reasonably large bui lding, not 
least as a result of earlier extensions. I have not been made 

aware of anything in the Council’s planning policies or guidance 
which put a figure on what might be considered an excessively 
large or disproportionate extension. However, the current 

proposal would enlarge the appeal property to more than twice 
its original size, which to my mind represents a substantial 

addition, or series of additions, by any standard. The side 
extension would be built to the line of the main front elevation 
rather than set behind it, and the principal roof ridges would be 

at the same height as the main ridge of the existing dwelling 
 

9. …whilst there will be cases where very large extensions, or 
those which are not visually subordinate to the host building, 
may be acceptable, setting the advice of the SPD’s aside, 

depends more on the sites ability to physically accommodate the 
development. 

 
10. The proposed extension would, in my view, result in the 

enlarged dwelling having a sprawling and somewhat disjointed 

appearance…Rather than the archetypal High Peak ‘grand villa’ 
which the appellant is seeking to emulate, the overall effect 

would be of an ordinary and decent house extended, and in 
particularly widened, beyond limits it could comfortably bear. 
The original dwelling would be lost within and overwhelmed by 

the extension. Because of the resulting visual incoherence this 
would be harmful to the character and appearance of the 

building, and would not be mitigated or justified by any particular 
quality or design. 

 

11. The proposed garage would be set forward of the established 
building line of the houses to the south-east on the same side of 

Royle Avenue….The garage would be at a low level within the 
plot and partly set below ground level where, because of the lie 
of the land and the surrounding vegetation it would not be 

prominent in views along Royal Avenue. I therefore agree with 
the Council’s assessment that this element of the scheme would 

be acceptable….However, that this element would be 
acceptable would not outweigh the other harm to the character 
and appearance of the host dwelling which I have found. 

 
12. Taken as a whole, the development would be harmful to the 

character and appearance of the host building. The proposal 

Page 169



 14 

therefore conflicts with Policies S1 and EQ6 of the 2016 High 
Peak Local Plan which seek to ensure that development is well 

designed, relates well to the character and appearance of the 
adjacent buildings and the surrounding area in terms of scale 

and appearance. For the same reasons it would also fail to 
accord with the provisions of the National Planning Policy 
Framework…. 

 
7.29 This latest application has sought to address previous reason for 

refusal relating to design, character and appearance, residential 
amenity and comments made by the Inspector by reducing the extent 
of the two storey extension to a side and rear extension that runs 

parallel with the rear building line, with a single storey flat roof side 
extension sitting forward of it. 

 
7.30 Whilst the massing has been marginally reduced, the proposals 

continue to consume and dominate the original building that, coupled 

with the existing rear extensions built following consent in 1994, 
exceed what can reasonably be interpreted as the ‘threshold’ for new 

extensions and additions to the property. 
 
7.31 It is the view of the Council that any two storey element, over and 

above that allowed under permitted development rights, which have 
been secured by way of a Certificate of Lawful Development under 

HPK/2020/0415, essentially exceeds the threshold of the existing 
dwelling. 

 

7.32 In attempting to reduce the impacts on the residential amenity of No.3 
Royle Avenue, the relationship between the side extension and the 

main dwelling, and its impact on the character and appearance of the 
street scene, has been worsened. The flat roof single storey side 
extension has an odd, contrived and awkward relationship with both 

the main house and the two storey rear extension behind, which would 
be visible from Royle Avenue, due to its elevated position. 

 
7.33 Similar to the previous application, whilst the proposed garage can be 

supported in its own right, particularly given the conclusions of the 

Inspector at paragraph 11 of the appeal decision, the applicant has 
declined the opportunity to remove the aspects of development that 

cannot be supported to allow the garage to be approved. 
 
7.34 It is thus considered that the identified harm arising from the previous 

scheme under HPK/2020/0525 which was fully validated by the 
Inspector have not in any way been addressed by virtue of this revised 

scheme, and as such the first reason for refusal under HPK/2020/0525 
applies to this application. 

 

7.35 As such, the proposed development, by virtue of its scale, height, 
massing and visual appearance would continue to result in a wholly 

disproportionate addition that continues to dominate and consume the 

Page 170



 15 

existing dwelling to the extent that the original building cannot be easily 
read in conjunction with the new addition. The application fails to 

respect the dominance of the parent building, and coupled with the odd 
contrived relationship between the single storey flat roof extension and 

two storey extension behind, fails to read as a subordinate and 
secondary addition that results in a dwelling that is poorly designed in 
itself, contrary to Local Plan Policies S1 and EQ6, the High Peak 

Residential Design Guide SPD (2005), the High Peak Design Guide 
(2018) and relevant paragraphs under Chapter 12 of the NPPF 

 
7.36 The applicant has submitted a short document titled “Committee 
Report to Support Applicant’s Statement”. This can be viewed at 

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServle
t?PKID=251690 Officers would comment as follows in connection with 

this document: 
 

- Page 3 of the document inaccurately shows what has been granted 

a Lawful Development Certificate under HPK/2020/0415 by virtue of 
the two storey rear extension (marked ‘3’), being shown to be 

connected to the existing two storey rear extension, and the single 
storey side extension to be connected to the rear extensions 
 

- As set out in paragraph 7.23 of this report, Officers have made clear 
that extensions and alterations secured through the granting of this 

Certificate under HPK/2020/0415 would be unlikely be judged as 
comprising a realistic fall-back position should any subsequent 
application be made for the nature of extensions previously 

submitted, given the constrained nature of the first floor bedroom 
and that these lawful works would be required to not be physically 

connected, and thus the likelihood of the applicant building out this 
arrangement is low. 

 

- The note on page 3 of this document that states that the proposed 
extensions would not result in any detrimental harm to the street 

scape is refuted for the reasons set out within this report. The 3D 
images are considered to amplify and emphasise the resultant 
harm. 

 
- Page 4 shows examples of other side extensions and rear 

extensions in the vicinity. None of these examples are comparable 
to the extensions subject to consideration under this application 
with regards to its scale, massing and visual appearance. Each 

application should be considered on its own individual merits. 
 

- The Summary of the applicant’s submission contends that this 
application addresses the concerns raised by the Inspector in the 
previously dismissed appeal and this report does not consider the 

changes to the scheme or comments made by Officers in relation to 
previous applications. Paragraphs 7.12-7.35 of this report sets out 

in detail the recent planning history, analysis and comments given 

Page 171

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=251690
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=251690


 16 

by Officers, conclusions made by the Planning Inspector, and why 
and how this latest revised scheme has failed to address these 

previous concerns. 
 

- The summary refers to four examples of ‘precedent’ on Royal 
Avenue for similar extensions. Precedent only exists in so far as 
case law, each application is determined on its own individual 

merits. All examples comprise applications that were determined 
prior to the adoption of the current High Peak Local Plan (2016), the 

High Peak Design Guide SPD (2018), and the updated NPPF 
(2021), which applies much more emphasis on the importance of 
good design. 

 
Residential Amenity 

 
7.37 LP Policy EQ6 requires all new development to have a satisfactory 

relationship with existing land and buildings and protects the amenity of 

the area, which includes residential amenity of neighbouring properties. 
Aspects of residential amenity include impacts such as a loss of 

sunlight, overshadowing and overbearing impacts, loss of outlook, and 
loss of privacy. 

 

7.38 Paragraph 9.2 of the High Peak Residential Design Guide SPD states 
that: 

 
“Domestic extensions should be of a scale and be designed and 
positioned to avoid undue harm to the amenity of neighbouring 

properties. They must have regard to the orientation of adjacent 
homes, the number and position of windows and land levels. Excessive 

overshadowing of neighbouring habitable rooms windows, glazed 
doors and private garden/amenity areas should be avoided.” 

 

7.39 Paragraph 130 of the NPPF states that planning should create places 
with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users. 

 
7.40 Given the nature of the application site and its existing context, the sole 

property that has the potential to be adversely impacted by the 

proposed development is No.3 Royle Avenue sited to the south-east. A 
distance of approximately 10m separates the side elevations of both 

properties, with the side elevation of No.3 containing a habitable 
kitchen window. 

 

7.41 The previous application refused under HPK/2020/0525 was refused 
on two grounds, the second of which relates to the impacts on the 

residential amenity (living conditions) experienced by the immediate 
neighbours No.3 Royle Avenue. 

 

7.42 In his appeal decision, the Inspector concluded the following with 
regards to living conditions: 

 

Page 172



 17 

13. Whilst I am not aware of guidance in either of the SPD’s on the 
minimum desired separation between a habitable room window 

and a blank gable wall, from what I saw on my site visit I 
consider that the close proximity of the two storey side elevation 

of the side extension would be overbearing, and would have a 
significant enclosing effect when seen from the side window of 
No.3. 

 
14. ….it is the enclosing effect of the proposed extension and 

consequent loss of outlook from No.3, rather than the effect on 
any specific view, which would be detrimental to the living 
conditions of the occupiers of No.3…. the presence of the 

conservatory would not substantially mitigate the harm caused 
by the proposed extension. 

 
16. I conclude that although the proposed extension would not lead 

to a significant loss of sunlight, the loss of outlook from the 

kitchen and family room of No.3 would be harmful to living 
conditions for neighbouring occupiers. The proposal therefore 

conflicts with Policy EQ6 of the Local Plan which seeks to 
ensure that development has a satisfactory relationship with 
neighbouring uses, and (amongst other things) does not have 

an unacceptable overbearing effect. For the same reasons, it 
would fall to accord with the provisions of the Framework… 

 
7.43 This revised application has marginally reduced the massing of 

development by seeking consent for a single storey flat roof side 

extension with two storey side and rear extension beyond. The single 
storey side extension is shown to have a height of 4m above finished 

ground floor level of Nos.1 and No.3 Royal Avenue. 
 
7.44 Whilst this would undoubtedly result in an improvement comparable to 

the resultant impact on the outlook and overbearing impacts that 
occurred as a result of the two storey side extension proposed under 

HPK/2020/0525, it is considered that the presence of the gable end of 
the two storey side and rear extension situated some 6m to the north of 
the habitable window at No.3 Royle Avenue continues to result in the 

‘enclosing effect’ identified by the Inspector, that would fail to preserve 
the residential amenity/living conditions of No.3 Royle Avenue, contrary 

to LP Policy EQ6, relevant Supplementary Planning Guidance, and 
paragraph 130 of the NPPF. 

 

7.45 The summary page of the applicant’s document submits that the four 
examples on Royle Avenue result in a greater detrimental impact on 

neighbouring residential amenity that this proposed development. As 
previously stated, all four examples were determined prior to the 
adoption of the current High Peak Local Plan (2016) and thus limited 

weight can be given to these applications. In any event, the spatial and 
visual relationship between neighbours in this application is different to 

the examples given due to the difference in orientation between No.1 

Page 173



 18 

and No.3 Royle Avenue. This report (paragraphs 7.37-7.44) makes 
clear how and why this proposed revised scheme continues to result in 

adverse harm to the residential amenity of No.3 by way of being 
overbearing ‘enclosing’ effect caused by the two storey extensions. 

 
Access, Parking Provision and Highway Safety 

 

7.46 LP Policy CF6 seeks to ensure that development can be safely 
accessed in a sustainable manner and that all new development is 

located where it can be satisfactorily accommodated within the existing 
highway network. Appendix 1 of the Local Plan contains parking 
guidance for all types of development including residential dwellings. 

 
7.47 Paragraph 110 of the NPPF states that in assessing applications for 

development, it should be ensured that safe and suitable access to the 
site can be achieved for all users. Paragraph 111 goes on to state that 
development should only be prevented or refused on highway grounds 

if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the 
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. 

 
7.48 The site benefits from an existing access and private driveway that 

extends uphill from the public highway to the front of the existing 

house. The proposed garage would accord with minimum dimensions 
for car parking and would provide sufficient off-street parking and 

turning area to serve the size of the property in line with parking 
guidelines under Appendix 1 of the NPPF, allowing vehicles to exit the 
site in a forward gear. 

 
7.49 As such, and having regard to comments from the Highways Authority 

that raise no objections to the proposed development, it is considered 
that notwithstanding the identified conflict with policies relating to 
design and residential amenity, the application would comply with LP 

Policy CF6 and paragraph 110 of the NPPF. 
 

Planning balance & Conclusion 

 
7.50 LP Policy S1a reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable 

development set out within the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF). 

 
7.51 Paragraph 11 of the NPPF sets out the presumption in favour of 

sustainable development. For decision taking, this means approving 

development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development 
plan without delay; or, where there are no relevant development plan 

policies, or the policies which are most important for determining the 
application are out-of-date, granting permission, unless: 

 

- the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or 
assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for 

refusing the development proposed; or 

Page 174



 19 

- any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 

policies in this Framework taken as a whole. 
 

7.52 The application seeks consent for a revised application for extensions 
and alterations to a residential dwelling that lies within the built-up area 
boundary of Glossop on a site that is not constrained by any sensitive 

policy designation.  
 

7.53 Whilst the general principle of development of extending the 
dwellinghouse could be supported, the proposed extensions and 
alterations, revised in light of the recently dismissed appeal, would, by 

virtue of their excessive scale, height, massing and visual appearance 
and failure to read as a subordinate and secondary addition 

comparable to the main dwellinghouse, continue to result in significant 
harm to the character and appearance of the dwellinghouse and wider 
street scene, failing to address the first reason for refusal under 

HPK/2020/0525, upheld by an Inspector, and in direct conflict with 
Local Plan Policies S1 and EQ6, the High Peak Residential Design 

Guide SPD, the High Peak Design Guide SPD,  and relevant 
paragraphs under Chapter 12 of the NPPF. 

 

7.54 Whilst the relationship between the extensions and the habitable 
window in the side elevation of No.3 Royle Avenue has somewhat 

improved, by virtue of a single storey extension replacing the two 
storey element, it is considered that the presence of a two storey 
aspect some 6m from the habitable window to the north-east would 

continue to result in harm to the residential amenity of the neighbouring 
property contrary to LP Policy EQ6, relevant Supplementary Planning 

Guidance and paragraph 130 of the NPPF. 
 
        8. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
A.  Refuse for the following reasons: 

 
1. The proposed development by virtue of its scale, height, 

massing and visual appearance would continue to result in a 

wholly disproportionate addition that continues to dominate 
and consume the existing dwelling to the extent that the 

original building cannot be easily read in conjunction with the 
new addition. The application fails to respect the dominance 
of the parent building, and coupled with the odd contrived 

relationship between the single storey flat roof extension and 
two storey extension behind, fails to read as a subordinate 

ands secondary addition that results in a dwelling that is 
poorly designed in itself, contrary to Local Plan Policies S1 
and EQ6, the High Peak Residential Design Guide SPD (2005), 

the High Peak Design Guide (2018) and relevant paragraphs 
under Chapter 12 of the NPPF 

 

Page 175



 20 

2. The proposed development by virtue of its siting, scale and 
massing of the proposed two storey side extension would, 

due to its proximity with the side elevation of No.3 Royle 
Avenue that contains a habitable kitchen window, continue 

to result in significant harm to the residential amenity for 
occupiers of this property with regards to an overbearing 
and oppressive development and the quality of outlook 

from it, contrary to High Peak Local Plan Policy EQ6, the 
High Peak Residential Design Guide SPD (2005) and 

paragraph 130 of the NPPF 
 
B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 

Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informative/planning obligations or reasons for 

approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Head of 
Development Services has delegated authority to do so in consultation 
with the Chairman of the Committee, provided that the changes do not 

exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision. 
 

This recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the issues 
raised through the application process and thorough discussion with the 
applicants. In accordance with Paragraph 187 of the NPPF the Case Officer 

has sought solutions where possible to secure a development that improves 
the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area. 
 
Site plan 
 

 

Page 176



 1 

 
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 

 
Date 7th March 2022 

 
Application 
No: 

DET/2022/0003 

Location Valley Farm, Whitehough Head Lane, Chinley, SK23 6EJ 
Proposal General Purpose Agricultural Building 
Applicant Mr Frank Longden 
Agent Paul Richmond – Swift Structures Ltd 

Parish/ward Blackbrook/Chapel Date registered 25th January 2022 

If you have a question about this report please contact: James Stannard, Tel. 

01298 28400 extension 4298, james.stannard@highpeak.gov.uk  

 
1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION 

 
 
Approve 

 
 

1. REASON FOR COMMITTEE DETERMINATION 
 

1.1 This application has been brought before the Development Control 
Committee because the applicant is related to Ward Councillor 

Longden. 
 
2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS 

 

2.1 The application site relates to a parcel of land east of Whitehough 

Lane, north of the A6 Chapel-en-le-Frith bypass, that contains a cluster 
of buildings associated with Valley Farm. 

 

2.2 At the time of a site visit, the existing buildings were in use of the 
accommodation of livestock, with a separate small container used for 

general storage. 
 
2.3 Varying plant and machinery including 3no. tractors and a trailer, in 

addition to a large amount of hay bales were present within the site, 
giving a rather untidy appearance. 

 
2.4 The site is characterised by a large electricity pylon that stands south 

of the existing buildings and a short distance north of the boundary with 

the A6, which is characterised by a belt of mature trees and natural 
vegetation.  

 
2.5 The site benefits from an existing field gate access to the west directly 

from Whitehough Lane. 

 

Page 177

Agenda Item 9



 2 

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL  
 

3.1 The application seeks permission for a general purpose agricultural 
building under the prior notification procedure within Schedule 2, Part 

6, Class A of the General Permitted Development Order (GPDO) 2015 
as amended. 

 

3.2 The building is shown to have a simple rectangular form that has an 
overall height of approximately 5m, which would be positioned to the 

south of one of the existing livestock buildings, orientated at right 
angles to it, with one end extending into the adjacent field, which forms 
part of the agricultural holding. 

 
3.3 The building would be constructed from materials typical of this nature 

of building, with a combination of breeze blocks and concrete profile 
sheeting making up the external walls and roof. 

 
4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 

4.1 The site has been subject to the following planning history: 
 

HPK/0003/8243 Farm Building (Approved 14/09/1999) 

 
5. PLANNING LEGISLATION RELEVANT TO THE DECISION 

 

Schedule 2, Part 6, Class A of the General Permitted Development Order 
(GPDO) 2015 as amended 
 
6. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT 

 

Site notice Expiry date for comments:  N/A 
Neighbour letters  Expiry date for comments:  N/A 
Press Notice Expiry date for comments:  N/A 

 
6.1 The nature of the application (prior approval) does not require any 

public consultation. 
 
7. OFFICER ASSESSMENT  

 
7.1 This prior notification application has been submitted under Schedule 

2, Part 6 of the General Permitted Development Order (GPDO) 2015 
as amended. 

 

7.2 Part 6 of the GPDO relates to agricultural and forestry development. 
Class A relates to development on units of 5 hectares of more and 

permits the following: 
 

A. The carrying out on agricultural land comprised in an 

agricultural unit of 5 hectares or more in area of – 
 

Page 178



 3 

(a) works for the erection, extension or alteration of a building; 
or 

 
(b) any excavation or engineering operations, which are 

reasonably necessary for the purposes of agriculture within 
that unit 

 

7.3 The agent submits that the proposed building is needed to store plant 
and machinery and fodder that is currently kept in an open yard, which 

is vulnerable to the elements and as a risk of security. A not to scale 
map of the land holding has also been submitted. 

 

7.4 An inspection of the site confirms that the existing buildings are home 
to livestock and cattle, with an array of plant and machinery (e.g. 

tractors) as well as hay bales being kept in the open in an untidy ad-
hoc manner. 

 

7.5 Further to the above, it is accepted that Valley Farm is an established 
agricultural holding in excess of 5ha and that the proposed building is 

reasonably necessary for the purposes of agriculture within the holding. 
 
7.6 Paragraph A.1 sets out the parameters for where development is not 

permitted under Class A. An assessment of the proposed development 
against these parameters is set out as follows: 

 
(a) the development would be carried out on a separate parcel of land 

forming part of the unit is less than 1 hectare in area 

 
The proposed building would be contained within the same parcel of land as 

the existing buildings that form part of the holding and thus the application is 
compliant with Paragraph A.1(a). 
 
(b) it would consist of the erection of any agricultural building on an 

established agricultural unit (as defined in paragraph X of Part 3 

of this Schedule) where development under Class Q or S of Part 3 
(changes of use) of this Schedule has been carried out within a 
period of 10 years ending with the date on which development 

under Class A(a) begins 

 

A review of the planning history confirms that the site has not benefited from 
any prior notification consent under Part 3 Class Q or S and as such the 
application complies with Paragraph A.1(b). 

 
(c) it would consist of, or include, the erection, extension or 

alteration of a dwelling 

 
The proposal comprises an steel portal frame agricultural building and does 

not include any new, extended or altered dwelling. The application is thus 
compliant with Paragraph A.1(c) 

 

Page 179



 4 

(d) it would involve the provision of a building, structure or works not 
designed for agricultural purposes 

 

The proposed building is of a scale, height, mass and visual appearance that 

is commensurate with traditional agricultural buildings, constructed from a 
combination of breeze blocks and concrete profile sheeting, that is clearly 
designed for agricultural purpose. The application is thus compliant with 

Paragraph A.1(d) 
 
(e) the ground area which would be covered by – 
 

(i) any works or structure (other than a fence) for 

accommodating livestock or any plant or machinery arising 
from engineering operations; or 

 
(ii) any building erected or extended or altered by virtue of 

Class A 

 
would exceed 1,000 square metres, calculated as described in 

paragraph D.1(2)(a) of this Part 

 
The submitted plans show the building to span a width of 22.8m and a depth 

of 9.1m, equating to a total floor area of approximately 207sqm. The 
application is thus compliant with Paragraph A.1(e). 

  
(f) the height of any part of any building, structure or works within 3 

kilometres of the perimeter of an aerodrome would exceed 3 

metres 

 

There are no aerodromes within 3km of the site and therefore the application 
is compliant with Paragraph A.1(f) 
 
(g) the height of any part of any building, structure or works not 

within 3 kilometres of an aerodrome would exceed 12 metres 

 
The Elevation Plans show the building to have an eaves height of 3.86m and 
an overall ridge height of 5.08m. The application is thus compliant with 

Paragraph A.1(g) 
 
(h) any part of the development would be within 25 metres of a 

metalled part of a trunk road or classified road 

 

The nearest classified roads to the site are Whitehough Lane, which stands 
some 90 metres to the west of the side elevation of the proposed building, 

and the Chapel-en-le-Frith bypass (A6) which stands approximately 40m to 
the south at its closest point. The application is therefore compliant with 
Paragraph A.1(h) 

 
(i) it would consist of, or include, the erection or construction of, or 

the carrying out of any works to, a building, structure or an 

Page 180



 5 

excavation used or to be used for the accommodation of livestock 
or for the storage of slurry or sewage sludge where the building, 

structure or excavation is, or would be, within 400 metres of the 
curtilage of a protected building 

 
A protected building is defined within the GPDO as  
 

“any permanent building which is normally occupied by people or would be so 
occupied, if it were in use for purposes for which it is designed, but does not 

include:- 
 
(a) a building within the agricultural unit; or 

 
(b) a dwelling or other building on another agricultural unit which is used 

for or in connection with agriculture” 
 
The proposal is described as a general purpose agricultural building that 

would be home to plant, machinery and fodder, and would not be used to 
house any cattle or livestock. As such, whilst the building would be located 

within residential properties (protected buildings) adjacent to Whitehough 
Lane, the fact that the building would not be used to house livestock or cattle 
results in the application being compliant with Paragraph A.1(i). 

 
(j) it would involve excavation or engineering operations on or over 

article 2(4) land which are connected with fish farming; 

The proposal does not involve any engineering operations connected with fish 
farming and as such the application is compliant with Paragraph A.1(j) 

 
(k) any building for storing fuel for or waste from a biomass or an 

anaerobic digestion system –  
 

(i) would be used for storing waste not produced by that boiler 

or system or for storing fuel not produced on land within 
the unit; or 

 
(ii) is or would be within 400 metres of the curtilage of a 

protected building 

 
The proposed building is a general purpose storage building that would not be 

used for storing fuel for or waste from a biomass or anaerobic digestion 
system and as such the application is compliant with Paragraph A.1(k). 
 

7.7 The above assessment confirms that the proposal meets all of the 
parameters set out under Paragraph A.1 and such constitutes 

permitted development. 
 
7.8 In line with conditions set out under Paragraph A.2, the local authority 

must consider whether prior approval is required having regard to the 
siting, design and external appearance of the building. 

 

Page 181



 6 

Siting, Design and Appearance 

 

7.9 The existing site consists of a cluster of buildings that stand adjacent to 
a large agricultural field to the east which is bounded to the south by a 

belt of mature trees that form the northern boundary of the A6 Chapel-
en-le-Frith bypass. 

 

7.10 Within the confines of the site a short distance south of the existing 
agricultural building is a large electricity pylon, which together with the 

nearby A6, significantly reduces the sensitivity of the immediate rural 
landscape character. 

 

7.11 The proposed building is shown to be sited between the pylon and 
nearby agricultural building, having a rectangular form, orientated at 

right angles to the existing buildings. 
 
7.12 Whilst the proposed building would encroach into the adjacent 

agricultural field, outside of the existing farmyard, it is considered that 
the building would retain a strong spatial and visual relationship with 

the existing form of agricultural development and be read within the 
existing context from public vantage points. 

 

7.13 The proposed building is of a modest scale, height and massing that is 
considered to strike an appropriate balance between the practical 

needs of such a building and the need to minimise landscape and 
visual impacts. 

 

7.13 The proposed building is shown to be constructed from materials that 
are typical of an agricultural building, and are considered to result in a 

development that is in keeping with the existing character of the stie, 
and respects the character of the immediate and wider rural landscape. 

 

7.14 Having regard to the above, the proposed plans are considered to be 
acceptable with regards to siting, design and external appearance. 

 
Planning balance & Conclusion 

 

7.21 This prior notification application submitted under Part 6, Class A of the 
GPDO seeks consent for a general purpose agricultural building which 

is associated with a long established agricultural holding, Valley Farm, 
Whitehough Lane, Chinley 

 

7.22 Based on a site visit and conversations with the agent, Officers are 
satisfied that the proposed building is reasonably necessary for the 

purposes of agriculture in connection with the existing holding. 
 
7.23 An assessment of the application has found the proposals to be 

compliant with all parameters set out under Paragraph A.1 and thus the 
proposals constitute permitted development. 

 

Page 182



 7 

7.24 It is considered that the siting, design and external appearance of the 
building are acceptable, having regard to any potential impacts upon 

the immediate or wider rural landscape character. 
 
        8. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
A.  Approve details as submitted with application 

 
B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 

Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informative/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Head of  

Development Services has delegated authority to do so in consultation 
with the Chairman of the Committee, provided that the changes do not 

exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision. 
 

This recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the issues 

raised through the application process and thorough discussion with the 
applicants. In accordance with Paragraph 187 of the NPPF the Case Officer 

has sought solutions where possible to secure a development that improves 
the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area. 
 

Site plan 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

Page 183



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes from the previous meeting
	5 Planning Applications
	6 HPK/2021/0607 - Toddbrook Reservoir, Reservoir Road, Whaley Bridge
	Toddbrook Appendix A Public Comment Mrs Anna Cox
	Toddbrook Appendix B - CRT response to Anna Cox
	Toddbrook Appendix C - representation from Graham Aldred (1)
	Toddbrook Appendix C(1) - representation from Graham Aldred (2) Redacted

	7 HPK/2021/0347 - 3 Temple Road, Buxton
	8 HPK/2021/0648 - 1 Royle Avenue, Glossop
	9 DET/2022/0003 - Valley Farm, Whitehough Head Lane, Chinley

